

The impact of government policy on social exclusion among children aged 0-13 and their families

A review of the literature for the Social Exclusion Unit in the Breaking the Cycle series

PHOTO REDACTED DUE TO THIRD PARTY RIGHTS OR OTHER LEGAL ISSUES



The Impact of government policy on social exclusion among children aged 0–13 and their families:

A review of the literature for the Social Exclusion Unit in the Breaking the Cycle series



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was commissioned in August 2003, initially to be completed by the end of the year/January 2004. Updates to take account of major new publications were completed in the first half of 2004. The main work was undertaken by Ann Buchanan, Fran Bennett, Charlotte Ritchie, Teresa Smith, George Smith, Lisa Harker and Sharon Vitali-Ebers. Tony Newman/Rachel Dowling of Barnardo's wrote the chapter on disabled children and Ken Jones wrote the chapter on living conditions. Important contributions were made by the following experts: Rebecca Surender (health), Ceridwen Roberts (family support, welfare and protection) and Mavis Maclean (access to justice).

We would also like to thank the staff at the Social Exclusion Unit for the support we received, and in particular Julie Bull who managed the project.

Ann Buchanan Fran Bennett Charlotte Ritchie Teresa Smith George Smith Lisa Harker Sharon Vitali-Ebers

The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister Eland House Bressenden Place London SW1E 5DU Telephone 020 7944 4400 Web site www.odpm.gov.uk www.socialexclusion.gov.uk

© Crown Copyright 2004

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

This publication, excluding logos, may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium for research, private study or for internal circulation within an organisation. This is subject to it being reproduced accurately and not used in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright and the title of the publication specified.

For any other use of this material, please write to HMSO Licensing, St Clements House, 2–16 Colegate, Norwich NR3 18Q Fax: 01603 723000 or email: licensing@hmso.gov.uk.

This is a value added publication which falls outside the scope of the HMSO Class Licence.

Further copies of this publication are available from: ODPM Publications

PO Box 236 Wetherby LS23 7NB Tel: 0870 1226 236 Fax: 0870 1226 237

Textphone: 0870 1207 405
Email: odpm@twoten.press.net
Online: www.publications.odpm.gov.uk

Online: www.publications.oupm.gd

ISBN: 185112 726 7

Printed in Great Britain on material containing 75% post-consumer waste and 25% ECF pulp

September 2004

Reference number: 04SEU024159

CONTENTS

Acknowledgements

| Summary | | 6 |
|------------|---|----|
| Chapter 1: | Introduction and background | 16 |
| | 1.1 Aims and methods | 16 |
| | 1.2 What is social exclusion for this group | 17 |
| | 1.3 Drivers and risk and protective factors | 20 |
| | 1.4 The experience of social exclusion for children and families | 22 |
| Chapter 2: | Overview of government policy | 27 |
| | 2.1 Family policy, policies for children at risk, listening, investment | 27 |
| | 2.2 Government policies on social exclusion | 29 |
| Chapter 3: | Poor living standards | 31 |
| | 3.1 The risk of social exclusion | 31 |
| | 3.2 Overall impact of government policies | 33 |
| | 3.3 What have been the main positive impacts? Who has benefited most? | 35 |
| | Which policies work well togther and why? | |
| | 3.4 Which groups have benefited the least? | 37 |
| | Where are there unintended consequences or tensions? | |
| | 3.5 Gaps in knowledge | 40 |
| | 3.6 Directions for the future | 41 |
| | 3.7 Key messages | 42 |
| Chapter 4: | Poor living conditions | 44 |
| | 4.1 The risk of social exclusion | 44 |
| | 4.2 Overall impact of government policies | 45 |
| | 4.3 Gaps in knowledge | 49 |
| | 4.4 Directions for the future | 50 |
| | 4.5 Key messages | 51 |
| Chapter 5: | Lack of access to quality early years provision | 52 |
| • | 5.1 The risk of social exclusion | 52 |
| | 5.2 Overall impact of government policies | 56 |
| | 5.3 Who has benefited most? Who has benefited least/been left behind | 56 |
| | 5.4 Which policies have worked well together, and why? | 58 |
| | 5.5 Which policies are in tension/conflict with one another, and why? | 59 |
| | 5.6 Gaps in knowledge | 60 |
| | 5.7 Directions for the future | 60 |
| | 5.8 Key messages | 61 |
| | | |

| Chapter 6: | Poor educational access and achievement (age 5-13) | | |
|-------------|--|--|------------|
| | 6.1 | The risk of social exclusion | 62 |
| | 6.2 | Types of policies | 65 |
| | 6.3 | Overall impact of government policies | 66 |
| | 6.4 | Who has benefited most/least? | 73 |
| | 6.5 | Which policies work well together and which are in conflict? | 74 |
| | 6.6 | Gaps in knowledge | 74 |
| | 6.7 | Directions for the future | 75 |
| | 6.8 | Key messages | 75 |
| Chapter 7: | | health (age 0–13) | 76 |
| | 7.1 | The risk of social exclusion | 76 |
| | 7.2 | Overall impact of government policies | 78 |
| | 7.3 | Who has benefited the most? Who has benefited the least? | 79 |
| | 7.4 | Which policies have worked well together and why? | 81 |
| | 7.5 | Which policies are in conflict/tension with one another | 81 |
| | 7.6 | Gaps in knowledge | 82 |
| | 7.7 7.8 | Directions for the future Key messages | 82 82 |
| Chantan O. | Disals | , | |
| Chapter 8: | | oled children and children with special educational needs | 84 |
| | 8.1 | The risk of social exclusion | 84 |
| | 8.2 | Overall impact of government policies | 86 |
| | 8.3 | What have been the main positive impacts from current policies? Which groups have benefited the? Why have policies worked? | 87 |
| | 8.4 | Which groups have benefited the least? | 87 |
| | | Where have the policies not delivered all the impacts intended and why? | |
| | | Are there any unintended consequences? | |
| | 8.5 | Gaps in knowledge | 88 |
| | 8.6 | Directions for the future | 89 |
| | 8.7 | Key messages | 89 |
| Chapter 9: | | erable families, children in need, child protection | 90 |
| | 9.1 | The risk of social exclusion | 90 |
| | | Overall impact of government policies | 94 |
| | 9.3 9.4 | Children in need Who has benefited most? Who has benefited least? | 96 99 |
| | 9.4 9.5 | | 100 |
| | 9.3 | Which policies have worked well together and why? Which are in tension/conflict with one another and why? | 100 |
| | 9.6 | Gaps in knowledge | 100 |
| | 9.0 9.7 | Directions for the future | 100 |
| | 9.8 | Key messages | 101 |
| Chantor 10. | A 6 6 0 6 | es to justice | 102 |
| Chapter 10: | | ss to justice The risk of social exclusion | 102 102 |
| | | Overall impact of government policies | 102 |
| | | Who has benefited most? Who has benefited least? | 103 |
| | | Which policies have worked well together and why? | 104 |
| | 10.4 | Which are in tension/conflict with one another and why? | 104 |
| | 10.5 | Gaps in knowledge; and directions for the future | 104 |
| | | Key messages | 104 |
| | . 3.3 | | |

| Chapter 11: | Discrimination | |
|--------------|---|-----|
| | 11.1 The risk of social exclusion | 106 |
| | 11.2 Overall impact of government policies | 108 |
| | 11.3 Who has benefited most? Who has benefited least? | 111 |
| | 11.4 Which policies have worked well together and why? | 112 |
| | Which are in tension/conflict with one another and why? | |
| | 11.5 Gaps in knowledge; directions for the future | 112 |
| | 11.6 Key messages | 112 |
| Chapter 12: | Conslusions and directions for the future | 114 |
| | 12.1 Overview | 114 |
| | 12.2 Looking to the future | 116 |
| | 12.3 Conclusion | 123 |
| Postscript | | 123 |
| Bibliography | | 126 |
| Appendix A: | Methodology | 147 |

SUMMARY

The aim of this review was to draw together evidence to assess the overall impact of government policies and initiatives on children aged 0–13 and families in, or at risk of, social exclusion over the last ten years (concentrating on the period since 1997).

The review is one of four covering different age groups and different stages in the lifecycle. The cut-off age of 13 means that we did not deal with the majority of secondary schooling or any vocational issues, or with issues about employment which were more appropriately covered in other reviews. Except for a limited number of key publications emerging since then, the cut-off date for relevant publications was 31 December 2003. The focus of the review was England, although some policy measures and some sources and statistics cover a wider area within the UK, or the UK as a whole. In this summary, references have been omitted; but full references are available in the text.

The policy areas examined

Nine policy areas known to be associated with a risk of social exclusion for children of this age and their families were examined: poor living standards; poor living conditions; lack of access to quality early years provision; poor educational access and achievement; poor health; disabled children and children with special educational needs; vulnerable families, children in need and child protection; access to justice; and discrimination. The findings relating to each are summarized below. Outlines of policy aims and policy levers are given in the main body of the report.

In undertaking this review, three concepts informed our analyses:

- first, we assessed the extent to which government policies had resulted in tackling social exclusion *during* childhood, as well as looking at the longer-term impact of social exclusion on children's life chances;
- secondly, we used the concepts of risk and resiliency: how far has the government reduced the
 risks associated with social exclusion and how far has it, by making opportunities and
 encouraging children and their parents to take advantage of them, promoted resiliency and
 inclusion?
- thirdly, we considered several areas which are important in terms of rights and respect (such as
 access to legal services and discrimination), as these are also important elements of social
 inclusion.

The background

The starting point of this review was to ask what 'social exclusion' meant for this age group. To date, the defining characteristics of social exclusion have usually been adult-centred. But the government's commitment to listening to children and young people suggests a more child-centred perspective is possible. For a child, social exclusion in the present may be about not being able to 'fit in' or 'join in'. Research has started to explore social exclusion from a more child-centred angle.

The likelihood of social exclusion in childhood is influenced by risk factors in relation to the individual, the family, community and school and the wider social environment. The government is most likely to be able to affect this wider social environment. In addition, however, children are not

placid consumers but actors in their own right, who from an early age influence those around them; clues about contributory factors in helping children escape from social exclusion are emerging from research on resilience.

Tackling social exclusion in childhood is crucial in part because of its longer-term consequences. There are important continuities between disadvantages in childhood and a range of adverse outcomes in adulthood. Concern about these links is a major motivation behind the government's policies in this area. So getting it right in the early years is seen as crucial.

Government policies

The government's policies on social exclusion should be seen in the context of its ambitious target to end child poverty and its commitment to tackling discrimination and promoting equal opportunities. The government has invested heavily in this age group, with public spending per child growing by almost 20% in real terms between 1996–97 and 2001–02, and spending on children is likely to have become more 'pro-poor' since 1997. Its strategy to tackle social exclusion comprises prevention; reintegration of those already excluded; and delivery of minimum standards of services. A focus on children and young people was evident from the start.

Government policies for families and for children at risk are described first in the Green Paper *Supporting Families*, which noted that the state had a legitimate interest in ensuring that the next generation was given the best start in life and outlined how this might be done; a range of initiatives followed. Second, the Green Paper *Every Child Matters*, following the Victoria Climbie Inquiry, recognized that child protection could not be separated from policies to improve children's lives as a whole, and is leading to radical reform of children's services. Major changes will take place after the Children Bill becomes law. In implementing these policies, the government has also made a commitment to listen to and involve parents and children.

Progress in tackling social exclusion

The conclusion from this review is that the government has made progress in all nine policy areas examined in terms of tackling social exclusion amongst children aged 0–13 and families. In particular:

- the numbers of children living in poverty have fallen, hardship has declined and improvements in family living standards have directly benefited children;
- the use of bed and breakfast for families has been reduced and more children are living in decent housing;
- more early years provision is now available, with almost all three and four year olds taking up part-time early education places, and child care is publicly recognised as a key service for children and for families;
- educational attainment has risen overall and some groups have made significant progress despite continuing high levels of disadvantage;
- health policies on specific issues (such as road fatalities) have shown clear gains and there is greater awareness of the centrality of health inequalities;
- disabled children have benefited from specific policies and there is a greater willingness to consult directly with disabled people, including children;

more support is available to all parents and in particular vulnerable families.

No one policy area by itself can take the credit for the gains made. As the government recognized from the start, reducing social exclusion is about recognizing its multi-dimensional nature and therefore about producing joined-up solutions for joined-up problems. It is in the long term where the greatest gains are likely to be seen.

Reducing risks and promoting opportunities

But the legacy of the previous 20 years which the current government inherited, in terms of levels of poverty and polarization and the 'long tail' of educational under-achievement in particular, makes tackling social exclusion a long haul. Challenges still remain in reducing the risks associated with social exclusion for children and families, and in encouraging them to take advantage of the opportunities available. More specifically, there is still more that needs to be done in the following areas:

- a further impetus is needed to fulfil the government's longer-term objective to eliminate child poverty;
- further efforts need to be made to reduce the number of homeless households with children;
- more needs to be done to reduce the 'childcare gap' in disadvantaged neighbourhoods and barriers to accessing services, such as cost, lack of information, inflexibility and culturally inappropriate provision;
- further steps should be taken to increase the educational achievements of some ethnic minority groups, such as disadvantaged Black Caribbean and White groups, and to ensure that additional spending on education intended to help disadvantaged pupils reaches them;
- although programmes such as Sure Start are likely to be important in the longer term for child health (and other aspects of children's lives), we need to consider how to reduce persistent inequalities in child health such as low birthweight, which have an impact on life chances in the short and long term;
- we need to learn how to ensure that families with disabled children are lifted out of poverty;
- we need to know more about supporting families without 'negative impact' and stigma. We
 also need to find ways of responding to the needs of large numbers of children in need who
 are placing local social services under strain and how to promote better the life chances of
 children in care.

Ensuring rights and respect

Our review included access to justice and discrimination issues, as important elements in tackling social exclusion. We found that:

• the importance of access to justice and rights, and anti-discrimination measures, is now clearly recognized;

- although progress is being made in opening up access to justice, we need to ensure that
 parents are aware of services and that publicly funded legal assistance is accessible for those
 on low incomes in emergency situations;
- bullying in school and after school remains a major concern. Further initiatives are needed to tackle this behaviour, which causes so much misery for children and impacts on so many areas of their lives. Further steps also need to be taken to ensure that asylum-seeking children receive the same standard of care as those born in the UK.

Key messages about specific policy areas

Living standards

- Child poverty has fallen, to 3.6 million (some 28%) by 2002–03. Increases in employment (including via the New Deals) and in benefit/tax credit levels have been the main reasons. By 2001, the UK had improved its relative position within the European Union child poverty league.
- Severe hardship decreased significantly among working families after 1999, and was also reduced amongst out-of-work families. Improvements in families' incomes have been spent on their children.
- Financial support for children has increased, especially for low-income families, and in particular for younger children. Policies for lone parents seem to be working particularly well together as a package.
- There is a developing focus on sustainability of jobs and progression in work, as well as continuing concern about 'making work pay' policies.
- Security of income issues include stability as well as adequacy, and delivery mechanisms are important to low-income families. Groups of particular concern include some ethnic minority groups and large families.
- Some policies are too recent to have been fully evaluated and we may need more focus on the impact on children in future evaluations.
- The child poverty review will be an impetus to further policy development, to help sustain and further develop the strategy to tackle child poverty.

Living conditions

- Considerable progress has been made on reducing the numbers of families with children in bed and breakfast accommodation. But the overall number of homeless households with children has been steadily increasing in recent years.
- There has been progress in improving the physical condition of housing for households with children. Notwithstanding the known multiple risks of poor housing, there appears to be a lack of focus on children in housing policies.
- The number of fuel-poor vulnerable households, including those with children, has been sharply reduced. Further progress may be difficult without considerable additional funding. The fuel poverty strategy has been criticized for being poorly targeted, and needs better evaluation.

Children (along with other specific groups) are largely 'invisible' within national strategies for neighbourhood renewal and for improving public spaces. This makes it hard to say whether strategies in these areas have been effective in tackling social exclusion among children. But there is clear evidence that initiatives focusing on public space (e.g. Home Zones) can benefit children as a whole – as well as evidence that this kind of initiative fits well with local community priorities.

Early years provision

- The National Childcare Strategy launched in 1997 demonstrates government commitment to increased provision of high quality early years services as promoting social investment in children and tackling child poverty through mothers' access to the labour market.
- There has been an expansion of integrated early years services targeted at disadvantaged areas, such as Sure Start Local Programmes and Children's Centres. These are major elements in the commitment to tackle social exclusion of children and families.
- There has been a major expansion in early education free part-time places have been taken up by almost all four year olds and nearly 9 in 10 three year olds.
- There has also been a major expansion in child care places for over 1.6 million children have been created since 1997. This means one childcare place for every five children under eight in 2003, compared to one place for every nine children in 1997.
- Working parents' demand for childcare is high; access, however, is variable. The 'childcare gap' in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods means that childcare is less available in the areas where it is most needed to help parents into work, although this may be narrowing nationally (but not in all areas). Problems with affordability (lack of free or cheap childcare) and appropriateness (lack of childcare at suitable times) are often given as reasons for parents not being able to take up paid employment.
- International evidence, for example from the US, supported by findings in the UK, suggests
 that high quality early years provision can have a positive impact on children's educational
 achievement and long-term development, but evidence is still to come for the youngest age
 group.
- Barriers for service users include cost, lack of information, inflexibility and culturally inappropriate provision. Sustainability is a key issue, particularly in disadvantaged neighbourhoods.

Educational access and achievement

- There have been substantial gains in performance overall. However, the improvement appears
 to be stronger in the period up to 2000 or so. Part of this might be attributed to the rapid fall
 in unemployment over the same period.
- Some ethnic minority groups, for example Bangladeshis, appear to be making significant
 progress in performance, despite particularly high levels of disadvantage. However, other
 groups, for example disadvantaged pupils from Black Caribbean and White groups, seem to
 be making much less progress. Targeting behavioural problems can work, but highly
 disadvantaged pupils are subject to many external pressures that may lead to these patterns
 re-establishing themselves.

- Only post-2000 has educational expenditure at school level begun to rise sharply.
 Disadvantaged areas may have shared disproportionately in this increase, though some programmes tend to favour less disadvantaged areas. Higher levels of education, with correspondingly higher expenditure levels, tend to have disproportionately larger numbers of pupils from advantaged areas.
- There is a mass of different programmes with overlapping purposes and targets. Programmes attempting to raise educational performance for disadvantaged groups and reduce behavioural problems can be effective but require a high level of sustained investment over time.
- Assessing the specific effects of these initiatives is compounded by the complexity of overlapping programmes. It is also early days to measure their impact.

Health

- It is too early to evaluate the health impact of many of the government's initiatives on health for children.
- Single issue policies have shown the earliest short-term gains; but this may mask longer-term gains from more complex multi-agency strategies such as Sure Start.
- Government initiatives to increase school sport and physical education have proved promising, but those most at risk of social exclusion may be those least able to afford, or to travel to, outof-school sports and leisure clubs.
- The reduction in child pedestrian casualties has been accompanied by an increase in the number of children travelling by car to school.
- The Healthy Schools Initiative, combined with increases in sport within schools, has so far been accompanied by promotion of healthy options rather than further regulation of foodstuffs sold in schools.
- There are persistent inequalities in child health that have their origins at birth, such as low birth weight and infant mortality, and these are proving difficult to turn around.

Disabled children and children with special educational needs

- There is a lack of data about the prevalence of childhood disability and the circumstances of disabled children; the main source of data remains the 1989 Office of Population Censuses and Surveys (OPCS) survey.
- A number of positive changes to benefits/tax credits have occurred since 1999. However, improving the take-up of benefits, especially disability living allowance, remains a challenge.
- There is a greater willingness to consult directly with disabled people including children and this is a positive trend.
- The single most important feature of the experience of families with disabled children remains poverty. Greater childcare costs and lower parental incomes are strongly associated with childhood disability.

- Extra benefits for families with more than one disabled child do not take into account the cumulative effects of care
- While action on special educational needs has been considerable over the past decade, the
 inclusion of children with disabilities and/or special educational needs in all aspects of school
 life within mainstream schools continues to be an aspiration rather than a reality for many
 children.
- As well as benefiting from general childcare programmes, we can expect disabled children to experience positive results from broader strategies and legislation that take account of the needs of all disabled people.
- While a substantial number of economic, social and educational initiatives have either targeted
 or included disabled children in recent years, little hard information is available as to the
 extent of their impact; and, where such information is available, it is rarely underpinned by
 baseline data and measurable targets.

Vulnerable families, children in need, child protection

- Although the main evaluations of the major child initiatives are still to report, there is evidence
 that the Children's Fund and On Track have proved popular and are impacting on the lives of
 a large number of children and young people.
- Research has indicated the effectiveness of both early and later parent- and family-focused interventions for reducing criminal activity and antisocial behaviour. Education-focused projects may be more acceptable to parents.
- Family support services can suffer from 'negative impact' or stigma but generally agencies are making progress in engaging the 'hard to reach'.
- During one sample week in February 2003, 388,200 children in need received some sort of local authority provision. The majority of these children were referred because of child abuse and neglect. Responding to the needs of this large number of children is putting great strain on local authorities. Availability of family support programmes in the community may reduce the numbers of children in need.
- Progress is being made in improving outcomes for children who are looked after, but educationally these children still lag a long way behind children in the general population.

Access to justice

- Research has shown that lack of access to justice carries a significant risk of social exclusion.
 Some problems for children may have been avoided if their parents had had appropriate and earlier access to justice.
- A lack of understanding and confusion about the legal processes is seen in a study of families from different cultures involved in child protection cases in the courts. The complexity of the parents' lives also increased their difficulties in accessing help.
- The Community Legal Service (CLS) is the government's main expenditure programme for all civil legal and advice services for the public. The CLS focuses on those areas of law that affect people's everyday lives: housing, debt, employment, welfare benefits, community care, discrimination, immigration and mental health.

- An independent review of the CLS in 2004 noted that, although progress was being made in
 developing services, the CLS needed to clarify its role and strategy in tackling social exclusion;
 it needed to establish the extent to which advice and legal services contributed to the
 reduction of social exclusion; and then to translate this, through effective management
 systems, into local provision in a way that met the needs of service users.
- The House of Commons Constitutional Affairs Select Committee published a report on the adequacy of civil legal aid in July, which highlighted the difficulties of recruiting solicitors and barristers for legal aid work. A survey of Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) views on CLS partnerships showed that support from publicly funded legal services in emergency situations such as housing eviction or domestic violence may be becoming less accessible, especially to those on low incomes. They, too, were concerned about the decline in solicitors' practices offering legal aid work, the manageability of contracts and the sustainability of partnerships.

Discrimination

- For children, the daily reality of discrimination is represented by 'bullying' behaviour by their peers. Childline data has indicated that the most frequent problem that children rang Childline about was bullying.
- In a study of bullying in England in 2003, a fifth of pupils in Year 5 reported that they had been called racist names.
- Following national government initiatives, most schools now have an agreed anti-bullying
 policy which includes a definition of bullying, including racist, sexist and homophobic
 bullying, aims and objectives, procedures to follow and intervention techniques.
- Findings suggest that anti-bullying policies provide a useful starting point for tackling bullying but regular reviews of both policies and strategies are necessary, including examining the relationship with curriculum development, support and training for teachers and working in partnership with parents.
- Children are likely to reflect the views of their parents. Results from the Home Office
 'Citizenship Survey' in 2002 suggest that perceptions of racism had increased marginally in the
 last five years.
- Immigration and asylum-seeking policy has the difficult task of regulating entry to and settlement in the United Kingdom. Figures from the Department for Education and Skills for looked after children for 2002–03 show that 2,400 unaccompanied children were being looked after at 31 March, and the 2003 children in need census notes 12,500 asylum-seeking children who were receiving a service.
- Some ethnic minority groups, particularly some Asian groups, have done well educationally
 and in their later careers. Asylum-seeker children can inspire their classmates and teachers
 because of the seriousness with which they treat education.
- The low level of attainment, particularly amongst Black Caribbean boys, is worrying. Many Black leaders maintain that institutional racism is the real problem. The Commission for Racial Equality also warned that 'peer pressure' had made a substantial contribution to the decline in Black achievement.

Looking to the future

Three possible areas are suggested as a framework for considering the next stage of government strategy to tackle social exclusion amongst children and families: increasing the dosage; filling the gaps; and new approaches.

In looking to the future, it is useful to summarise some of the cross-cutting messages from the review.

Cross-cutting messages from the review

- The pattern of inequality has changed, with incomes for the large majority becoming more equal over the 1990s; but inequality still remains very high. In education, though overall achievement levels are rising, the gap for disadvantaged children remains large.
- There is a need for a bridge between children's services. This may be achieved by initiatives associated with the Children Bill.
- The 'hard to reach': the most disadvantaged, some ethnic minority groups, vulnerable families and looked after children may be missing out.
- Children need protection at times of transition, for example at times of change in employment and/or family status, and continuity of education when a family is homeless.
- Barriers prevent the take-up of opportunities, for example a lack of information.
- Some families benefit from more targeted help, for example from mentors and advisors.
- Children need to be kept at the centre of policies.

Increasing the dosage

This means continuing in the current direction of policy, but with renewed vigour and determination.

Tackling child poverty must remain a priority. Care is needed to ensure that policies do not cause gaps to increase between those at risk of social exclusion and children generally. Uprating benefits/tax credits and the national minimum wage to ensure that those on low incomes benefit from general increases in living standards will continue to be important; more than this is needed if relative poverty is to be further decreased.

Further measures are needed to tackle inequalities, particularly inequalities that have their origins at birth but may also affect the rest of the lifecourse, such as low birthweight.

Further steps to tackle discrimination on racial grounds, including bullying, are important, both in themselves and as a signal of government intent.

Finally, the quality and availability of national data on children could still be improved.

Filling the gaps

Bringing services together. The Children Bill will do much to bridge the gap between different services at local level and in particular the gap between vulnerable families and children in need of protection; but more is needed. Our findings suggest that there is a need throughout government to fully mainstream a strategy against social exclusion of children and families.

Reaching the hard to reach. Three broad groups of the 'hard to reach' have been identified: minority groups, for example members of ethnic minority groups, Travellers and asylum seekers; the overlooked, such as the learning disabled; and the service resistant, including the over-targeted or disaffected. A different perspective might see these groups as 'hard to hear' rather than 'hard to reach', and therefore might aspire to develop services which are 'easy to use'.

Increasing the take-up of opportunities. To increase the take-up of opportunities, we need to remove the barriers. Barriers may include lack of knowledge amongst parents about the relevant services and assistance and lack of knowledge about their children's education; services which are felt to be inappropriate, inaccessible and/or associated with stigma; cultural factors which may include, for example, not putting a premium on education for girls; and rational choice (for example, deciding not to use child care because it is too expensive).

Some parents and children need targeted help. Escape from social exclusion is particularly difficult for some parents and children who have been rendered depressed because of multi-faceted deprivation and disadvantage in their past and present lives. Mental health services may help; but other people may benefit from mentors and advisers, who not only give them support but also help them to develop new skills, competences and confidence.

New approaches

Learning to hear. Approaches that explore how 'excluded' people perceive their experiences and make decisions could be further explored.

More appropriate targets. We also need more appropriate measures of success for some groups, for whom (for example) returning to work or training can be too great a leap; they need an intermediate stage that confirms their progress.

Tackling stigma and building trust. A 'step change' in the delivery of services for such groups would prioritize the building of relationships of confidence and trust between providers and users.

Timing of interventions. Adopting a more 'child-centred' view implies that because the experience of social exclusion differs by age group, policies may need to be more nuanced as well. In particular, a preventative strategy needs to look further back than early childhood and ensure that single people and childless couples of childbearing age, including young pregnant women, have adequate resources to give their babies as healthy a start in life as possible.

Conclusion

Much of government policy is about creating a better future for children; we need to remove the barriers that stand in their way and give them the skills, competence and confidence to achieve their goals. Children can only do this with the support of their parents; so in addition, we need to support their parents in this endeavour.

CHAPTER 1: Introduction and background

1.1 Aims and methods

The aim of the review was to draw together existing literature and evidence and assess the overall impact of government policies and initiatives on children aged 0–13 and families in, or at risk of, social exclusion over the last ten years (concentrating in practice on the period since 1997). The cut-off age of 13 means that we did not deal with the majority of secondary schooling or any vocational issues, which were outside the age range we were considering. We focus on policies of more specific relevance to children and families, as this is one of four literature reviews being completed simultaneously, with the others covering young people, working-age adults and older people. This means that, for example, the impact of the New Deals is covered in more detail in the report on working-age adults, rather than in this review.

The review was undertaken largely between August 2003 and the end of 2003/beginning of 2004. Except for a limited number of key publications emerging since then, the cut-off date was 31 December 2003.

The literature was largely confined to UK sources, rather than including comparative studies. In our descriptions of policy measures and analysis of their impact, we have largely focused on England, as the Social Exclusion Unit's remit covers England only. Some policies, and some sources which we have drawn on, however – particularly those giving statistical information – refer to a wider geographical area within the UK, or to the UK as a whole.

Our approach was to look at nine areas known to be associated with a risk of social exclusion for children of this age and their families; and assess the extent to which government policies had made an impact in each area. (In doing so, we recognize that social exclusion is multi-faceted, and that many children and families affected by one of these problems may well be affected by several more. The government's 'joined-up' strategy is a determined attempt to deal with this complexity and interaction.) These areas of known risk were:

- poor living standards;
- poor living conditions;
- lack of access to quality early years provision;
- poor educational access and achievement;
- poor health;
- disabled children and children with special educational needs;
- vulnerable families: children in need; child protection;
- access to justice; and
- discrimination.

In the following chapters, each of these risk areas is examined in turn. In each, we briefly identify the risk; we outline government policy aims and policy levers; we explore the overall impact of government policies – the main positive benefits, while identifying those who may have benefited less; as well as gaps in knowledge and possible directions for the future. Each chapter ends with a short summary of the key messages from the findings. The final chapter of the report brings together the overall conclusions, reflects on the findings and proposes some possible directions for the future.

Three elements of our analysis may depart from more traditional perspectives on social exclusion as it affects children and families. First, we emphasize the importance of inclusion during childhood for its own sake, as well as for the sake of the child's longer-term future. Secondly, we use the concepts of risk and resiliency: how far has the government reduced the risks associated with social exclusion and how far has it, by making opportunities and encouraging children and their parents to take advantage of them, promoted resiliency and inclusion? And thirdly, we examine several areas which are important in terms of rights and respect (such as access to legal services and discrimination), as these are also important elements of social inclusion.

Details of the methodology are given in the Appendix. Key experts in each area guided the review and helped to identify relevant government reports and important material from the grey literature in addition to suggesting key words for bibliographic searches of published material. Each relevant paper/report/book was systematically recorded on a matrix and then policy summaries were made, also on a matrix. The summaries written here are the end process. Although key references are given in this report, these represent only a small proportion of all the literature reviewed.

The remainder of this chapter explores:

- the meaning of 'social exclusion' for this group (children and families);
- drivers and risk and protective factors for social exclusion; and
- the experience of social exclusion for children and families.

1.2 What is social exclusion for this group?

Social exclusion as a concept is open to different interpretations, and is still developing; but the defining characteristics identified have usually been predominantly adult-centred,¹ and particularly suited to those of working age. Research often focuses on identifying whether households with children are more likely to be socially excluded, and in which dimensions. This is valuable, and covers the 'families' aspect of this report. But the current government's commitment to listening to children and young people can give us a better idea of children's own experiences and priorities, which can inform our view of what social exclusion means for them.

Government views

The current government uses a pragmatic and flexible definition of social exclusion, highlighting multiple, interrelated aspects of disadvantage and the dynamic process of exclusion. It distinguishes between extreme forms of multiple deprivation, affecting only 1% or so of the relevant population; 'significant problems', which may affect some 1 in 10 of the age group; and the 'risk' of social exclusion, which can affect many more (e.g. the 1 in 3 children living in low-income households). It also identifies particular times when people may be vulnerable. In practice,

- 1 Ridge (2002).
- 2 See, for example, Social Exclusion Unit (2001).

social exclusion for children is often seen in terms of its longer-term consequences; for specific groups of children and especially young people, it may also be seen as involving problematic behaviour for society as a whole.

Adult-centred definitions of social exclusion

The Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion focused, in its recent analysis on the prevalence of social exclusion, on adults of working age, 'since somewhat different indicators would be needed to reflect the same dimensions of inclusion for children and those over pension age.' It examined consumption, production, political engagement and social interaction, and sees lack of participation in any one dimension as social exclusion. In the European Union, social exclusion is seen as linkages between low income, activity status and various indicators relating to means and perceptions of quality of life; but 'children get no special place in the Eurostat analysis – there are no specific indicators that are intended to capture exclusion among children'.⁴

Social exclusion as applied to children

'Politicians often refer to us children as being the future of Europe. But we are living right now. Our childhood is happening now and not in the future.'

('Build Children's Europe – Make Child Rights Real', statement from the Children's summit meeting, Gotenborg, Sweden, 13 June 2001)

In the mid 1990s, researchers began to identify, in co-operation with adults (largely mothers), 'socially perceived necessities' related to children.⁵ The Poverty and Social Exclusion survey developed this approach further, and then applied parents' judgments about necessities for children rather than the whole population's.⁶ This was described as being largely about poverty or multiple deprivation. However, some items defined as a necessity by a high proportion of parents (such as a hobby/leisure activity) could be seen as necessary for children's full social inclusion.

In a more recent study, Adelman *et al.*⁷ drew further on the Poverty and Social Exclusion survey to highlight social exclusion for children. Their aim was to test the connection between severe poverty and exclusion – whether severely poor children were more likely to experience different dimensions of social exclusion, including (lack of) social activities, access to services and citizenship, friendship and support, living in adequate housing/an adequate local area, and financial security. Social exclusion was measured from three perspectives: experiences affecting the whole household, experiences of parents likely to impact on the child, and children's own experiences. The researchers' desire to test out the link between poverty and social exclusion distinguishes this exercise from others.

The researchers try to disaggregate the experiences of children from those of their parents. They argue that this is not done by other studies such as the Families and Children Study (FACS) carried out for the government, which has developed a scale of hardship including many indicators of deprivation; a marked decline in hardship amongst families with children was measured in this way between 1999 and 2001.8

- 3 Hills et al. (eds.) (2002), p. 33.
- 4 Micklewright (2002).
- 5 Middleton *et al.* (1997).
- 6 Gordon et al. (2000).
- 7 Adelman et al. (2003).
- 8 See, for example, Vegeris and Perry (2003). See below for the findings of Adelman *et al.* (2003) on severe poverty and social exclusion amongst children.

Ridge⁹ argues that operationalizing social exclusion for children is problematic, because they are excluded from many areas seen as central to inclusion for adults:

'Social exclusion for children could signify much more than exclusion from society as conceived by adults. It may also mean exclusion from the norms and customs of children's society. In this respect, childhood needs to be seen as a social experience in itself, where the demands of participation and inclusion may be considerable, and likewise the costs of exclusion (Ridge and Millar)'

(Ridge, T. (2002), Childhood Poverty and Social Exclusion: From a child's perspective, The Policy Press, p. 6)

In her study, Ridge finds that 'fitting in' (not feeling different) and 'joining in' (being able to participate in social and other activities) are crucial for children. Micklewright¹⁰ also highlights the importance of considering social exclusion in relation to children, because this leads us to ask who is responsible for excluding children, including, possibly, parents, schools, employers and governments.

Added value of a child-centred view of social exclusion

Reexamining social exclusion through children's eyes means asking about the meaning of inclusion for children as children. For example, is education providing an inclusive experience for children now, as well as helping protect them against social exclusion as adults later?¹¹ What about (lack of) ability to participate, (lack of) respect from others, and discrimination?¹² Ridge argues that it is the social aspect of 'social exclusion' that is least developed and understood. But it is also crucial not to homogenise children – not to lose sight of differences between them in terms of age, disability, ethnic origins, gender, urban/rural background etc. 'There is no "universal" childhood but many "childhoods".'¹³

Not just children but families too

The social exclusion of families as a whole must also be of concern. In part, this is because the vast majority of parents try to protect their children from the effects of poverty, deprivation and exclusion;¹⁴ it is likely, therefore, that parents' (especially mothers') own ability to participate will be lower than it is for single people and childless couples. In part, it is also because children who are excluded from family life are amongst the most socially excluded of all in a variety of different respects.¹⁵ In addition, the relative disadvantage of families with children overall in relation to society as a whole should not mean judging children's poverty/exclusion only by the standard of other children/families with children.¹⁶

- 9 Ridge (2002). Ridge's empirical work was conducted with 10–17 year olds whose families were on income support because they were lone parents or a two-parent family with someone who was disabled.
- 10 Micklewright (2002).
- 11 See, for example, Klasen (2001) compared with Sparkes (1999).
- 12 Ruxton and Bennett (2002).
- 13 Ridge (2002), p. 136.
- 14 This is demonstrated in, for example, Adelman et al. (2003).
- 15 See, for example, Social Exclusion Unit (2003a).
- 16 Micklewright (2002).

1.3 Drivers and risk and protective factors

Drivers of social exclusion

When thinking about who is affected and at risk of social exclusion, this can either be approached from a policy or a vulnerable group perspective; but the macro context is also important, as this will influence the numbers at risk. At the macro level, Bradshaw *et al.* in their literature review on the drivers of social exclusion¹⁷ noted the role of demographic changes, including an ageing population and the rise in lone parenthood; the role of the labour market, which dictates levels of unemployment; and the role of public policy in shifting the parameters. Bradshaw *et al.* then went on to consider the following drivers of social exclusion in more detail: low income; unemployment and low pay; poor educational access and achievement; poor health (physical/mental); and poor housing and neighbourhoods, as well as crime. For this review, we have taken a similar pragmatic approach, looking at the main risk areas as detailed earlier and the policies to combat these.

Risk factors

At the centre of the government's approach to tackling social exclusion has been the idea that we need 'joined-up' solutions to solve these 'joined-up' problems. Children's lives, their problems and their likelihood of social exclusion, are influenced by risk and protective factors in relation to the individual, their families, communities and schools and the wider social environment. Lowering the risk in one domain can impact on, or compensate for, problems in another. For example, the protective influence of educational attainments can dramatically alter the life chances of someone brought up in poverty.

There is a tendency to regard all risks as equal. Jackson, in researching the outcomes of a very vulnerable group – looked after children¹⁸ – argues that education should be given the highest priority, because there is clear evidence that educational success is the most potent protective factor and, conversely, educational failure carries the greatest risks. Bradshaw *et al.*, in their review of the drivers of social exclusion in a wider sense, put this rather less strongly, concluding that: 'On balance the evidence suggests that education can reduce social exclusion'.¹⁹ In this review, we argue that education is important in terms of its potential to provide an inclusive experience (or its opposite) in childhood, as well as in terms of its longer-term effects on life chances.

Others would argue, as seen in the extensive literature on parenting,²⁰ that parental style is at the heart of some of these differential outcomes. Lack of parental responsiveness, inconsistent discipline practices, the use of harsh punishments and lack of supervision are strongly associated with increasing rates of emotional and behavioural problems in children. For some children, behavioural problems can be an important precursor of social exclusion because of their 'chain' effects – for example, problems in school may lead to poor educational attainment and even exclusion from school, which in turn may lead to poor employment prospects. There are also strong links between behavioural problems and later conduct problems and delinquency.²¹

Protective factors

Much of government policy for children aged 0–13, such as Sure Start, the Children's Fund and On Track (among other initiatives), is in part directed at supporting parents in their parenting role, especially for those families most at risk of social exclusion. The lives of children can also be transformed dramatically by quality pre-school care, education and perhaps also after-school and

- 17 Bradshaw et al. (2004).
- 18 Jackson (2002).
- 19 Bradshaw et al. (2004).
- 20 Ward and Gardner (2000).
- 21 Rutter and Smith (eds.) (1995).

holiday clubs, as well as by reducing poverty and creating more favourable living environments.²² Helping children to overcome behavioural problems before they enter school may indirectly impact on other areas of a child's life and help some children and their families to escape the cycle of social exclusion.²³

Clues about contributory factors in helping children escape from social exclusion are emerging from research on resilience and 'agency'. Children are not placid consumers of resources but actors in their own right who, from an early age, powerfully influence those around them and the course of their future lives.²⁴ New research is showing that educational outcomes in children are related to the extent to which they feel they can exercise their own 'agency',^{25 26} or the extent to which they believe their actions (such as how hard they work in school) will influence how much control they have over their future. Although some of this research has come from the US, studies in the UK are replicating these findings.²⁷ Those advocating more focus on 'agency' are careful, however, to ensure that lack of 'agency' is not used to blame children/young people for their own social exclusion.

Discovering and exercising 'agency' could be thought of as an adolescent activity, but the results of the High/Scope Perry Pre-School study,²⁸ in which three year old children were taught to 'think what they wanted to do' and then 'review what they had done at the end of the morning', suggests that children can learn this much earlier. Schoon and Parsons, in the UK, have explored where these beliefs come from:

'The developing individual is embedded in an interconnected set of contexts, which either have a direct or indirect impact ... the formulation and realization of teenage aspirations involves negotiations with oneself, with others, and with the wider socio-historical context. ... [Future] development is influenced by both individual and contextual factors, including the overall socio-historical context that dictates opportunities and possibilities.'

(I. Schoon and S. Parsons (2002), 'Teenage aspirations for future careers and occupational outcomes', *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, April, Vol. 60(2), p. 281)

It is in the last domain cited in the quotation above, 'the overall socio-historical context', where public policy has a particular opportunity to influence 'agency' beliefs, by creating a social climate that children and young people feel gives them opportunities and possibilities that are within the scope of their efforts.

Research on resilience also shows us that a key to surviving adversity is a 'feeling of being in control'. It also supports some of the comments made earlier: risk factors are cumulative; if the 'chain' can be broken, most children can recover; transition points are threats but also opportunities; children only learn to cope through managed exposure to risk; acute stressors are (usually) less harmful than chronic ones; high self-esteem is important – but only part of the answer. Resilience in children is associated with strong social networks; involvement of males in childcare; positive school experiences; a sense of mastery; external mentoring and opportunities to exert agency.²⁹

- 22 Buchanan and Hudson (2002).
- 23 Buchanan (1996). Although this book focuses on child maltreatment, it takes a broad view, looking at socio-political factors including poverty, cultural factors and psychological and biological determinants. Many of these determinants are closely related to social exclusion.
- 24 Prout (1998).
- 25 Little et al. (2002).
- 26 Little (2002).
- 27 Schoon and Parsons (2002).
- 28 Schweinhart and Weikart (1993). This study reported that a generation later there was a \$7 return for every \$1 spent.
- 29 Newman (2002).

Ideas about the importance of 'agency' also link to earlier research by Seligman on 'learned helplessness'.³⁰ The theory of learned helplessness is a model of human behaviour, explaining depression but also possibly linked to social exclusion. An early life of disadvantage – of poverty, discrimination, child abuse or domestic violence – perhaps with intergenerational patterns, may be associated with a deeply-held belief that nothing can change. The survey of the mental health of children in 1999 showed that some 10% of children had a mental disorder and that they were more likely to suffer from poor mental health if their parents were unemployed, and if their parents had few or no educational qualifications;³¹ a follow-up was carried out in 2001, and a further study is currently taking place. The implication for public policy is that some children and parents may need a helping hand to develop the confidence, skills and strategies to escape from social exclusion – but they may only be able to do this if structural factors are 'permitting'.³²

1.4 The experience of social exclusion for children and families

Going without

The Social Exclusion Unit (SEU) sees *living in a low-income household* as a risk factor for social exclusion.³³ Research demonstrates that the source of household income, and who receives and manages it – not just its amount – are also likely to influence children's well-being.³⁴ Gauging the relative importance of income compared to other factors in determining children's experiences is hard; but raising family income may also raise parents' expectations,³⁵ and is likely to result in additional spending benefiting children.³⁶

Income is important, therefore – though if the family is living on a low income, the vast majority of parents try to protect their children from the effects. But this is harder if they experience *persistent poverty.*³⁷ Recent research shows the negative impact of *transitions in employment and family status.*³⁸ Ridge³⁹ notes the impact of insecurity on children's support and friendship networks, and their experience of education; and she finds that children in low-income families often have no completely secure and reliable source of income.

The Poverty and Social Exclusion survey indicated that 34% of British children go without at least one *item or activity deemed to be necessary* by the majority of parents, and nearly one-fifth go without two or more, because their parents cannot afford them; but children are most likely to lack items and activities needed for social participation.⁴⁰ Piachaud and Sutherland argue that 'reduced consumption by children may affect children's social isolation, but it is less important than reduced

- 30 Seligman (1980).
- 31 Meltzer et al. (2000).
- 32 Rutter (1974). Rutter suggested that parents needed 'permitting circumstances' or an absence from extreme deprivation in order to parent effectively.
- 33 Social Exclusion Unit (2001).
- 34 See, for example, Goode et al. (1998).
- 35 Unicef (2000).
- 36 Vegeris and Perry (2003).
- 37 Berthoud (2001).
- 38 Adelman et al. (2003).
- 39 Ridge (2002). Ridge's own qualitative work was carried out with 10–17 year olds. She also analysed the findings of the British Household Panel Youth Survey data about 11–15 year olds.
- 40 Gordon *et al.* (2000). The deprivation threshold was extended to two or more items because so many families had no holiday. The size of the sample obviously has an effect on the statistical confidence limits. This was a stratified sample with a heavy weighting towards the bottom end of the income distribution.

investment in children which can have lifetime effects'.⁴¹ They do agree that separating these is not easy, however; and Ridge notes that some forms of consumption in practice have less tangible but important functions, for example in facilitating communication.⁴²

Difficulties 'fitting in' and 'joining in'

The first chapter above described how studies have examined social exclusion which affects households with children, and/or children specifically. Households with children were more likely to have restricted consumption of, or disconnection from, utilities in the Poverty and Social Exclusion survey, and were less likely to participate in social activities (though reasons included lack of time, not just lack of money).⁴³ Other aspects of the experience of social exclusion as defined in this study did not seem to affect those with children disproportionately.

But in new analysis looking specifically at children, Adelman *et al.*⁴⁴ found higher (not different) levels of *social exclusion amongst children* living in severe poverty (defined using a combination of income and deprivation). Such children were especially likely to be unable to participate in social activities, and more likely to lack access to local services and live in a poor quality neighbourhood.

Ridge, however, highlights 'exclusion within school' due to institutional processes compounding the social and material disadvantages faced by children from low-income families. Children miss out on social contact and different life experiences, and may not learn 'soft skills'. She also emphasises the importance of accessible and affordable transport for children and young people on a low income, as well as affordable leisure activities, to ensure that they can 'join in'. A 'reduced capacity to make and sustain adequate social relationships and social networks'45 was clear, as well as a 'sharp awareness' that they 'might be seen as different and find themselves isolated and marginalized'.46 Children may also 'self-exclude' – for example, by protecting their parents by not even asking them to finance some school activities.

Sparkes and Glennerster⁴⁷ emphasize the inter-relationship of different forms of exclusion. For example, some parents cannot access health services with their child because of bad transport links; the child then misses out on school. Taylor, Berthoud and Jenkins are studying the links between low income and a range of other kinds of disadvantage, to see whether these associations are becoming stronger or weaker.⁴⁸

In their own words

We have identified a tendency to focus on the impact of social exclusion on children as 'human becomings' rather than 'human beings' – on outcomes in future adulthood, rather than on the experience of childhood – and have argued that a more child-centred view of social exclusion would focus more on exclusion from the world of childhood. Children's current experiences of social exclusion are vividly illustrated by some of the studies of children's views. In a large study of bullying in the UK, 50 over half of all British schoolchildren had been the target of bullies and some

- 41 Piachaud and Sutherland (2002), p. 154.
- 42 Ridge (2002).
- 43 Gordon et al. (2000).
- 44 Adelman et al. (2003).
- 45 Ridge (2002), p. 144.
- 46 Ridge (2002), p. 144.
- 47 Sparkes and Glennerster (2002).
- Institute of Social and Economic Research (2004). This study is being carried out for the Social Exclusion Unit, but it is not just focusing on children and families.
- 49 Fawcett et al. (forthcoming) and Prout (2000), both cited in Lister (2004).
- 50 Katz *et al.* (2001). In addition, in Hughes and Lloyd (1996) 25% of boys and 30% of girls claimed that they had been bullied 'a lot' and only 20% of boys and 15% of girls said that they had no experience of being bullied.

young victims had contemplated or attempted suicide. As one young girl said, perhaps highlighting the day-to-day reality of social exclusion, 'I hated myself. I felt there must be something I'd done wrong or terrible for this to happen. I felt ashamed'.

Studies of young people who have been looked after⁵¹ are also powerful: 'When you say that you are in a children's home, people think you are a tramp or something'. Another girl complained, 'You say you are in care and lots of people feel sorry for you. I hate that feeling'. More common were views about exclusion from the social life of school: 'I've missed loads and loads of schooling ... I don't fit into normal school any more'. In a further study of 308 young people largely from ethnic minority groups in Bradford, following the recent disturbances,⁵² a young girl noted: 'You need help on how to get somewhere ... if you don't have the preferred marks'; while another added: 'I can't see the point, really, 'cos you know people who don't get the jobs they go for anyway'.

Longer-term consequences of social exclusion in childhood

However, whilst the importance of social exclusion for children's experience of childhood may have been under-emphasized, we do not underestimate its longer-term consequences, and it is these that in part underpin the government's concern about poverty and social exclusion for children.⁵³ Findings from longitudinal research show that there are important continuities between disadvantages in childhood and a range of adverse outcomes and social exclusion in adulthood; so getting it right in the early years is especially important.⁵⁴

However, understanding causation even in these studies is problematic.⁵⁵ Different factors may be important at different ages and for different outcomes.⁵⁶ There is a complex web of influences on child outcomes and, in addition, 'insight is lodged (or locked) within many [different] academic disciplines ...'.⁵⁷ Moreover, the originators of cohort studies could not anticipate the interests of future researchers, and so did not necessarily ask the most useful questions for our purposes.⁵⁸ However, despite its limitations, many believe that longitudinal evidence is the most reliable we have at present for telling us what happens to different groups of children with different experiences.

It is important to synthesize the results of these studies, to highlight the more pervasive and persistent relationships. For example, one study of data from the National Child Development Study (NCDS)⁵⁹ examined the factors that may be implicated in continuing patterns of social exclusion, vividly illustrating the *inter-connectedness of disadvantage* through the life-course. Another study based on the NCDS tried to separate out the effects of childhood experiences from the impact of the *starting points* in children's lives (such as their cognitive abilities or their parents' educational level).⁶⁰ Examining family disadvantage in terms of poverty, lone parenthood, paternal unemployment or being taken into care, and police contact/truancy ('delinquency') at age 16, the authors found that those with disadvantaged or 'delinquent' backgrounds fared badly in terms of earnings and employment as young adults. Education was important as a transmission mechanism, but typically accounted for under half the differences. 'Of the family-based measures of childhood

- 51 Buchanan (1995).
- 52 Katz et al. (2002).
- See, for example, Persistent Poverty and Lifetime Inequality, CASEReport 5 and HM Treasury Occasional Paper no. 10, 1999, reporting on a workshop held in November 1998.
- 54 Buchanan and Hudson (2000).
- 55 Walker (2003).
- 56 Ermisch et al. (2001).
- 57 Walker (2003), p. 2.
- 58 Hobcraft (2002), p. 75.
- 59 Hobcraft (1999), p. 116.
- 60 Gregg et al. (1999) (based on National Child Development Study, 1958 cohort).

disadvantage, poverty was found to be by far the most important force linking childhood development with subsequent social and economic outcomes'.⁶¹ In addition, the children of parents who had themselves grown up in socially disadvantaged situations had lower cognitive ability on average when measured early on at school.

John Hobcraft⁶² has examined the factors that may be implicated in adult social exclusion, based on the National Child Development Study, with the aim of capturing influences at different periods of the life-course through to young adulthood (to age 33), in order to identify pervasive antecedents. He takes a pragmatic approach to 'precursors, markers, or components of social exclusion', and tries to 'avoid disciplinary silos' in the analysis of antecedents. The most pervasive childhood influences on adult disadvantage, net of intermediate experiences, are educational test scores, childhood poverty, frequent school absences, contact with the police and parental interest in education. Taken together, various child behaviour measures also matter. Hobcraft notes that 'one striking feature of this list ... is how few can be measured retrospectively'.⁶³ Women seem to be more vulnerable to childhood disadvantage, especially to certain features, than men.

Intervention in the early years may not be enough, and this is important when we consider parents in families living in social exclusion, as this review is intended to look at families as well as children aged 0–13. Hobcraft concludes that, even if adults seem to have escaped from childhood disadvantage, its legacy will mean that they continue to require protection from its effects; that there is a need to deal with multiple and interconnected disadvantages (social exclusion); and that a longer-term perspective is required that focuses on 'the ways in which cumulative or repeated disadvantage plays out through the lives of individuals, rather than focusing on entry and exits, and status, on one disadvantage at a time'.⁶⁴ In another version of this evidence, Hobcraft argues that it implies that 'policies to deal with disadvantage should not only attempt to shift people out of disadvantage at any time, but also place greater emphasis on maintaining the escape from social exclusion'.⁶⁵

In addition to Hobcraft's work, there is now a large literature from life history researchers around the world, who are using different longitudinal data sets but coming up with similar findings on factors that influence outcomes for children. The focus of many of these studies is more psychological, but most control for structural factors, such as poverty and education. At Oxford, for example, the Centre for Research into Parenting and Children, using the UK longitudinal data sets, is beginning to tease out some of the different factors in the child, family, school and community associated with child well-being. In doing this, researchers are also highlighting the relative strengths of the different factors. In most of these studies, family conflict and poor parental mental health are associated with poorer outcomes, while higher levels of parental involvement are associated with better educational, emotional and relational outcomes. In helping children escape from social exclusion, these studies are useful in focusing social policy.⁶⁶

- 61 Findings 389 (1999), Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- 62 Hobcraft (forthcoming, 2004). The points noted here are from this paper unless otherwise specified.
- 63 Hobcraft (forthcoming, 2004), p. 8.
- 64 Hobcraft (forthcoming, 2004), p. 17.
- 65 Hobcraft (2003), p. 41.
- 66 Buchanan and Hudson (2000), but also papers from the Centre for Research into Parenting and Children: http://www.apsoc.ox.ac.uk/parenting/Buchanan.htm

This chapter has set out:

- the aims and methods of this study;
- the meaning of 'social exclusion' for this group (children and families);
- drivers and risk and protective factors for social exclusion; and
- the experience of social exclusion for children and families in both the immediacy of childhood and the longer term.

It has also explained three elements of our analysis that we have argued are key to understanding social exclusion as it affects children and families and the impact of government policies: firstly, inclusion during childhood for its own sake; secondly, the concepts of risk and resiliency; and lastly, rights and respect. The next chapter examines the context in which relevant government policies operate.

CHAPTER 2: Overview of government policy

This chapter sets out the context in which government policies that impact on children and families in, or at risk of, social exclusion are operating. First, it looks at key elements of policy on families and children – general family policy, listening to children and the approach to children at risk. Then it examines the government's overall strategy to tackle social exclusion and then homes in on its policies towards children and families experiencing social exclusion or at risk of doing so.

2.1 Family policy, policies for children at risk, listening, investment

'Family life is the foundation on which our communities, our society and our country are built ... There is a widespread recognition that a new approach supporting the family is needed ... In almost everything government does, we can help families, neglect them, or even do them active harm. So it must be right for government to have a policy towards the family, to provide the best support we can.'

(Home Office (1998), Supporting Families, consultative document, pp. 1-2)

'We are proposing here a range of measures to reform and improve children's care — we want to maximize the opportunities open to them — to improve their life chances, to change the odds in their favour.'

(The Prime Minister (2003), foreword to the Green Paper, Every Child Matters)

Family policy

Any strategy to combat social exclusion amongst children and families is enacted against the background of an overall family policy. The Children Act 1989, which was implemented in 1991, brought together legislation for children that had previously been scattered across the statute books. In legislating for how children should be treated under the law, it also laid the foundations of a family policy for England and Wales. Broadly speaking, this was that children's interests were paramount; as far as possible, they should be brought up in families; when they were in 'need' or their health or development was under threat, they and their families should be given services; when at risk of significant harm, they should be protected; and when they were being looked after by the state, their well-being should be promoted.

With the arrival of the Labour government in 1997, there was a change in how this legislation was interpreted. Under the Conservatives, the focus was on individual and family responsibility, with minimal intervention from the state in supporting families.⁶⁷ The 1998 Green Paper, *Supporting Families*,⁶⁸ outlined the new approach. It was recognized that, with the rising number of divorces, more children being brought up in lone parent households, more child poverty, rising crime and drug abuse, the family was under stress. A modern family policy, it noted, needed to recognize the new realities of family change, but also needed to focus on clear principles: first, the child's interest was paramount, and the state's primary interest in family policy was to ensure that the next generation got the best possible start in life; second, children needed stability and security and,

- 67 Pascall (1999).
- 68 Home Office (1998).

although many lone parents raised their children well, marriage was the surest foundation for rearing children, and therefore should be promoted; and third, the government should offer support to all parents so that they could better support their children.

Five areas were outlined where it was felt government could make a difference:

- ensuring that all parents had access to the advice and support they needed;
- improving family prosperity, reducing child poverty and ensuring that the tax and benefits system acknowledges the cost of bringing up children;
- helping families with work/life balance so that they could spend more time with their children;
- strengthening marriage;
- tackling more serious family problems, including domestic violence and school-age pregnancy.

Children at risk

The huge raft of initiatives since 1998 outlined in this review link to these objectives. Perhaps the gap in *Supporting Families* was the lack of a clearly defined policy for protecting children. The death of Victoria Climbie and the detailed recommendations following the Laming⁶⁹ report led to the Green Paper, *Every Child Matters*.⁷⁰ It was recognized that child protection could not be separated from policies to improve children's lives as a whole. There was a need to focus on the universal services that every child used; on more targeted and specialist services for those with additional needs; and, finally, on compulsory action through parenting orders as a last resort where parents are unwilling to co-operate to deal with a child's antisocial behaviour, offending or truancy. Where children were not able to live with their families, the Adoption and Children Act 2002 was designed to increase the number of children who were adopted. In the Green Paper, there was a focus on early intervention and effective prevention; accountability and integration locally, regionally and nationally; the appointment of a new Minister for Children, Young People and Families; and workforce reform.

Following the Green Paper, the government has outlined an impressive programme of work set against a tight timetable: *Every Child Matters: Next steps.*⁷¹ The *Children Bill* (with Royal assent anticipated in November 2004) will create the legislative framework to reform children's services, in order to maximize opportunity and minimize risk for children and young people. There will be a new duty on agencies to co-operate among themselves and with other local partners. Pooled health, social care and educational budgets are encouraged, as well as information interchange. There will also be an integrated inspection framework and the creation of a Children's Commissioner for England.⁷²

Listening to children

In implementing these policies, the government has made a commitment to listening to children. An important initiative in 2001 was the publication of *Learning to Listen*, ⁷³ which set out principles for children and young people's participation in the planning, delivery and evaluation of

- 69 Home Office (2003).
- 70 HM Treasury (2003b).
- 71 Department for Education and Skills (2004d).
- 72 Children Bill, Department for Education and Skills (2004), press release 4 March.
- 73 Children and Young People's Unit (2001).

government policies and services across government departments. Behind the action plans⁷⁴ was the idea that by actively involving children and young people in the planning and development of services, it would be real rather than presumed needs that would be addressed.

The government's investment in children

The government has invested heavily in children and their futures. In a recent analysis of public expenditure on children in England, ⁷⁵ Sefton notes that the government spends about £5,000 per child on public services on average; and that since Labour came into power in 1997 (and especially since 1999-2000), there has been a substantial increase in expenditure on public services. 'Children appear to have benefited most from this increase in public expenditure', ⁷⁶ with public spending per child growing by almost 20% in real terms between 1996-97 and 2001-02 – though he notes that this trend may now have changed, because the recent increase in health spending is more likely to benefit older people. More importantly, in view of our focus here, he also says that it is likely that spending on children has become more 'pro-poor' since 1997, with tax and benefit policies skewed towards lower-income families and changes to spending formulae giving a greater share of funding to poorer areas.

Much of this expenditure has been directed at the children (aged 0–13) who are the subject of this review. These are the citizens of tomorrow who will lay the foundations for the next generation. It is clear that one of the key drivers of the government's policies to tackle child poverty and social exclusion is, rightly, concern about the long-term consequences. As Hills points out, a concern about the longer term may in fact reinforce rather than detract from the case for action on short-term problems. A 'protective' strategy of boosting the incomes of families with children now can also be a 'preventive' strategy for the next generation, for example.⁷⁷

2.2 Government policies on social exclusion

Overall policies on social exclusion

The other main influence on the strategy to tackle social exclusion amongst children and families is the government's overall policies on social exclusion. However, its policies to tackle the causes and symptoms of social exclusion should also be seen in the context of its ambitious commitment to end child poverty in a generation and its overarching aims, including the promotion of equal opportunity and tackling discrimination.

The government's own strategy for tackling poverty and social exclusion is set out in its annual *Opportunity for All* reports.⁷⁸ The National Action Plan on Social Inclusion⁷⁹ describes how the UK government and devolved administrations try to tackle poverty and social exclusion, but also looks at the actions of other actors.

Both these documents look at poverty and social inclusion. Trying to separate out policies specifically addressing social exclusion is not easy. But looking in particular at the development of policies on social exclusion, and the setting up of the Social Exclusion Unit shortly after the new Labour government came into office in 1997, a focus on children and young people was evident

- 74 Published by government departments, following the initial document published in 2001.
- 75 Sefton (2004).
- 76 Sefton (2004), p. 1.
- 77 Hills (2002). John Hills usefully divides potential policies into prevention, promotion, protection and propulsion.
- 78 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a).
- 79 Department for Work and Pensions (2003c). The UK produces the NAPincl as a member state of the European Union, currently at two-yearly intervals.

early on. The first brief for the SEU's work included tackling truancy and school exclusions. The SEU was also asked to examine the problems of disadvantaged estates; this was the beginning of the neighbourhood renewal strategy. The government's approach to social exclusion (as opposed to poverty) was therefore initially focused largely on particular groups and areas.

More recently, the approach to social exclusion has been described as a three-part strategy, of *prevention* (reducing risks and compensating for their impact), *reintegration* of those who become excluded, and *delivering basic minimum standards of services* to all.⁸⁰ This could be seen as putting more of an onus on ensuring the effectiveness of government policies for everyone. The SEU is still asked to examine specific issues, and to tackle topics needing a more 'joined-up' approach.

Policies affecting social exclusion amongst children and families

The analysis of government policies below is based on an understanding of this three-part strategy. Policies to *prevent* social exclusion among children and families could be seen as encompassing action on worklessness, including policies on 'welfare to work' and 'making work pay'; investment in the early years, including Sure Start in particular; and the strategy on school exclusions and truancy. The government's tax and benefit changes have improved incomes for families with children in general and for low-income families with children in particular; and childcare policies contribute to reducing worklessness and to combating disadvantage from early childhood on.

Reintegration policies will often be targeted on adults, although many of these policies will also affect children in families headed by such adults. The New Deals can be seen in this category, and some analysis is made of these in this review (especially the New Deal for Lone Parents), in terms of their impact on families with children. Pupils excluded from school have been given more provision. The children of teenage parents will be affected by plans to bring these parents back into education, employment or training.

Basic minimum standards of services (public and private) also affect children and families – some in more obvious ways, such as the initiatives to improve educational standards in schools, or to end bed and breakfast for homeless families. The national minimum wage also affects many families with children, especially through its impact on women workers. But the key focus of this goal is to ensure minimum standards in deprived areas, rather than just improving average performance. Targeting deprived areas is an effective means of reaching poor children, as they are particularly concentrated in such areas – though many poor children are not reached by such initiatives, and there have been calls for universal provision of such new schemes as children's centres.

Our review also examines areas of policy that have traditionally not always been included in government descriptions of its strategy to tackle social exclusion – including, for example, policy on sport and the environment more generally; access to justice; family support services; and action on discrimination.⁸¹ We also look in more detail at some groups at particular risk, including disabled children and vulnerable children (children requiring protection, looked after children etc.); policy towards them may be more or less likely to lead to their inclusion. Any government also has competing priorities – as well as conflicting policy goals – some of which may be less compatible with policies to tackle social exclusion.

The chapters that follow, each covering one of the identified risk areas, describe in detail recent policies to tackle the causes and symptoms of social exclusion for children and families, and analyse their impact as recorded in the literature. As noted earlier, we are aware that it is somewhat artificial to divide these into separate policy areas; certainly as far as children and families are concerned, they will not be experienced as isolated issues but often as a multi-faceted experience.

⁸⁰ Social Exclusion Unit (2001).

⁸¹ Some of these policies are, however, included in the National Action Plan on Social Inclusion (see above).

CHAPTER 3: Poor living standards

3.1 The risk of social exclusion⁸²

'This book ... shows that the adversities of some boys and girls can extend into almost every aspect of their health, their family circumstances, and their educational development; it shows the enormous inequalities of life for "disadvantaged" compared with "ordinary" children.'

(Wedge, P. and Prosser, H. (1973), *Born to Fail?*, Arrow Books in association With National Children's Bureau, reporting on National Child Development Study)

The links between child poverty, defined in terms of low income/living standards, and negative outcomes in the short and longer term – including physical, cognitive, behavioural and emotional – are well-known.⁸³ Physical outcomes include infant and child mortality, child morbidity and fatal accidents, neglect and physical abuse; poor housing conditions and homelessness are associated with low income; educational attainment is likely to be lower; poverty is a risk factor for problematic behavioural outcomes; and poverty is also likely to be related to adverse mental health. These links, especially inter-generational inequalities, have been highlighted by the current government.⁸⁴

It is important not to see these links as automatic and inevitable, however.⁸⁵ And, as Plewis *et al.* note, the links over time between child poverty, medium- and long-term child outcomes and the intervening effects of 'within family' processes, local services and neighbourhoods are not yet well enough understood.⁸⁶ There may not be a single critical time point for all significant outcomes (educational progress, health, behaviour etc.); and subsequent events are also important.

Their view about differential time points seems to be borne out by research using the British Household Panel Survey (1991–99) and the British Youth Panel (added in 1994) to focus on child poverty outcomes in adolescence and young adulthood.⁸⁷ The authors of this research conclude that their findings demonstrate that family policies and income maintenance programmes are both likely to be relevant. The study also draws attention to some of the more intangible effects of child poverty, including lower self-esteem, fatalism in attitudes to health, and low educational aspirations; and it highlights possible differences between the impact of childhood poverty on men and women. Plewis *et al.* also point out that interventions may act through intermediate effects (e.g. affecting the nature of parental support, rather than children's development); and poverty experiences may be filtered through different lenses for different groups. We also know that whilst there is an overlap between low income and material deprivation, it is not complete. Whilst the damaging effects of poverty in general are clear, therefore, any policy response must be nuanced to take these complexities into account.⁸⁸

- 82 A previous literature review Millar and Ridge (2001) looked at this area of policy. It ranged much wider, however, giving demographic and other information, and was also based on data up to 2001 only.
- 83 See Bradshaw (ed.) (2001), which originated in an Economic and Social Research Council study.
- 84 HM Treasury (2001). Bradshaw (2001b) points out that some of the indicators used in *Opportunity for All* reports are inputs rather than outcomes.
- 85 Stressed, for example, by Kathleen Kiernan in Hills et al. (eds.) (2002)
- 86 Plewis et al. (2001).
- 87 Ermisch et al. (2001).
- 88 See wider overview of research by Robert Walker (2003).

Main policy levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs)

Main relevant PSAs

: to reduce number of children in low-income households by at least a quarter by 2004/05, as a contribution towards the broader target of halving child poverty by 2010 and eradicating it by 2020.89 Progress by 2004–05 judged by low-income measure (children in households with under 60% contemporary median income). But longer-term90 progress when all of three totals decreasing: numbers with 'absolute' low income (below fixed income threshold before housing costs (BHC), uprated only with inflation); relative low income (under 60% contemporary median income BHC) and combined material deprivation and low income (under 70% contemporary median income BHC). Child poverty 'eradicated' when material deprivation amongst children approaches zero, and UK among best in Europe on relative low income as measured by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) modified equivalence scale, adjusted for household size.

to reduce the total number of children in workless households over the three years to 2004, and to reduce the proportion of children in workless households over three years (spring 2003–spring 2006) by 6.5%⁹¹ (in fully operational childcare/early years programmes, aim for 12% reduction in proportion of young children in workless households by 2005–06.) Other employment targets also relevant: increase employment rates of disadvantaged areas and groups taking account of economic cycle – ethnic minority groups, 50 plus, those with lowest qualifications, and 30 districts with poorest initial labour market position; and significantly reduce difference between their employment rates and overall rate. Over the three years to spring 2006, increase the employment rates of lone parents significantly and reduce the difference between their employment rates and the overall rate. Furthermore, as part of the National Action Plan on employment, the government also aims to increase the lone parent employment rate to 70% by 2010.

Policies (general)

Strategy on poverty and social exclusion outlined in annual *Opportunity for All*. Child poverty strategy comprises redistribution, employment, prevention and human capital investment; ⁹² major policies include 'work for those who can and security for those who cannot': ⁹³ to reduce worklessness (in part by making work pay) and improve incomes for the workless. Recently included more generous new tax credits and income support increases for younger children, plus expansion of those who 'can' (and are expected to) work, and policies to help, encourage and (for some) compel them to. For children/families, 'breaking cycles of deprivation' also key. ⁹⁴ Area-based policies complementary. Asset-based welfare policies for children not yet started, but Child Trust Funds Act would give lump sum at birth to all children, with more for those in low-income families, realized at age 18. Child support overhauled, ⁹⁵ with simpler formula and disregard for those out of work, replacing previous system which it is argued failed to improve financial support for children. ⁹⁶

- The long-term goal was originally set by the Prime Minister in a speech on 18 March 1999. The PSA was set out in HM Treasury (2002b). The baseline year is 1998–99, when there were 4.2 million children living in low-income households after housing costs and 3.1 million before housing costs.
- 90 Department for Work and Pensions (2003b). The threshold which will be counted as material deprivation has not yet been decided.
- 91 HM Treasury (2002b).
- 92 Bradshaw (2001a).
- 93 Department of Social Security (1998a).
- 94 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a).
- 95 Department of Social Security (1998b); Department of Social Security (1999).
- 96 Wikeley et al. (2001).

Policies (specific)

Making work possible

New Deal schemes, covering lone parents, young and older people, disabled people and partners, to help people into jobs; childcare provision is intended to complement 'welfare to work' policies. Jobcentre Plus will provide an integrated service to all people of working age, with more focus on work, and work-focused interviews as a gateway into the benefits system for more groups.

Making work pay

The working families tax credit and disabled persons tax credit were introduced in 1999 to provide improved levels of support for low-income working families and disabled people. In April 2003 these were replaced by the working tax credit and child tax credit, with the latter being extended to people on income support and income based jobseekers' allowance during 2004-05. A childcare element of the working tax credit helps with childcare costs. Child tax credit and the childcare element of the working tax credit are paid direct to the main carer. Working tax credit is currently paid by employers but this will shortly be changed.

The national minimum wage was introduced in 1999, and has been increased in value since then.

Income tax: the starting rate was reduced to 10% and the basic rate was cut to 22%.

National insurance contributions: the 'entry fee' was abolished and the starting point for paying contributions has been aligned with the income tax personal allowance (primary threshold).

Targeting resources at children

Children's allowances in income support and other means-tested provision were raised, including a doubling in real terms of the rates for children under 11. Child benefit has been increased, in particular the rate for the first or eldest eligible child, now 25% higher in real terms than in 1997.

Child support: the new scheme started to be phased in from March 2003, with new cases

Sure Start maternity payment: increased to £500 from June 2002, available via certain benefits.

(Information in the section on specific policies taken from Memorandum from Department for Work and Pensions submitted to Work and Pensions Select Committee Inquiry into Child Poverty, 2003).

3.2 Overall impact of government policies

There are some problems with measuring poverty and social exclusion for children, who are often just included within households. In addition, the effects of policies to increase low-income families' incomes may be modelled separately in advance, but are often evaluated together once implemented. Gauging the impact of policies is also complex, as some increase/decrease poverty measured by income directly, while some shift the (relative income) 'poverty line' up or down⁹⁷ – and factors such as economic and demographic change, as well as policy, also affect poverty rates. The differential risks of children falling into poverty across Europe show that children are not inevitably more vulnerable to poverty than other groups. In the UK, financial support for families in general has been increased, particularly since 1999; international comparisons show that the UK's 'child benefit package' had in fact already improved markedly by mid 2001 compared with 1992. Out of the 22 countries studied, the UK tax/benefit system was evaluated as second only to that in the US for families on low earnings, and was also quite generous for non-working families. Further improvements have been implemented since 2001. By September 2004, families with children will on average be £1,300 per year better off, and in the poorest fifth, £2,900 per year better off, in real terms because of personal tax and benefit measures since 1997; a one-earner family on half average earnings with two young children will be £3,750 per year better off. These are significant sums benefiting families.

Child poverty has fallen. From a position in the mid 1990s which was historically and comparatively dire, with a dramatically high level of child poverty, trends have been moving in the right direction. ¹⁰³ By 2001–02, 3.8 million children (about 30%) lived in poverty in Britain, 400,000 fewer than in 1998–99, the government's base year. ¹⁰⁴ The latest figures show another fall of 200,000, to 3.6 million (some 28%), by 2002–03. ¹⁰⁵ Increasing levels of employment and above-inflation increases in some benefits/tax credits, especially for families with children, have been the main reasons for this fall. ¹⁰⁶ By 2001, the UK had improved its relative position within the European Union, having leapt several places after being at the bottom of the child poverty league. ¹⁰⁷ The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) estimated that the government would probably – after the 2003 Pre-Budget Report announcements – more or less be on course to meet its child poverty target by 2004–05. ¹⁰⁸ More recently, following the 2004 Budget (which announced increases in the child element of the child tax credit), the IFS has firmed up this prediction, and suggested that the government is on course to meet this target. ¹⁰⁹ The Secretary of State himself has said: 'We are pretty confident that we will hit [the target] on a before-housing-costs basis; it is more challenging on an after-housing-costs basis'. ¹¹⁰ We should know in spring 2006 if the target has been met.

- 98 Ruxton and Bennett (2002).
- 99 Adam and Brewer (2004).
- 100 Bradshaw and Finch (2002).
- 101 Cited in Sefton (2004) (though he notes that the results for non-working families are sensitive to the treatment of housing costs).
- 102 HM Treasury, information following 2003 Pre-Budget Report; see also House of Commons Hansard (2003), Debates 10 December, col. 1087, TSO.
- 103 Bradshaw and Bennett (2003).
- 104 Brewer *et al.* (2003). Northern Ireland is being included in Households Below Average Income data from 2002. See note below for 'poverty line' used here.
- 105 Department for Work and Pensions (2004a). (These figures are for disposable income after housing costs; before housing costs, the figure for 2002–03 is 21%, or 2.6 million children (see below).)
- Sutherland *et al.* (2003). The 'poverty line' often used in public debate (and across the European Union) is 60% of median income where the median is the level of income after direct taxes and benefits, adjusted for household size, such that half the population is above the level and half below it. The measure used most here is after housing costs, although analysis on a before housing costs basis is often also used. (There is also an argument for taking account of childcare costs in a similar way to housing costs, which is currently not done; the issues are explored in Appendix 4 in Department for Work and Pensions (2004a)). Since research evidence suggests that parents tend to sacrifice their own well-being to try to protect their children from poverty, parents may be more deprived in practice than childless adults.
- 107 Department for Work and Pensions (2003b).
- 108 Institute for Fiscal Studies, Pre-Budget Report briefing, 11 December 2003; and Brewer (2003).
- 109 Brewer *et al.* (2004); Brewer (2004). The latter report suggests that the government will just meet its after-housing costs-target; the Secretary of State seems more cautious.
- 110 House of Commons Hansard (2004), Oral Answers 26 April, col. 626.

The proportion of children experiencing persistent poverty (below the poverty threshold in three or four years of a four-year period) has also fallen.¹¹¹ Recent analysis shows that the median poverty gap amongst children rose between 1996–97 and 2000–01, and in pounds per week has continued to rise (up to 2002–03) – but it has risen less quickly than median income recently, and so the median poverty gap ratio is declining.¹¹²

'Poverty' figures do not usually include the impact of indirect taxes (poor families tend to be disproportionately affected by increases in such taxes); but including them only marginally reduces the fall in poverty since 1997, though the incidence varies, and poverty for lone-parent households increases by 1%.¹¹³ The 'social wage' is not usually included either; but evidence suggests that benefits in kind have become more 'pro-poor' recently, especially since 1997.¹¹⁴

This analysis is not focusing on income inequality. But analysis by the Institute for Fiscal Studies suggests that the pattern of changes in income inequality has altered. Recently the richest individuals have been drawing away from the rest, but with the incomes of many lower-income families rising faster than the average. In the late 1990s, incomes for the large majority became more equal, but those at the very top were pulling away, and those at the very bottom not keeping pace; over the early 2000s, income inequality (measured by the Gini coefficient) may have fallen slightly, though this is not statistically significant, and inequality still remains very high.¹¹⁵

3.3 What have been the main positive impacts? Who has benefited most? Which policies work well together and why?

The Families and Children Study found that from 1999 to 2001, children in their sample experiencing hardship fell from 67% to 53%, and those with multiple hardships fell from 28% to 15%.¹¹⁶ In a later interpretation of the evidence, which includes figures from 2002, Marsh and Vegeris state that severe hardship 'almost vanished' among working families after 1999, and was also reduced amongst out-of-work families.¹¹⁷ The proportion of families on income support in arrears decreased from 55% to 48% between 1999 and 2002.¹¹⁸ Improvements in families' living standards have benefited children first;¹¹⁹ and the £2 billion transfer from fathers to mothers via the new tax credits¹²⁰ is also likely to mean that more will be spent on children.¹²¹

- 111 Department for Work and Pensions (2004a).
- 112 Brewer *et al.* (2004), p. 37, note 47. The 'poverty gap' is the total amount of income by which all households fall short of the poverty line.
- 113 Sutherland et al. (2003).
- 114 Sefton (2002). Sefton suggests, however, that this has not been enough to offset rising income inequality.
- 115 Brewer et al. (2004); see also Goodman and Oldfield (2004).
- 116 Vegeris and Perry (2003). Hardship measures focus partly on housing. The panel was composed of lone parents and low- to moderate-income couples with children. The analysis of hardship scores excludes the self-employed. (The researchers say that some improvement would be expected in a panel study surveying an ageing sample, and that FACS has been shown to overestimate positive change compared to other data; but they emphasise that it is the direction of change that is important.)
- Marsh and Vegeris (2004). Their data show that amongst lone parents on tax credits, severe hardship fell from 21% to 6% between 1999 and 2002, and amongst those on moderate income it fell from 4% to 2%; amongst couples, the equivalent figures were a fall from 23% to 6%, and from 4% to 1%. (The measures of 'hardship' and 'severe hardship' are specific to the FACS.)
- 118 Kempson et al. (2004b). (There was no fall from 2001 to 2002.)
- 119 Farrell and O'Connor (2003). (Based on 37 families from the 2000 and 2001 Families and Children Study.)
- 120 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a). The basis for this estimate is not clear; the biggest transfer is likely to take place from April 2004, when child tax credit replaces child allowances in income support and jobseekers' allowance.
- 121 See, e.g., Goode et al. (1998).

Looking at employment, the New Deals have made a useful contribution to increasing employment levels. ¹²² Children in workless households have decreased by 296,000 since autumn 1998 to 1.77 million in autumn 2003 (a reduction from 17.1% to 15%). ¹²³ Moreover, there is evidence of success in 'making work pay': the national minimum wage, whilst having 'no discernible effect on employment levels', ¹²⁴ has directly benefited some 6–7% of workers. ¹²⁵ This may be less of an impact than was intended, however, because of problems with the accuracy of the low pay statistics used to predict its potential effects – now improved; the government has recently accepted recommendations from the Low Pay Commission to increase its level significantly above inflation. ¹²⁶

Another key policy for 'making work pay' is in-work tax credits. Families on working families tax credit were gaining by an average £64 per week in 2001 compared with income support;¹²⁷ and by 2002, a fifth of all families with children were in receipt of working families tax credit, mostly receiving between £60 and £99 per week.¹²⁸ In the past, the voluntary New Deals have had lower levels of investment in human capital.¹²⁹ The Chancellor in the 2003 Pre-Budget Report announced a 'New Deal for Skills', however, and one element of the strategy on employment is 'making work skilled'. The increased emphasis on skills acquisition is part of a growing focus on progression in work.

Child benefit (which reaches more children living in poverty than any benefit designed specifically for them)¹³⁰ has been increased, especially for the first/eldest child, although from 2003 child tax credit became more significant in the financial support provided for families.¹³¹ There have been generous increases in income for families without paid employment: income support rates for the under-11s have more than doubled in real terms since 1997.¹³² Support has therefore been increased for younger children in particular, based on solid research evidence about the costs of children of different ages.¹³³ There is a growing consensus that early childhood is a crucial period;¹³⁴ the additional element of the child tax credit for the first year of life is one of various ways in which to focus resources on this age group. Child poverty (measured here by receipt of means-tested benefits by the family) varies hugely by area across the UK, and is highly concentrated in some areas;¹³⁵ area targeting has therefore been argued to be an effective means of reaching poor children.¹³⁶

- 122 Nickell and Quintini (2002). For evaluations of specific New Deals, see, e.g., Evans *et al.* (2003); White and Riley (2002); Wilkinson (2003). The New Deal for Disabled People is more recent. We do not analyse the impact of the New Deals in detail in this report, since a separate report on the impact of government policies and initiatives on social exclusion amongst working-age adults is doing so.
- 123 Office for National Statistics (2004a).
- 124 The Government's Evidence to the Low Pay Commission (2002).
- 125 Dickens and Manning (2002). The NMW was introduced in April 1999. Improved low pay estimates were published in 2002.
- 126 Metcalf (2002).
- 127 McKay (2003); WFTC was introduced in October 1999.
- 128 Barnes and Willitts et al. (2004).
- 129 Evans (2001).
- 130 Take-up of child benefit is estimated at some 98%, according to recent data (House of Commons Hansard (2003), Written Answers 8 December, col. 329W, TSO).
- 131 Adam and Brewer (2004).
- 132 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a).
- 133 Middleton et al. (1997).
- 134 Harker and Kendall (2003).
- 135 Noble et al. (2001).
- 136 Tunstall and Lupton (2003).

Policies for lone parents seem to be working well together: ¹³⁷ personal advisers are popular, tax credits reward work from 16 hours per week upwards, and receipt of child support is disregarded on top, with paid work being more likely among those receiving it (though not everyone who could benefit from it is aware of this). 138 Lone parents' employment in the UK had lagged behind that in other countries, but rose from 42% in 1992 to 54% in 2003, with some 80,000 (5%) more lone parents working due to major policy measures – results that were achieved alongside increases in out-of-work benefit and voluntary (not compulsory) participation in employment programmes.¹³⁹ Receipt of child support (private maintenance payments for children) increased from 25% to 31% of lone parents between 1999 and 2001, 140 and the controversy surrounding the introduction of the new scheme under the previous Conservative government appears to have subsided.¹⁴¹ In 2002, among families where at least one child had a non-resident parent, 52% had an order or agreement for child support, with 64% of these having actually received payments.¹⁴² A new scheme, which employs a different formula to calculate child support payments, is being phased in. Maintenance is also part of 'welfare to work' strategies; although £10 per week of child support can be retained on income support, the whole amount is disregarded for working tax credit. The new scheme is more generous to a non-resident parent with other children living with him/her (whether they are his/her own or not) although the non-resident parent's housing costs are not taken into account in the new formula. Policy coherence for couples, who have more varied benefit status, may be more challenging; for them, some commentators argue, 'such high levels of wage supplementation' (via working families tax credit) may 'lower the threshold to splitting up, and delay a move from single earner to dual earner status'. 143 However, this was written before the introduction of the new tax credits.

3.4 Which groups have benefited the least? Where are there unintended consequences or tensions?

Looking at 'welfare to work' and 'making work pay', concern has shifted to focus on the sustainability of jobs, including those obtained via the New Deals; barriers to work do not disappear once a job has been obtained.¹⁴⁴ There is therefore an increasing focus on retention once 'welfare to work' has done its job,¹⁴⁵ to which the government is beginning to respond. 'Mini-jobs' for lone parents may not be viable¹⁴⁶ – although, if maintenance is received, this can help them to be so. Research has found that, despite in-work benefits/tax credits increasing in value, gains can still be quite modest for some in part-time work.¹⁴⁷ Bradshaw and Finch have noted that childless couples now get more housing benefit than couples with children on the same earnings levels.¹⁴⁸ Many people have enjoyed significant increases in discretionary income as they have entered work; but for some, increases in costs (such as for childcare and/or housing) may reduce these, and some people may even return to benefits in order to be able to manage.¹⁴⁹ This may be in part because

- 137 See, for example, Marsh and Perry (2003).
- 138 Marsh and Perry (2003).
- 139 Gregg and Harkness (2003); see also Marsh and Perry (2003). Personal advisers are particularly appreciated. These achievements were summarized by the government in Department for Work and Pensions and HM Treasury (2003), published alongside the 2003 Pre-Budget Report.
- 140 Marsh and Perry (2003).
- 141 Though see parliamentary debates in House of Commons Hansard (2004), Debates 15 June, cols. 749-756 and 165WH-188WH.
- 142 Barnes and Willitts et al. (2004).
- 143 Marsh and Perry (2003).
- 144 Millar (2003).
- 145 Kellard (2002).
- 146 Kasparova *et al.* (2003). In another publication, Marsh and Vegeris (2004) point out that this is the way many mothers in two-parent families ease themselves back into the labour market.
- 147 Sutherland (2002).
- 148 Bradshaw and Finch (2004).
- 149 Farrell and O'Connor (2003).

debts are often 'called in' once someone enters work. However, these studies were completed before the new tax credits were introduced in April 2003, and we do not yet know to what extent, if at all, these problems will still exist under the new scheme. The number of children in working households on low incomes has not fallen recently. The New Deal for Lone Parents helps 1–2% of lone parents to leave benefit every six months, making it a challenge to reach the employment target of 70%. The New Deal for Lone Parents the employment target of 70%.

In-work support has been implicated in the past in disincentive problems for second earners,¹⁵² although the most recent evidence does not support this with reference to primary earners.¹⁵³ Take-up of working families tax credit was estimated as 62–65% in 2000–01,¹⁵⁴ although the government believes that take-up of the new child tax credit is very high. (Official take-up figures are not yet available.) The increased emphasis on progression in work means that the next stage of employment policy may have less focus on expanding in-work tax credits.

There are some concerns about 'security for those who cannot [work]' (DSS, 1998a), and more generally about stability of income for poor households with children. Take-up of income support amongst lone parents is very high, but income-based jobseeker's allowance only has a take-up rate of 62–71% (2000–01). The Recent research pinpointed transitions to and from work and benefits, and from one family type to another, as times of heightened risk of persistent and/or severe poverty for children this study was carried out before the introduction of various measures to aid the transition into work). Reports suggest that changes in tax credit awards, particularly recovery of over-payments, are causing some problems, and the Inland Revenue has urged people not to spend their tax credits in case they have to make repayments; but research evidence is not yet available. The second transition of the second transition of

'Security' can also be interpreted as adequacy of income, as well as stability. The full longitudinal analysis of hardship amongst families, including the most recent results from FACS for 2002,¹⁵⁹ is not yet available; but it appears that the falls in severe hardship in out-of-work families between 1999 and 2001 levelled off after 2001, with one in five still experiencing severe hardship in 2002.¹⁶⁰ Four in ten of the poorest children live in households which are not in receipt of any of the main means-tested benefits, and therefore are not affected by increases in their amounts.¹⁶¹ For those on means-tested benefits, income support levels are still below 60% of median income¹⁶² – though even by 2001 they were much closer to 'low cost but adequate' family budgets.¹⁶³ Many lowincome families live on a lower income level than may be assumed, with at least one in three

- 150 Palmer et al. (2003).
- 151 Evans, M. in D. Thurley (ed.) (2003).
- 152 Brewer and Clark (2003); though note that, although the new tax credits will have a mixed impact, it is likely that for some potential 'second earners' incentives will improve because of the £2,500 'allowance' and the use of gross rather than net income for the calculation.
- 153 The issue was raised by Bryson (1998); but recent evidence of wage progression for those on tax credits is provided in Lydon and Walker (2003).
- 154 Inland Revenue (2002), 'Working Families' Tax Credit: Estimates of take-up rates in 2000-01'. All figures on take-up given here are by caseload; analysis is often also available by expenditure.
- 155 'Income Related Benefits Estimates of Take-up in 2000/2001', Department for Work and Pensions, 27.3.03.
- 156 Adelman *et al.* (2003). (Income was examined before housing costs, which may affect results, especially given that the focus of this research is the lowest income groups.)
- 157 Evidence from One Parent Families to HM Treasury Select Committee, June 2003; Dornan (ed.) (2004) p. 76; Child Poverty Action Group press release (2004), 6 April.
- 158 Forthcoming evidence from the Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, which is carrying out a study examining fluctuations in incomes from week to week, should help to throw some light on this.
- 159 Barnes and Willitts et al. (2004).
- 160 Marsh and Vegeris (2004).
- 161 Brewer and Goodman (2003).
- 162 Sutherland et al. (2003).
- 163 Bradshaw (2001c).

claimants having one or more deductions from benefit.¹⁶⁴ In addition, the low benefit level for many of childbearing age (£43.25 per week on jobseeker's allowance for a single person under 25 in 2003–04) may be storing up problems for the future.¹⁶⁵

Concerns about the discretionary Social Fund continue to be reported, ¹⁶⁶ and the Social Security Advisory Committee plans to examine it in the coming year. ¹⁶⁷ The government has recently increased the budget of the discretionary Social Fund, however. ¹⁶⁸ It also has a major programme of research on the Social Fund, one report from which has been published recently. ¹⁶⁹ It found that nearly half those who had either had their application for a community care grant refused or had been given a partial award that left them at least £50 short had to do without at least some of the things they applied for, which resulted in hardship. A similar proportion had to repay loans they took out to make up the shortfalls, which created an additional burden. The most common reasons for applying for a grant were to set up a new home or to move. This may suggest that the Social Fund is one instrument for helping at times of transition, but may not always fully meet the resulting needs. The costs of education, especially uniform and school trips, still seem to cause parents problems; ¹⁷⁰ the government is investigating this issue at the moment. ¹⁷¹

The government estimated that by 2004 over half of all children in low-income families would be in larger families¹⁷² (though these families have also experienced some of the biggest declines in poverty). Financial support for children has been tilted towards one-child families¹⁷³ – though future child tax credit increases in the amount per child, as announced in the 2004 Budget, may now tilt this back. The government is also concerned about the position of some ethnic minority groups, ¹⁷⁴ some of whom may be disadvantaged in social security provision (e.g. lower allowances for some asylum-seekers, and lower take-up rates of some benefits). Some ethnic minority lone parents seem particularly likely either to be unaware of, or to express negative feelings about, the Child Support Agency.¹⁷⁵

Unintended consequences of policies may include lack of awareness or confusion among targeted groups, due to the complexity of some measures (especially their interaction) and the number of initiatives, etc. Policy-makers may underestimate the impact of (deficient) delivery on low-income families; and disruption to incomes can be caused by large-scale administrative changes, as with new tax credits.¹⁷⁶ Some major reforms have been delayed to avoid this (e.g. child support reforms).¹⁷⁷

- 164 This figure is taken from the November 2001 Quarterly Statistical Enquiry (income support).
- 165 This compared with £54.25 per week in additional benefit above and beyond the amount for the adult(s) for a family with one child (including the per family element): Chote *et al.* (eds.) (2003). It is also less than half the amount for a single pensioner on means-tested benefit in 2003–04.
- 166 Social Security Select Committee (2001a).
- 167 Social Security Advisory Committee (2003).
- 168 HM Treasury (2002a).
- 169 Kempson *et al.* (2004a). Several other reports are due to be published shortly but were not available at the time of writing.
- 170 See, for example, Tanner *et al.* (2003); report of Gingerbread survey of members, in report of annual conference, 17.4.02; survey by National Association of Citizens Advice Bureaux, 14.8.02; Ridge (2002).
- 171 Department for Work and Pensions (2003c).
- 172 Department for Work and Pensions (2002b). There is an examination of the issue in the Fifth Annual Report 2003, pp. 85–102.
- 173 Adam and Brewer (2004).
- 174 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a), pp. 128–145.
- 175 Pettigrew (2003).
- 176 See reports by Treasury Select Committee (2003) and Citizens Advice (2004) on this; the Social Security Select Committee (2001b) had asked for an undertaking that the transition would be a smooth one.
- 177 They are being phased in, with the result that only new cases are currently receiving the benefit of the new measures.

More generally, it is argued by some that in order to tackle child poverty successfully, the government will need to pay more explicit attention to women's poverty.¹⁷⁸ In particular, women's employment will be critical to making both lone parent and two parent families better off.¹⁷⁹ It has also been argued that more attention could be paid to the responsibility of others besides the government itself for a national anti-poverty strategy, including private providers.¹⁸⁰

3.5 Gaps in knowledge

Some policies are too recent to have been fully evaluated yet (new tax credits, new maternity/paternity/parental rights, new right to ask for flexible working etc.). As elsewhere, low-income data in the UK are still produced with a time lag (the latest available being those for 2002–03), though the UK does well relative to other countries in this regard. As elsewhere, there is concern about the quality of the income data for those on very low incomes in particular.

Although the government has made considerable progress, we cannot yet know about the longer-term impact of many of its policies. Evaluation of the New Deals does not usually include specific analysis of their impact on people with children;¹⁸¹ and the focus of the New Deal for Lone Parents evaluation was on lone parents themselves, rather than on their children.¹⁸² There is a good case for evaluating the 'Sure Start' maternity payment, as there seems to be some anecdotal evidence about problems.¹⁸³ There is only limited evidence about the consequences for children of policies affecting their families' incomes negatively, such as benefit sanctions.¹⁸⁴ And the government has not commissioned research into a 'minimum income standard' as a basis for benefit levels;¹⁸⁵ it has therefore not fully articulated what it means by 'an income which allows for a decent life'.¹⁸⁶ The government argues that 'there is no accepted single research method that can be used to calculate a minimum income standard for all families',¹⁸⁷ and has instead clearly set out its plans for a longer-term measure of child poverty.¹⁸⁸

There are some areas where further research would be particularly valuable. For example, apart from specialized studies of children in care and Traveller children, there seems to be room for more research into the impact of insecurity on children, in terms of their moving house frequently, causing instability in education, friendships and social activities. ¹⁸⁹ One study found, for example, that only 29% of children of homeless families were attending mainstream school, although 73% had been attending before their families became homeless. ¹⁹⁰ Researchers have called for a large quantitative survey of ethnic minority children's poverty; a new survey of children, with a high priority on children's own views and child-based indicators of poverty and social exclusion; ¹⁹¹ and

- 178 Bradshaw et al. (2003).
- 179 Marsh and Vegeris (2004).
- 180 Howarth et al. (2001); National Consumer Council (2003).
- 181 Millar and Ridge (2001).
- 182 As noted by the authors of one of the synthesis reports: Evans et al. (2003).
- 183 Personal communications: Maternity Alliance and Institute for Public Policy Research. (No research evidence is available, because of the lack of official evaluation of this policy.) However, the Maternity Alliance confirms that the payment now approaches the one-off costs related to childbirth.
- 184 There is some limited evidence of the impact of sanctions and the mitigating effect of hardship payments (which were not always received) in Saunders *et al.* (2001).
- 185 Social Security Select Committee (2001), and government reply; see also Work and Pensions Select Committee (2004).
- 186 Department of Social Security (1998a).
- 187 House of Commons Hansard (2004), Written Answers, 1 April, cols. 1585W-1586W, TSO.
- 188 Department for Work and Pensions (2003b).
- 189 Raised as an issue in research in Ridge (2002).
- 190 Vostanis *et al.* (1999). See also Shelter survey of families living in temporary accommodation, reported in Shelter (2004b); and a more recent report from Shelter (2004a).
- 191 Adelman *et al.* (2003); this is thought by the authors not to be sufficiently emphasized in the deprivation measures used in the Families and Children Study.

regular monitoring of child well-being, with consistent UK-wide data.¹⁹² Family change is often thought of as an independent factor, but incentives regarding family life can, in theory at least, be affected by policies on incomes;¹⁹³ we could try to find out more about this complex area.

3.6 Directions for the future

'Children are kept in poverty not by a padlock to which there is a single key but by a combination lock that requires an alignment of factors if it is to be released.'

(UNICEF (2000); 'A league table of child poverty in rich nations', Innocenti Report Card no. 1)

The government has now adopted a new measure to assess its longer-term progress on child poverty.¹⁹⁴ In effect, this comprises three measures, one of which has yet to be fully developed (the material deprivation threshold, as part of a measure that combines low relative income and deprivation). Some concern has been expressed about the fact that all three measures look at income only before housing costs.¹⁹⁵ It has also been noted that the larger the household, the less is retained for other essential spending after housing costs;¹⁹⁶ using a before housing costs measure may therefore seem to decrease the impact of poverty on large families, a group about which the government has expressed its concern.¹⁹⁷

In terms of policies on poor living standards, the government's child poverty review¹⁹⁸ suggests a recognition that further impetus is needed to fulfil its longer-term, more challenging objectives. The review is looking at: improving employment opportunities; supporting those unable to undertake paid work; improving the effectiveness of public services in tackling deprivation and enhancing their contribution to improving life chances; and improving services for children and families in deprived areas.¹⁹⁹ The 2004 Budget proposed some new measures as an interim stage in this review, including the increases in child tax credit noted above, as well as a series of more tailored policies in the welfare to work area for specific groups and particular purposes.²⁰⁰ The Work and Pensions Select Committee has suggested that a roadmap of progress towards meeting the 2010 target of halving child poverty is required; and that in order to meet this target, the poorest families (measured on the after housing costs basis) require an additional £10 per week per child.²⁰¹

Some commentators have argued in the past that there is a tension between emphasizing responsibilities and self-reliance whilst simultaneously increasing the numbers on income-related assistance;²⁰² various mechanisms in the design of the new tax credits are intended to address this, but it is too early to gauge their success. There is also concern about the impact of complexity on

- 192 Bradshaw (ed.) (2002); the word 'well-being' is sometimes used to denote a focus on the present, not just on 'well-becoming' in the future.
- 193 Brewer and Clark (2003).
- 194 Department for Work and Pensions (2003b).
- 195 Work and Pensions Select Committee (2004).
- 196 Ambrose (2004), pp. 10-11.
- 197 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a).
- 198 HM Treasury (2003), press release 7 July.
- 199 HM Treasury (2003a), para. 5.25.
- 200 HM Treasury (2004).
- 201 Work and Pensions Select Committee (2004).
- 202 See, for example, Piachaud and Sutherland (2000).
- 203 Lonsdale (2004); and Social Security Advisory Committee (2003). The National Audit Office is starting a study of benefit complexity.

benefit claimants,²⁰³ which may result from the interaction of different benefits, and/or from frequent changes in provision. It has been suggested that the 'cost of compliance' should be taken as seriously for low-income families coping with benefit changes as it is for businesses coping with regulations.²⁰⁴ These points are examples of the fact that the 'design of public systems may have effects going beyond the purely distributional', as Hills notes.²⁰⁵

'Lone parents' are a diverse group, whose characteristics also change as they move through lone parenthood (2–5 years on average); commentators have suggested that it may make sense to focus policies on factors other than their lone parenthood.²⁰⁶ There can sometimes seem to be confusion between the goals of helping with the direct and the indirect costs of children.²⁰⁷ Employment measures may not be able to reduce poverty much more; it has been suggested that further redistributive measures will be needed²⁰⁸ – especially the uprating of benefits/tax credits and the minimum wage with income growth, rather than just inflation.²⁰⁹

A focus on prevention is already central to some features of the government's approach; but a stronger emphasis on prevention of poverty may be important, both because of the destabilising impact of transitions, and because being poor one year increases the chances of being poor the year after, regardless of other characteristics.²¹⁰ The government has stressed that it wishes to be amongst the best in Europe on the basis of the relative income measure of child poverty;²¹¹ lessons from those countries that already manage to achieve this (in 2001, Denmark, Finland and Sweden) will be easier to exchange in future, because of the arrangements for discussion and peer review of member states' National Action Plans on social inclusion. Lastly,²¹² a contribution to the Joseph Rowntree Foundation's centenary project on 'tackling disadvantage' suggested that a key government priority should be 'developing a strategy which garners the support of the public'.²¹³

3.7 KEY MESSAGES

- Links between child poverty and negative outcomes are clear but complex.
- Child poverty has fallen, to 3.6 million (some 28%), by 2002–03. Increases in employment (including via the New Deals) and in benefit/tax credit levels have been the main reasons. By 2001, the UK had improved its relative position within the European Union Child Poverty League.
- Severe hardship decreased significantly among working families after 1999, and was also reduced amongst out-of-work families. Improvements in families' incomes have been spent on their children.
- Financial support for children has increased, especially for low-income families, and in particular for younger children. Policies for lone parents seem to be working particularly well together as a package.
- There is a developing focus on sustainability of jobs and progression in work, as well as continuing concern about 'making work pay' policies.
- 204 See, for example, Blackwell (2003).
- 205 Hills (2002), p. 238.
- 206 Rafferty and Walker (2003).
- 207 Bennett (2002).
- 208 Sutherland et al. (2003).
- 209 Sutherland (2002); see also Clark and Leicester (2004).
- 210 Cappellari and Jenkins (2002).
- 211 Department for Work and Pensions (2003b).
- 212 Bradshaw and Bennett (2003).
- 213 Regan and Robinson (2004).

- Security of income issues include stability as well as adequacy, and delivery mechanisms are important to low-income families. Groups of particular concern include some ethnic minority groups and large families.
- Some policies are too recent to have been fully evaluated and we may need more focus on the impact on children in future evaluations.
- The child poverty review will be an impetus to further policy development, to help sustain and further develop the strategy to tackle child poverty.

CHAPTER 4: Poor living conditions

4.1 The risk of social exclusion

There are well-established links between poor housing conditions (housing that is overcrowded, in poor repair or poorly insulated) and the risks to children of ill health, educational disadvantage, and slower social development generally. Children in such conditions are more likely to suffer from conditions such as bronchial problems, asthma and skin disorders; they are more likely to have insufficient space for home study; and they are more likely to suffer from a lack of safe or stimulating play space. Children from low-income backgrounds are significantly more likely to suffer accidental injury or death from fires in the home. There is also a specific link between a poor quality environment outside the home and deaths or serious injuries suffered by child pedestrians in road accidents: children from low-income backgrounds are more likely to live near main roads, and more likely to play by or in roads (because they do not have safe alternatives) and to walk rather than travel by car. Children from ethnic minority groups are over-represented in households experiencing poor housing conditions, and among pedestrian road accident victims. Families with a disabled child are more likely to be living in poor housing conditions; disabled children also suffer specific problems from poorly adapted housing, and a lack of accessible play facilities outside the home (see chapter 8, below).

Main policy levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs)

Housing and homelessness

A key PSA target is to achieve a better balance between housing availability and demand (ODPM5). Number of homeless households with children in temporary accommodation is indicator for this target; and key milestone is to end use of bed and breakfast accommodation (B&B) for homeless families with dependent children (or expectant mothers) by 2004, except in urgent cases of under six weeks' duration. Housing authorities obliged by law to adopt homelessness strategy by July 2003. The Supporting People Programme (from April 2003) aims to meet support needs of vulnerable households who face recurring homelessness, including mothers and their children fleeing domestic violence. Housing benefit reform 'essential' to child poverty strategy.²¹⁴

Target to bring all social housing up to decent condition by 2010; and, among private homes occupied by vulnerable groups, to steadily increase proportion in decent condition **(ODPM7)**. Key milestones: to reduce non-decent social sector homes by a third (2001–04); and to ensure over 65% of vulnerable private sector households in decent homes by 2006–07. No separate targets for children, but reducing proportion in non-decent homes seen as integral to child poverty strategy.²¹⁵ Target to reduce accidental fire-related deaths in home (in England and Wales) by 20% between 1994–99 and 1999–2004: children in low-income households identified as at particular risk, but no specific targets.

Target to end fuel poverty for vulnerable households (including families with children) by 2010, starting by improving energy efficiency of 600,000 homes during 2001–04 (DEFRA7). There have also been measures to improve access by disadvantaged consumers to privatised energy services.

²¹⁴ Department for Work and Pensions (2002a), p. 3.

²¹⁵ Department for Work and Pensions (2003a).

Living spaces for children

Neighbourhood renewal strategy aims to narrow the gap between deprived neighbourhoods and rest, and ensure that by 2010–20 nobody is seriously disadvantaged by where they live (ODPM1).

Targets to reduce child road casualties (killed/seriously injured) in GB by 2010 by 50% compared to 1994–98, and (from 2002 in England) to tackle significantly higher incidence in disadvantaged communities (DT5). Wide range of local schemes encouraged and given central funding.

Another objective is to improve quality of public spaces, including local authority parks, green spaces and children's play spaces, with new national standards by 2005.²¹⁶ Social services departments must increase number of disabled children using inclusive play services.²¹⁷

Strategic priority to promote sporting activity by children, with some programmes targeting deprived areas (DfES4/DCMS1). Action taken to stem loss of school playing fields to developers.

4.2 What does the existing evidence tell us about the overall impact of government policies?

Housing and homelessness

The number of households with dependent children or expectant mothers in bed and breakfast accommodation was 830 at the end of March 2004 (12% of all households in bed and breakfast), compared with 4,800 in March 2003 (40% of all households). Of those 830 households, around 30 (4%) had been resident for more than six weeks, a fall of 99% (2,740 cases) compared with one year previously.²¹⁸ But the overall number of households with dependent children accepted as homeless rose by 13% between 1997 and 2002; and by a further 7% in the first half of 2003.²¹⁹

Housing benefit administration has improved, with complaints down a quarter in 2001–02.²²⁰ Standard housing allowances (varying according to family size) are being piloted in the private sector, and are likely to be extended to the social housing sector in future.

Between 1996 and 2001 the proportion of social housing classed as decent rose from 46% to 62% (non-decent properties falling from 2.1 million to around 1.6 million).²²¹ Between April 2001 and March 2004 the number of non-decent properties is expected to have fallen by around a further 500,000 – the milestone of achieving a reduction of a third in this period is likely to be met just a few months late.²²² Between 1996 and 2001 the proportion of vulnerable households living in decent homes in the private sector rose from 42% to 57%.²²³ Overall, the proportion of children living in decent homes rose from 57% to 70%.²²⁴ Another survey also showed small improvements

- 216 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2002b).
- 217 Department of Health (2002), p. 154.
- 218 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2004a).
- 219 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2004b), Table 4.
- 220 Commission for Local Administration in England (2002).
- 221 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003f), Table 1.
- 222 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003a).
- 223 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003f), Table 2.
- 224 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a), p. 182, based on English House Condition Surveys.

in 2001 in a number of aspects of housing conditions.²²⁵ (An earlier target, to reduce the backlog of council house repairs by at least 250,000 by March 2002, was met: the reduction was 350,000, though this included losses from the sector.)²²⁶

Around 100 local authorities were considered in 2002 to be at risk of not delivering the 2010 decent homes target, and have been developing action plans to secure delivery.²²⁷ The process of getting housing adaptations for disabled children (see chapter 8, below) has been found to be often lengthy and expensive:²²⁸ at local level, no single agency or department assumes lead responsibility.²²⁹

The number of accidental fire-related deaths in the home has continued to fall, and target milestones were reached in 1999–2000 and 2000–01: but those for 2001–02 and 2002–03 were not, and achievement of the overall target (for 1999–2004) is now at risk; there were an estimated 294 deaths in 2002, compared to the 2002–03 milestone of 275 (no separate analysis for children is published).²³⁰

The number of vulnerable households in fuel poverty fell from 3 million in 1996 to 1.2 million in 2002;²³¹ and fuel expenditure was 6% of income for the lowest three income deciles in 2001–02, against a target of below 5% by 2003–04.²³² But the reduction in fuel poverty was partly due to changes in incomes and energy prices, rather than gains in the thermal efficiency of homes.²³³ Local authorities lack of control over disparate initiatives has restricted development of coherent strategies.²³⁴ Continuing problems have been found over disconnection by people on pre-payment meters.²³⁵

From April 2001 to December 2002, some 470,000 vulnerable households received assistance with heating/insulation improvements: the interim 2004 target was therefore 'on course' to be met. About 65% of spending under the Energy Efficiency Commitment has gone to vulnerable households, compared to a target of 50%. But the Warm Front scheme was found to be poorly targeted and making a smaller contribution to eliminating fuel poverty than it could. Warm Zones were estimated to have reduced fuel poverty by 2.4% in the first 15 months, compared to a three-year target of 50%. Despite the health consequences of fuel poverty, the NHS has no strategic involvement in lifting disadvantaged consumers out of fuel poverty: on the other hand, tackling fuel poverty has become conflated with environmental goals, distorting the behaviour of companies tasked with delivering the strategy.

- 225 Vegeris and Perry (2003).
- 226 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003c), p. 83.
- 227 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2002a).
- 228 Audit Commission (2003).
- 229 Beresford and Oldman (2002).
- 230 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003a), p. 22.
- 231 Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and Department of Trade and Industry (2004).
- 232 Department of Trade and Industry (2003b).
- 233 Fuel Poverty Advisory Group (2003a).
- 234 Shenton (2003).
- 235 Klein (2003).
- 236 Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2003), p. 67.
- 237 Department of Trade and Industry (2003a).
- 238 National Audit Office (2003).
- 239 Energy Saving Trust with Centre for Sustainable Energy and National Energy Action (2003).
- 240 Klein (2003).

Living spaces for children

A 2001 review found limited evidence that geographical concentration of social exclusion in deprived neighbourhoods adds to its scale or effects;²⁴¹ moreover, official guidance on spatial interventions does not identify socially excluded children (or other specific vulnerable groups) for evaluation purposes.²⁴² In practice, however, there is a wide range of area-based initiatives primarily aimed at children.²⁴³

In general, area targeting using the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2000 (IMD 2000) has been found to be more effective in reaching children than other methods, since poor children are more spatially concentrated at district/ward level than adults.²⁴⁴ But by 2001 there was no clear qualitative evidence that childhood disadvantage in the poorest areas was declining.²⁴⁶ The targeting efficiency of special and specific government grants (tackling issues like child poverty) has been criticized. There are also many pockets of poverty within otherwise affluent areas which do not qualify for 'disadvantaged area' status; improving 'mainstream' services is not by itself adequate, and there remain problems of access to funding to deal with multiple problems.²⁴⁷

The Department for Transport says it is 'well on the way' to achieving the 2010 child road casualty target.²⁴⁸ Casualties in 2002 were 33% below the 1994–98 baseline,²⁴⁹ and fell a further 5% in the first quarter of 2003.²⁵⁰ But it is not yet clear whether there has been any significant acceleration in a well-established trend: indeed, the reduction in all deaths and serious injuries during the baseline period 1994–98 was slightly greater (11.8%) than in 1998–2002 (10.9%).²⁵¹ Total casualties in districts in the 88 Neighbourhood Renewal Fund (NRF) areas fell by more (between the 1999–2001 baseline and 2002) than the percentage drop in England:²⁵² prior to the target being set, the accident rate had declined more slowly in the lowest socio-economic group.²⁵³

About half of local authorities were found in 2003 to be behind schedule in delivering local transport plans;²⁵⁴ skill shortages have been cited as a contributory factor.²⁵⁵ But on the whole, local authorities were found to be implementing 20 mph zones in areas with higher levels of deprivation and pedestrian casualty rates.²⁵⁶ Such zones were found to cut child pedestrian accidents by 70%;²⁵⁷ and to make parents more willing to allow children to play in the streets.²⁵⁸ Successful

- 241 Lawless et al. (2001).
- 242 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003d).
- 243 Only those relating to spatial aspects of neighbourhood are covered here; see other sections for evaluations of initiatives in early years provision, education and health.
- 244 Lupton and Tunstall (2002).
- 245 Lupton (2001).
- 246 Association of London Government (2003).
- 247 Local Government Association (2003), p. 6.
- 248 Department for Transport (2003a), p. 49.
- 249 Department for Transport (2003b); see also Lambert and Purdy, 'Review of progress towards the 2010 casualty reduction targets', in same publication.
- 250 Department for Transport (2003c), Table 2.2.
- 251 Department for Transport (2003c), Table 1.2.
- 252 Department for Transport (2003d).
- 253 White et al. (2000).
- 254 Atkins (2003).
- 255 Harman and Lyons (2003).
- 256 Grayling et al. (2002).
- 257 Webster and Mackie (1996).
- 258 Allott and Lomax (2000a), (2000b), (2000c).

schemes consult the community at an early stage.²⁵⁹ Traffic calming measures were found to be more effective than road safety education in reducing child injuries, and inequalities in child health.260

The first Home Zone evaluation showed that traffic speeds and flows fell; residents thought motorists were more considerate to children playing in the street.²⁶¹ Home Zones were found to improve life for visually impaired children, including their access to play areas.²⁶² In disadvantaged areas Zone projects were used to develop local community capacity.²⁶³ But neither degree of local disadvantage nor child casualty rates was among the primary criteria for choosing Home Zone schemes.²⁶⁴ Moreover, planning and implementing a Home Zone has been found to be complex, requiring high levels of community organization.²⁶⁵

There are underlying tensions between a pure strategy of minimizing road casualties (regardless of social grouping/location) and the targeting of either children (as opposed to other vulnerable road users such as elderly people) or children in deprived areas (as opposed to all children).²⁶⁶ Deprived areas may provide less access to gardens or open space, making children more likely to play in the street:²⁶⁷ but DfT targets and strategy documents rarely cross-refer to wider government strategy on public spaces, housing and children's play. Those involved in designing new highways have been found to lack both the means and the motivation to explore ways of providing 'peoplefocused' streets; 1998 guidance failed to consider using streets for children's play.²⁶⁸ Children in deprived areas may be less likely to be driven by car by their parents and therefore more likely to be pedestrians, creating greater exposure to road accidents:²⁶⁹ but moves to increase walking and cycling by children (e.g. to school) may aggravate this risk further.

Two surveys in 2002 pointed to declining standards of the local environment and public spaces.²⁷⁰ Lottery spending on public parks since 1996 was described as the largest capital investment in them since their creation:²⁷¹ but only 18% of public parks were classed by their local authorities in 2001 as being in good condition,²⁷² and parks in deprived areas were likely to be in a worse condition than in others.²⁷³ The 'green flag' standard was achieved by 182 green spaces in England and Wales in 2003, compared to 125 in 2002 and seven in 1997 (the first year of the award): but this may simply reflect wider awareness of the scheme.²⁷⁴

Most initiatives to promote children's play space are recent and not yet evaluated. But a survey found many local authorities had no strategic approach to children's play.²⁷⁵ Work on children's play spaces was not identified as a short-term priority for the new Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (CABE) Space Unit:276 the Living Spaces scheme (to improve local play

```
259 Transport Research Laboratory (1996).
260 Liabo et al. (2003).
```

- 261 Layfield et al. (2003).
- 262 Allen et al. (2002).
- 263 Biddulph (2001).
- 264 Department for Transport (2001).
- 265 Transport 2000 and Sustrans (2003).
- 266 Graham et al. (2002).
- 267 Graham et al. (2002).
- 268 WSP, David Lock Associates and TRL (2003).
- 269 WSP, David Lock Associates and TRL (2003).
- 270 MORI Social Research Institute (2002a), (2002b).
- 271 Institute of Leisure and Amenity Management (2003).
- 272 Urban Parks Forum (2001).
- 273 Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (2003a).
- 274 Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (2003b).
- 275 Cole-Hamilton et al. (2002a).
- 276 Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (2003c).

spaces) was not orientated towards deprived areas, and involved applications by existing neighbourhood groups. Neighbourhood Renewal Unit (NRU) programmes for street cleanliness and safety make no references to 'children' or 'play', or to Home Zones.²⁷⁷ Lack of play provision appears to be most acute for children of statutory school age.²⁷⁸

On the other hand, improving open spaces and play areas was found to be among the most common housing outcomes adopted by partnerships under the New Deal for Communities.²⁷⁹ A lottery-backed initiative to improve spaces for play and recreation also showed (on early evidence) potential for substantial achievements in promoting social inclusion.²⁸⁰

Local authorities were found to be failing to provide adequate inclusive play facilities for disabled children.²⁸¹ Another report found a variety of problems for the parents of disabled children in finding suitable play facilities; only 28% of low-income families felt appropriate facilities were available.²⁸²

In late 2003, the target on sporting activity was met by a third or more of schools (compared to a 25% baseline in 2002, and 75% target for 2006).²⁸³ The Playing for Success scheme has shown gains in basic skills for underachieving children in urban areas.²⁸⁴ Since 1998, only around 25 applications per year (with a declining trend) have been approved that resulted in the net loss of school playing fields capable of forming a sports pitch, compared to an estimated 30–40 per month before 1998; approvals have affected about 0.5% of maintained schools;²⁸⁵ in 91% of approved cases in 2001–02, sport benefited or remained unaffected.²⁸⁶ But development applications rose 40% in 2000–01,²⁸⁷ and some have argued that the published data exclude losses to non-inclusive facilities.²⁸⁸

4.3 Gaps in knowledge

Housing and homelessness

There is a lack of local authority data, and routine evaluation, relating to housing adaptations for disabled children.²⁸⁹ There is a need for evaluation of housing association and local authority expenditure on energy efficiency and fuel poverty.²⁹⁰ There is a lack of information and evidence on the precise nature of the rural fuel poverty problem.²⁹¹

- 277 Worpole (2003).
- 278 Cole-Hamilton and Gill (2002).
- 279 Neighbourhood Renewal Unit (2003).
- 280 New Opportunities Fund (2003).
- 281 Petrie et al. (2003).
- 282 Shelley (2002).
- 283 House of Commons *Hansard* (2003), Written Answers 9 September, col. 296W, TSO.
- 284 Sharp et al. (2003).
- 285 Department for Education and Skills (2003a).
- 286 Ibid.
- 287 Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2002).
- 288 National Playing Fields Association (2003).
- 289 Beresford and Oldman (2002).
- 290 Cheshire (2002).
- 291 Centre for Sustainable Energy (2002).

Living spaces for children

The direct links between deprivation, social exclusion and the condition of local environments are unproven.²⁹² There is a need for more sophisticated research methods in neighbourhood evaluations.²⁹³

More detailed analysis of child road casualties is needed to shed light on key behavioural issues.²⁹⁴ The reasons for over-representation of ethnic minority children in road accidents are not known:²⁹⁵ more research is needed to identify any specific causal factors.²⁹⁶ Little research has been done on the increased risk of traffic accidents among disabled children.²⁹⁷

There has been little evaluation relating to the promotion of physical activity among socially excluded children.²⁹⁸ Evaluation data is often lacking with regard to specific projects where play was a core component.²⁹⁹ There has been no comprehensive research to identify the most cost-effective elements in public parks management strategies.³⁰⁰ There is a need to establish benchmarks for the efficiency and effectiveness in the planning and management of urban green spaces.³⁰¹

4.4 Directions for the future

Housing and homelessness

An order taking effect from April 2004 set minimum standards for temporary accommodation for homeless families with children. The Housing Bill when enacted will replace the current fitness standard with an evidence-based Housing Health and Safety Rating System; it is also designed to improve the worst conditions in houses in multiple occupation. The Housing Corporation is confident that all housing associations will meet the 2010 target on the decent homes standard.³⁰²

At the current rate of expenditure on energy efficiency measures, the earliest fuel poverty could be eliminated would be some time in the next century; fuel price increases are likely to increase fuel poverty in the short term.³⁰³ There will still be 1.5 million households in fuel poverty by 2010 on current policies and trends.³⁰⁴ Out of 329 Energy Conservation Authorities surveyed, only four (1.2%) explicitly aimed to eliminate fuel poverty for vulnerable groups by a deadline.³⁰⁵

```
292 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a), para. 365.
```

- 293 Lupton (2003a).
- 294 Grayling et al. (2002).
- 295 Department for Transport (2000).
- 296 Thomson (2000).
- 297 Williams et al. (2002).
- 298 Brunton et al. (2003).
- 299 Cole-Hamilton et al. (2002b).
- 300 Williams and Green (2001).
- 301 Urban Green Spaces Taskforce Working Group 1 (2002).
- 302 Housing Corporation (2002).
- 303 Shenton (2003).
- 304 Fuel Poverty Advisory Group (2003b).
- 305 Impetus Consulting and Association for the Conservation of Energy (2003).

Living spaces for children

Only 39% of local authorities surveyed in 2002 felt that their local transport plan clearly showed the targets for reducing child road casualties to be achievable.³⁰⁶ The Road Safety Bill when enacted will empower local traffic authorities to develop urban safety hierarchies, and to identify 20 mph zones and Home Zones.

From October 2004 public play and leisure facilities will be covered by the Disability Discrimination Act 1995. New Opportunities Fund (NOF) financial support for children's play will come on stream from 2005: the linked 'Dobson' review³⁰⁷ identified areas and groups poorly served by current provision, and recommended that NOF funding should be focused on areas and groups with the poorest access to good quality play opportunities, with a major emphasis on the inclusion of disabled children and young people. Most Space for Sports and Arts capital projects should have been completed by March 2004.

4.5 KEY MESSAGES

- Considerable progress has been made on reducing the numbers of families with children in bed and breakfast accommodation. But the overall number of homeless households with children has been steadily increasing in recent years.
- There has been progress in improving the physical condition of housing for households with children. Notwithstanding the known multiple risks of poor housing, there appears to be a lack of focus on children in housing policies.
- The number of fuel-poor vulnerable households, including those with children, has been sharply reduced. Further progress may be difficult without considerable additional funding. The fuel poverty strategy has been criticised for being poorly targeted, and needs better evaluation.
- Children (along with other specific groups) are largely 'invisible' within national strategies for neighbourhood renewal and for improving public spaces. This makes it hard to say whether strategies in these areas have been effective in tackling social exclusion among children. But there is clear evidence that initiatives focusing on public space (e.g. Home Zones) can benefit children as a whole as well as evidence that this kind of initiative fits well with local community priorities.

³⁰⁶ Hallam (2002).

³⁰⁷ Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2004).

CHAPTER 5: Lack of access to quality early years provision

5.1 The risk of social exclusion

Early years services have long been viewed as making an important contribution to tackling social exclusion. As we argued earlier, their impact is principally two-fold. First, they can provide the kind of environment that supports healthy child development. There is already a substantial body of research that shows that experience of good quality early years services can lead to positive outcomes in terms of educational attainment, social adjustment, community participation and prospects for adult employment.³⁰⁸ Second, early years services can enable parents to take up employment and thereby reduce the risk of family poverty. Lack of access to affordable and appropriate services is frequently cited as a barrier to work.³⁰⁹ The government's National Childcare Strategy, launched in 1997, is a hallmark of public commitment to high quality childcare as a key element in social investment in children and increased mothers' access to the labour market, targeted at low-income families and the most disadvantaged areas. The Strategy aims to improve the accessibility, affordability and quality of provision and recognizes that there is no sensible distinction between early education and care.³¹⁰ Children's access to early years services has markedly improved in recent years (although it is still low by European standards).

Free, part-time *early years education* is now available for all four year olds and, as of April 2004,³¹¹ also for all three year olds whose parents want it. Most *childcare* services, however, are provided within a market system, with parents' choice of provision for their children heavily influenced by what they can afford. Increasingly, services are being developed within integrated settings such as Sure Start Local Programmes, Early Excellence Centres, the Neighbourhood Nursery Initiative and most recently Children's Centres, and area-based initiatives have targeted extra funding for childcare and family support services in deprived areas. Additional financial assistance with costs of childcare for low-income parents includes the childcare element of the working tax credit (paid to the main carer), the childcare grant for full-time students and the New Deal for Lone Parents.

³⁰⁸ E.g. Schweinhart and Weikart (1993); Karoly et al. (1998); Melhuish (2004); Gregg and Washbrook (2003).

E.g. Marsh *et al.* (2001) found that 42% of lone parents actively looking for work said that the scarcity or cost of childcare was stopping them getting a job. Woodland *et al.* (2002) reported that over 50% of lone parents unable to find childcare when they wanted it needed childcare for work, and a further 20% for study. The Inter-Departmental Childcare Review (Strategy Unit (2002)) reported an unpublished analysis by the Department for Work and Pensions of the Families and Children Study (FACS) 2001, showing that when lone parents gave reasons for not working/not working 16+ hours per week (the eligibility cut-off point for Working Tax Credit), 15% said that no childcare was available and 19% said they could not afford childcare. 2002 FACS figures for this group showed that only 9% said they were not working/not working 16+ hours because no childcare was available (5% in London), compared with 17% (15% in London) who said they could not afford it (McKay (2004)).

³¹⁰ The National Childcare Strategy was launched by the government in 1997, and set out in Department for Education and Employment (1998).

³¹¹ House of Commons Hansard (2004), Written Answers 29 March, col. 1183W, TSO.

| Service | Overview of services catered for | Age range | Type of |
|--|--|--------------------------|---------------------------------|
| | | provider | ,, |
| Day nursery | * provide full or part-time day care, education and play for children below compulsory school age (5 years) * nurseries can be profit-making or non-profit-making * generally open 8am to 7pm | 0 to 5 years | Public, private or voluntary |
| Nursery school | * educate pre-school aged children * staffed with a high ratio of qualifed teachers * work in partnership with other trained professionals * many staff have special qualifications for the age group | 3 to 4 years | Public or private |
| Nursery class | * can be attended either full-time or part-time one year before a child starts compulsory education. Full time refers to school term-time, not holiday | 3 to 4 years | Public |
| Pre-school playgroup | playgroups are usually part-time or 'sessional', and operate for 23 hours per session | 2.5 to 5 years | Private or voluntary |
| Child- minder | * a self-employed person who provides day care for more than 2 hours per day * usually in the childminder's own home * hours tend to be flexible | usually up to 8 years | Private |
| Reception class | * children in a reception class are usually completing the final year of the Foundation Stage. They then move on to Year One of the primary or infant school on reaching statutory school age | 4 to 5 years | Public or private |
| After school, out-of-school care, break- fast clubs and holiday schemes | * cater for children of school age and to help meet the needs of working parents * a range of activities are offered including sports, drama, arts and crafts, and music | Compulsory school age | Public, private or voluntary |
| Creches | * offer short-term childcare for young children, While parents are unable to look after them, for example if they go on a residential course, training or leisure activities * creches may operate all week on a sessional basis, but will usually cater for different children at each session | 0 to 5 years | Private or voluntary |

(Table 3, National Audit Office (2004), Early Years: Progress in developing high quality childcare and early education accessible to all, HC 268, Session 2003–04, 27 February, p. 5)

| T | he key initiatives in the early years and ch | ildcare <u>sector</u> | |
|--|--|------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Initiatives Early Excellence Centres | Overview * 107 centres nationwide, generally, but not exclusively, in poorer areas * 'One-stop-shops' for integrated care, child and adult education and family support * provide a setting for parents to learn about caring for their children | Introduced Dec 1997 (pilots) | Cost £95m 1997– 2003 |
| Out of School Childcare Scheme | * provides care mainly for children of school age outside of normal school hours (including school holidays), usually in non-domestic premises | April 1999 1999– 2003 | £235.5m NOF** |
| Sure Start Local Programmes | * supports families with children up to age four * aims to achieve better outcomes for children, parents and communities by promoting the physical, intellectual and social development of babies and young children. This is done through increasing the childcare available; improving health, education and emotional development for young children; and by providing a range of support for parents * the focus is upon helping services to develop in deprived areas * programmes work with Early Years Development and Childcare Partnerships * each of the 500 programmes is run by a local partnership and has a catchment area of some 400–800 children under four years of age * as at Oct 2003, 522 programmes had been approved | April 1999 1999– 2004 | £760m |
| Neighbour- hood revenue | * found in the 20% most deprived areas, with the target of offering 45,000 places by 2004 | January 2001 | £203m |
| Nursery Initiative and Neigh- bourhood Childcare Initiative | * aim to meet the needs of local children and parents, through a mixed economy of providers from the private, voluntary and maintained sectors * most provide nursery education along with the obligatory full day care for children from birth to school age * linked to development of Neighbourhood Childcare and Out of School Clubs in deprived areas | DfES 2001–04 | £100m NOF** capital |
| Mini Sure Starts | * small-scale Sure Start Local Programmes found in rural areas and small pockets of deprivation | March 2002 | £22m over 2 years |

| Children's Centres | * building on and re-branding Early Excellence Centres, Sure Start local programmes and Neighbourhood Nurseries * found in the 20% most deprived wards in England, with the target of reaching 65% of children in those wards by 2006 * aimed at addressing local needs by raising standards and integrating care, education, family support and health services | March 2003 2003–06 | £435m (incl. funds previously allocated) |
|-----------------------|--|--------------------------|---|
| | * designed to develop and disseminate models of excellence in the delivery of centre-based integrated multi-agency services nurseries * all centres will be open at least five days a week, 48 weeks a year and for ten hours a day so that daycare is suitable for parents in work/training | | Neighbour- hood Initiative |

^{**} through the New Opportunities Fund

(Table 5, National Audit Office (2004), Early Years: Progress in developing high quality childcare and early education accessible to all, HC 268, Session 2003–04, 27 February, p. 17)

Note: mid 2004: the New Opportunities Fund has now been merged with the Community Fund to create the Big Lottery Fund.

| Main policy levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs) | | |
|---|---|--|
| National Childcare Strategy | Introduced in 1998, outlining structures and funding with aim of ensuring development of good quality, accessible and affordable childcare for 0–14 year olds (up to 16 year olds if Special Educational Needs (SEN). | |
| Childcare Tax Credit | Replacement of childcare disregard (1994 on) with childcare tax credit in 1999 aimed at reducing childcare costs for low-income parents, improving family income. Now part of working tax credit. | |
| Children's Centres | Community based centres providing integrated care, education and family support services for children under five in the most disadvantaged areas. Launched in 2002, Children's Centres will initially reach 650,000 children in the 20% most disadvantaged areas by March 2006. A longer-term commitment announced in March 2004 has plans for 1,700 Children's Centres across all of the 20% most disadvantaged wards by 2008. | |
| Early Excellence Centres | Over 100 centres designated early excellence centres since 1997, because they combine early education and daycare services, parenting support, SEN, access to adult education and training, health and other community services. Although they work with children from all backgrounds, the centres are strongly focused on promoting social inclusion for isolated and disadvantaged families. | |
| Neighbourhood Nursery Initiative | Launched in 2000 in order to create 45,000 new childcare places in the most disadvantaged areas. | |

| NOF out of school hours programme | Launched in 1998, this programme had a particular focus on creating out-of-school childcare services to help tackle unemployment and increase labour market activity in deprived areas. |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| Nursery vouchers/early education | Following attempt by Conservatives to increase access to early years education via vouchers, Labour government has extended free, part-time early years education to all three and four year olds. |
| Sure Start | Introduced in 1998. Programme provides services and support for all children under four and their parents in targeted areas of deprivation, with specific aims to reduce various aspects of social exclusion. Operating in 524 areas, programme expected to reach 400,000 children (1 in 3 children in poverty) by March 2004. |

5.2 What does the existing evidence tell us about the overall impact of government policies?

A major expansion of free, part-time, early education places means that all three and four year olds now (as of April 2004) have access: in 2002, 98% of four years olds were taking up a place.³¹² The number of three year olds taking up a place at least once a week increased from 71% in January 2002 to 88% in January 2003.³¹³ Childcare places for over 1.6 million children have been created since 1997, against a National Childcare Strategy target of places for 1.6 million children by 2004 (so this target has now been met), and over 2 million children by 2006.³¹⁴ Overall, in 2003 there was one childcare place for every five children under the age of eight, compared to one place for every nine children in 1997.³¹⁵

Sure Start local programmes were expected to reach 400,000 children by March 2004. By February 2004, 67 Children's Centres had been announced, many of them based on existing high quality early years centres, focused in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods, and intended to offer a range of integrated services.³¹⁶ For older children, out-of-school places for older children have been greatly expanded since 1997. Between April 1997 and September 2001, over 500,000 new registered school-age childcare places were established in the UK.³¹⁷

There has been a substantial increase in out-of-school provision; according to 2002 figures, 350,000 children were using an estimated 170,000 out-of-school childcare places in England, and these places will have increased sharply since then.³¹⁸

5.3 Who has benefited most? Who has benefited least/been left behind?

Children most likely to have benefited from the increase in *early years provision* in recent years are those living in certain deprived areas targeted for initiatives, the children of lone parents, children who would not have received early years education without the provision of free places and the children of parents who can afford to pay market rates for childcare.

- 312 Department for Education and Skills (2003d).
- 313 Department for Education and Skills (2003d).
- 314 HM Treasury (2003a); House of Commons Hansard (2004), Written Answers 29 March, cols. 1176W-1179W, TSO.
- 315 Daycare Trust (2003).
- 316 See Sure Start website: http://www.surestart.gov.uk/.
- 317 Department for Education and Skills (2002).
- 318 Barker et al. (2003).

Support for the government's policies comes from the 2002 *Repeat Study of Parents' Demand for Childcare*,³¹⁹ which found that the main groups wanting to use formal childcare but not currently using it included lone parents, workless households, low-income families, and families living in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods. Families in the most disadvantaged areas were least likely to be using childcare at all. Almost 8 in 10 lone mothers who were not working said they would go out to work or study if they could find good quality, convenient, reliable and affordable childcare. Childcare-related reasons for not working were more to do with affordability (lack of free or cheap childcare) or hours (lack of childcare at suitable times) than availability (lack of childcare in the local area).³²⁰ Lone parents' use of formal provision has, however, sharply increased: in 2001, 29% of lone parents working part-time used some form of early years education or other formal provision, compared with 19% in 1999.

New government policies may well take time to filter through to the families and neighbourhoods most likely to be at risk of social exclusion. As the 2004 report from the National Audit Office (NAO) noted, there are still gaps in provision for some groups, such as disabled children, and parents requiring flexible hours, as well as gaps in some geographical areas.³²¹

Despite the increases noted in the total numbers of childcare places, there is still considerable regional and local variation. For example, in 2003 the number of childcare places varied between 11 and 58 per 100 pre-school children between local authorities, ranging from 44 places per 100 children in the South East Region to 22 places in inner London.³²² The 'childcare gap' in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods has been of concern. In 2001, there were just over half the number of places for 0–14 year olds in the 20% most disadvantaged wards compared to the number of places across all wards.³²³ However, as the NAO report points out, since 2001 increased new funding has been targeted at the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods,³²⁴ and the gap in provision is now narrowing nationally, although not in all areas.

Childcare use is lower among groups such as families with children with disabilities, who face a higher risk of social exclusion. Fewer mothers with disabled children are in employment compared with mothers with non-disabled children.³²⁵ There is also evidence of insufficient childcare catering for children with special needs. One study found that 79% of parents of a child with a disability found it difficult to combine working and caring for their child because of childcare problems, and 74% of parents of a disabled child had to cut back or give up work because of childcare problems.³²⁶ The NAO's 2004 report concluded that few providers, especially childminders, are currently able to cater for disabled children, and many are not trained to do so.³²⁷

- 319 Woodland *et al.* (2002). Use of formal childcare is increasing, albeit slowly: formal provision accounted for around 26% of the total childcare regularly used by parents in 2001, compared with 24% in 1999.
- 320 Note that this is supported by the Families and Children Survey 2001 (DWP unpublished analysis, reported by the Inter-Departmental Childcare Review (Strategy Unit, (2002)), p.15: when lone parents gave reasons for not working more than 16+ hours per week (the eligibility cut-off point for Working Tax Credit), 15% said that no childcare was available and 19% said they could not afford childcare.
- 321 National Audit Office (2004), pp. 6-7.
- 322 National Audit Office (2004), pp. 6–7, drawing on NAO analyses of data from Ofsted and Early Years Development and Childcare Partnerships' (EYDCP) Implementation Plans 2003–04.
- 323 Inter-Departmental Childcare Review (Strategy Unit (2002)), pp. 16–17, drawing on unpublished 2001 DfES analysis of 10% EYDCPs. Data for 0–14 year olds (0–16 for children with special needs).
- 324 For example, the government's Neighbourhood Childcare Initiative set the target of creating 70,000 new childcare places in disadvantaged areas and reducing this gap to 3.7 places per 100 children by March 2004. The Sure Start Unit, in collaboration with the New Deal for Lone Parents, has launched a pilot to run from April 2004 to March 2006 in Bradford, Haringey and Lewisham to create additional childcare places, primarily in 'extended schools', to help lone parents return to work. The Chancellor also announced in the 2004 Budget an extension of this extended schools childcare pilot in four additional areas.
- 325 Russell (2003a).
- 326 Contact a Family (2002).
- 327 National Audit Office (2004).

Use of childcare is also lower among ethnic minority groups. The 2002 *Repeat Study of Parents' Demand for Childcare*³²⁸ found that 87% of white parents accessed some form of registered childcare in the previous year, compared to 81% of Black parents, 70% of Asian parents and 71% of other ethnic minority groups. Families working atypical hours are also likely to have difficulty accessing childcare.³²⁹ So do certain groups of children: for example, there is a shortage of out-of-school places for 10–14 year olds.³³⁰

5.4 Which policies have worked well together, and why?

Has the recent increase in provision helped to reduce social exclusion? Increased provision may have had a positive impact on children's development, as we would expect from existing research such as that on Early Head Start in the US.³³¹ The most thorough UK findings to date come from the Effective Provision of Pre-School Education (EPPE) programme.³³² This shows that pre-school education enhances children's development and that disadvantaged children in particular can benefit from good quality pre-school settings.

The EPPE findings suggest that the advantages associated with pre-school education are linked to the quality of the pre-school setting, especially where services have a good proportion of trained teachers on the staff. The EPPE research also shows that the earlier children attend pre-school education, the more significant the gains to their intellectual development, independence, concentration and sociability. Disadvantaged children especially benefit from good quality pre-school settings if they attend centres that cater for a mixture of children from different social backgrounds. Where settings view educational and social development as complementary and equal in importance, children make better all round progress.

So far in the UK there is less evidence relating to the impact of early years policy on young children under the age of three. The evaluation of the national Sure Start programme (NESS) is the most substantial research designed to produce evidence of outcomes for young children under the age of four and their families in disadvantaged neighbourhoods.³³³ Findings published so far have demonstrated that the Sure Start programme is successful in targeting the most disadvantaged areas characterized by higher rates of deprivation across a number of indicators including child and adult health, educational achievement, school behaviour, crime, low income, child poverty, unemployment and benefit dependence.³³⁴ Further findings in due course will enable evaluation of the effectiveness of the programme in changing 'life chances' for young children and their families in such areas.

Evaluation of the Early Excellence Centres pilot programme³³⁵ reported case studies which indicated that the centres could help reduce social exclusion through enhanced social, emotional and cognitive development, early remediation of special needs and improved inclusion rates in mainstream settings, reduction in rates of child protection orders and 'looked after' children and improved physical well-being. Findings from the Neighbourhood Nurseries Initiative evaluation project will include quality assessment of nursery provision and evidence about child outcomes.

- 328 Woodland et al. (2002).
- 329 Statham and Mooney (2003); Dex (2003); La Valle et al. (2002).
- There is estimated to be fewer than 500 out-of-school places for three million young people of this age group. Provision for those aged 12 and over is particularly scarce: SCRE Centre (2001).
- 331 See, for example, www.mathematic-mpr.com/earlycare/headstar.asp
- 332 Sylva et al. (2003).
- 333 See the National Evaluation of Sure Start (NESS) website: www.ness.bbk.ac.uk
- 334 Barnes et al. (2003).
- 335 Bertram et al. (2002).

There is some evidence that the overall increase in childcare provision has contributed towards increased employment rates and/or working hours among parents. For example, the evaluation of the New Opportunities Fund Out of School Hours Childcare programme found that parents reported increased take-up of employment as a result of the new provision.³³⁶ The increase in childcare places may be linked to rising employment levels. Since 1997, the percentage of children living in workless households has fallen from 17.9% to 15.2%,³³⁷ and more than half of lone parents are now in work, compared to 44% in 1997.³³⁸

5.5 Which policies are in tension/conflict with one another, and why?

As demonstrated by the figures given earlier, there has been a major expansion of early years services since the announcement of the National Childcare Strategy in 1997, targeted at those most at risk of social exclusion. It is too soon to judge the success or failure of this expansion, but there is modest evidence pointing in the right direction, as has been noted (for example, lone parents' use of formal childcare is increasing; the childcare gap in some of the most disadvantaged areas is narrowing). New policies continue to be developed to help working parents with childcare costs.³³⁹

However, there are a number of barriers. Cost currently remains significant – according to the Daycare Trust, the price of a childcare place has continued to rise well above inflation.³⁴⁰ The childcare tax credit has high take-up among eligible families and appears to be influencing their use of childcare,³⁴¹ but eligibility is restricted (only a percentage of costs is met, for up to two children, for parents working 16+ hours a week); it is too soon to judge overall impact on the supply of services. Parents report insufficient information available about childcare services; in 2002, only 3% of parents reported using their local Children's Information Services (CIS).³⁴² There is also some evidence that available childcare is not seen as culturally or religiously sensitive by ethnic minority groups, particularly Asian and Muslim mothers.³⁴³ One study, which gathered the views of 180 parents from ethnic minority communities, found that barriers to using childcare included lack of trust in services, lack of culturally appropriate services, lack of information, expense, racism and prejudice and inflexibility in the delivery of services.³⁴⁴

Some surveys of childcare providers report anxieties about future sustainability.³⁴⁵ It remains to be seen whether initiatives to improve provision and take-up in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods will be self-sustainable with current support in the shape of tax credits and tax

- 336 The 2001 evaluation of the NOF Out of School Hours Childcare programme found that 43% of parents and carers had been able to take up employment opportunities as a result of the new out-of-school hours provision.
- 337 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a).
- 338 Figures from the Labour Force Survey, quoted in One Parent Families (2003).
- 339 See, for example, new tax exemptions announced by the Chancellor in his Pre-Budget Report 2003, to take effect from April 2005.
- Daycare Trust 2003 survey reported that a full-time nursery place for a child under 2 costs on average £134 a week (almost £7,000 a year) and a maximum of £338 a week.
- 341 In one study, a third of Working Families Tax Credit (WFTC) recipients reported that WFTC had affected their childcare use and one quarter reported that it had influenced working hours: McKay (2003). WFTC preceded Working Tax Credit, but had a similar element of childcare tax credit for low-income families facing childcare costs.)
- 342 Woodland et al. (2002).
- 343 Hall et al. (2004).
- 344 Daycare Trust, 'Parents' Eye: Building a vision of equality and inclusion in childcare services': http://www.daycaretrust.org.uk/mod/fileman/files/ParentsEye_Report.pdf
- 345 Callender (2000).

exemptions for low-income working parents,³⁴⁶ once targeted funding comes to an end.³⁴⁷ It is worth noting that area-based initiatives do not target all disadvantaged children: according to the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2000, only 54% of poor children live in the 20% most deprived wards.³⁴⁸

Initiatives such as Sure Start, targeted at deprived areas, are developing 'outreach programmes' to make contact with the minority of 'hard to reach' families: likely reasons for difficulties include lack of information, social anxiety, stigma and lack of trust in formal services.³⁴⁹ The national Sure Start evaluation will produce much information on these practical, social and cultural barriers, and the effectiveness of targeted, sensitive programmes in tackling them.

5.6 Gaps in knowledge

There is still relatively limited data on the impact of government early years policy on social exclusion among children in the UK, but the evaluations of EPPE and Sure Start are beginning to provide important evidence.

5.7 Directions for the future

Government initiatives since 1997 have invested heavily in contributing towards the childcare costs of low-income families and stimulating the supply of early years provision and childcare services in deprived areas. It is too soon to judge the success of these initiatives, but so far there are improvements in the right direction, even if the growth of affordable and sustainable services does not yet meet the needs of all poor families. Increasing the 'dosage' of existing policies might widen their impact – for example, extending the coverage of area-based programmes to the most disadvantaged 30% of areas would reach 70% of the poorest children. Improvements could also be made to the childcare tax credit by raising the percentages of costs met, increasing support for larger families or extending support to those who are unemployed or working less than 16 hours a week. The most recent evidence on how local childcare markets respond to national initiatives³⁵⁰ suggests that the National Childcare Strategy has played a vital role in encouraging local authorities not previously involved in childcare to develop local services, but raises issues about current use being determined by ability to pay. The government's vision for a Children's Centre for every community³⁵¹ offers the prospect of universal provision of fully integrated services – combining care and education, family support and other related services. These services are intended to be universal, and affordable for low-income families, so should make a substantial contribution to reducing social exclusion.

³⁴⁶ Harries *et al.* (2004); www.dfes.gov.uk/research/data/uploadfiles/RR526.pdf. See also Corlyon and Meadows (2004); www.dfes.gov.uk/research/data/uploadfiles/RR526MP.pdf

³⁴⁷ For example, revenue support under the Neighbourhood Nurseries Initiative (NNI) for childcare places in the 20% most disadvantaged districts tapers off after three years of funding.

³⁴⁸ Work and Pensions Select Committee (2003), para. 43. (Poverty defined in relation to income-related support rather than relative income.)

³⁴⁹ E.g. see Chappell *et al.* (2002). Examples of good practice include Sure Start in Camden and in Hammersmith and Fulham. See also Ghate and Hazel (2002) for an analysis of parents' views about preferred methods of service delivery, and the 'fine line between "help" and "interference".

³⁵⁰ Harries et al. (2004); www.dfes.gov.uk/research/data/uploadfiles/RR526.pdf

³⁵¹ The government plans to establish 1,000 Children's Centres over the next five years (Chancellor's speech (2003), Pre-Budget Report, 10 December).

5.8 KEY MESSAGES

- The National Childcare Strategy launched in 1997 demonstrates government commitment to increased provision of high quality early years services as promoting social investment in children and tackling child poverty through mothers' access to the labour market.
- There has been an expansion of integrated early years services targeted at disadvantaged areas, such as Sure Start Local Programmes and Children's Centres. These are major elements in the commitment to tackle social exclusion of children and families.
- There has been a major expansion in early education free part-time places have been taken up by almost all four year olds and nearly 9 in 10 three year olds.
- There has also been a major expansion in child care places for over 1.6 million children have been created since 1997. This means one childcare place for every five children under eight in 2003, compared to one place for every nine children in 1997.
- Working parents' demand for childcare is high; access, however, is variable. The 'childcare gap' in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods means that childcare is less available in the areas where it is most needed to help parents into work, although this may be narrowing nationally (but not in all areas). Problems with affordability (lack of free or cheap childcare) and appropriateness (lack of childcare at suitable times) are often given as reasons for parents not being able to take up paid employment.
- International evidence, for example from the US, supported by findings in the UK, suggests
 that high quality early years provision can have a positive impact on children's educational
 achievement and long-term development, but evidence is still to come for the youngest age
 group.
- Barriers for service users include cost, lack of information, inflexibility and culturally inappropriate provision. Sustainability is a key issue, particularly in disadvantaged neighbourhoods.

CHAPTER 6: Poor educational access and achievement

6.1 The risk of social exclusion

Education returned to centre stage as one of the key areas of policy in the late 1980s, with a series of educational reforms following the 1988 Educational Reform Act. More than ten years ago, the HMI report, *Access and Achievement in Urban Education*, ³⁵² focused attention again on the wide, possibly widening, gap between children and young people from socially disadvantaged areas and the rest of the country. From the late 1990s, the role that education can play in mitigating social exclusion has become a key target in educational reform.

Research continues to underline the ways that educational success remains a key determinant of children's and young people's future life chances.³⁵³ Lack of educational qualifications is associated with higher risks of subsequent unemployment, poverty, crime, poorer physical and mental health, and reduced opportunity. The higher the educational qualifications, the higher the earnings. The recent White Paper on the future of higher education estimated that 'those who have been through higher education in the UK earn on average 50% more than those who have not'.³⁵⁴

Disparities in educational access and achievement are closely associated with the principal drivers of social exclusion – that is, they disproportionally affect children and young people growing up in socially disadvantaged areas and/or members of particularly vulnerable groups. Gillborn and Mirza have reviewed recent patterns of educational inequality by race, social class and gender.³⁵⁵ Gore and Smith have looked at inequalities in economically depressed areas.³⁵⁶ Others have reviewed the prospects for particular groups, for example, Traveller children or Gypsy/Roma children, 357 or groups classified by behavioural characteristics or by institutional setting, for example, the permanently excluded,³⁵⁸ persistent absentees,³⁵⁹ young people with behavioural difficulties and young people who have grown up in care.360 Heath reviews the long-term trends in these social and educational inequalities, and concludes that there is 'some decline in class inequalities ..., a clear narrowing of gender inequalities, and substantial progress among ethnic minority minorities ... However, overall social inequalities remain substantial ... and a major problem for educational policy for the foreseeable future'.361 International comparisons demonstrate that these disparities are found in all developed countries, although there are some striking differences in the range of inequality, which may be the result of more or less effective national policies (not necessarily restricted to educational policies) to reduce educational inequality.³⁶²

```
352 Ofsted (1993).
```

³⁵³ See, for example, Ferri et al. (2003).

³⁵⁴ Department for Education and Skills (2003h), p. 11.

³⁵⁵ Gillborn and Mirza (2000).

³⁵⁶ Gore and Smith (2001).

³⁵⁷ Ofsted (2003a); Gundara et al. (2000); Save the Children (2001).

³⁵⁸ Parsons et al. (2001); Daniels et al. (2003).

³⁵⁹ Malcolm et al. (2003).

³⁶⁰ Social Exclusion Unit (2003a); Department for Education and Skills (2004b).

³⁶¹ Heath (2000).

³⁶² Unicef (2002). See also figure 2.3 in OECD (2002).

Main Policy Levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs): Children (5–13)

RAISING ATTAINMENT PSAs & INITIATIVES

i) Attainment

Primary School Attainment (2002 Spending Review): 1. Raise standards in English and maths so that by 2004, 85% of 11 year olds achieve level 4 or above and 35% achieve level 5 or above, with performance sustained until 2006; 2. Significantly reduce the number of schools in which fewer than 65% of children achieve level 4 or above.

Secondary School Attainment (2002 Spending Review): Raise standards in English, maths, ICT and science in secondary education so that: 1. by 2004, 75% of 14 year olds achieve at least level 5 (70% in science) and 85% (80% in science) by 2007; 2. significantly reduce by 2007 the number of schools where fewer than 60% of 14 year olds achieve level 5; 3. ensure that 90% of pupils reach level 4 in English and maths by age 12 in 2007.

Literacy and Numeracy Strategies: The National Literacy Strategy introduced in English primary schools in autumn 1998, and the National Numeracy Strategy introduced in 1999, were intended to improve standards so that by 2002, 80% of 11 year olds should reach at least level 4 in English and 75% in mathematics at the end of Key Stage 2. New targets were set in 2002, to be met in 2004, now revised to 2006.

Family Literacy and Numeracy Strategies: A joint initiative of the DfES and the Learning and Skills Council, working with 12 partners across the country to provide a framework for the development and mainstreaming of family literacy, language and numeracy provision.

Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant (introduced 1998, replacing section 11 Local Government Act funding). Analysis of LEA Plans: To raise educational achievement among pupils with English as an additional language (EAL).

ii) Access and other initiatives

Reduction in Class Sizes (Comprehensive Spending Review 1999): To reduce the number of pupils aged five, six or seven in infant classes of over 30 from 477,000 to zero by September 2001 at latest.

Truancy (2002 Spending Review): Reduce school truancies by 10% by 2004 compared with 2002, sustain the new lower level and improve overall attendance levels thereafter.

School Exclusions (2002 Spending Review): By 2002, there will be a one-third reduction in permanent (from 1999) and fixed-term (from 2000) exclusions. All pupils excluded for more than three weeks to receive alternative full-time and appropriate education.

RAISING ATTAINMENT THROUGH INSTITUTONAL CHANGE OR DEVELOPMENT

i) School development and school improvement

Specialist Schools (relaunched 1997). The programme helps schools, in partnership with private sector sponsors and supported by additional government funding, to establish distinctive identities through their chosen specialisms. Specialist schools have a special focus on their chosen subject area but must meet the National Curriculum requirements and deliver

a broad and balanced education to all pupils. Any maintained secondary school in England can apply to be designated as a specialist school in one of ten specialist areas.

Academies (announced 2000) are an integral part of the government's strategy for raising standards in the most disadvantaged and challenging areas by innovative approaches to management, governance, teaching and the curriculum. The involvement of sponsors from the voluntary and business sector or faith groups will allow them to bring their skills and expertise to each Academy.

Beacon Schools (established 1998): To collaborate with and help to raise standards of other schools by identifying high performing schools and linking them into partnerships to build upon good practice/collaboration. Improve attainment levels in partnership schools and good practice in all areas. The Beacon School programme will be phased out by August 2005.

Schools Facing Challenging Circumstances: In schools in exceptionally challenging circumstances, to raise the levels of attainment of individual students and improve their life chances. During 2002–03, all mainstream secondary schools facing challenging circumstances and with fewer than 25% of their pupils achieving 5 GCSEs at A*–C (or equivalent) received additional targeted funding through the School Improvement Grant or the Excellence in Cities/Education Action Zones programmes.

ii) Area Based initiatives

Education Action Zones (first zones established under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998): To raise educational standards in disadvantaged urban and rural areas at both primary and secondary level by developing, in conjunction with local partners, imaginative approaches to raising educational standards in seriously disadvantaged areas.

Excellence in Cities (programme launched in 1999): Aim is to raise educational standards and promote social inclusion in major cities and in areas that face similar problems to those faced by the inner cities. Partnerships are now running in 57 local authorities, with a further 34 local authorities involved in Excellence Clusters. Intended to work alongside other initiatives such as Single Regeneration Budget, New Deal for Communities and Neighbourhood Regeneration Strategy. A major evaluation of the Excellence in Cities policy has been commissioned by the DfFS.

Excellence Clusters (first round, September 2001; third round, September 2003) are designed to bring the benefits of Excellence in Cities to small pockets of deprivation. There are currently 50 Excellence Clusters in operation.

INCLUSION

Pupil Learning Credits (piloted 2001–03): To provide additional learning opportunities for Key Stage 3 pupils whose social circumstances are exceptionally challenging. No evaluation as yet identified. Piloted in 24 Excellence in Cities and six Excellence Cluster areas (all but two of which are in Neighbourhood Renewal areas) for two years from September 2001. An evaluation of this policy has been established.³⁶³

For more information see: http://www.dfes.gov.uk/research/programmeofresearch/index.cfm?type=0&keywordlist1=0&keywordlist2=0&keywordlist3=0&andor=or&keyword=learning+credits

Schools Access Initiative: The SEN and Disability Act 2001 brings access to education within the remit of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995. Since September 2002, schools and LEAs are under a duty not to treat disabled pupils less favourably, without justification, than their non-disabled peers; and to make reasonable adjustments to ensure that they are not put at a substantial disadvantage in comparison to pupils who are not disabled. The Schools' Access Initiative provides funding to LEAs for capital projects to improve the accessibility of mainstream schools for disabled pupils.

Alternative Educational Initiatives: To provide educational provision for excluded pupils and young people out of school for other reasons. Provision to enable them to equip themselves with the skills, knowledge and personal qualities needed for life and work.

The Behaviour Improvement Project (BIP): Government has given funding to 34 local education authorities to support action to improve behaviour and attendance. The LEAs involved in the project have planned specific measures, to be implemented at 2–4 secondary schools and the primary schools that feed them, to tackle poor behaviour and attendance. Commitment to fund until the end of the current spending review period in March 2006.

Enhance the Take-up of Sporting Opportunities (Spending Review 2002) for 5–16 year olds, by increasing the percentage of school children who spend a minimum of two hours each week on high quality PE and school sport within and beyond the curriculum from 25% in 2002 to 75% by 2006.

Identification, Referral and Tracking Project (Children Bill 2004): The IRT project is now part of the wider Information Sharing and Assessment policy. There will be a record for every child, so that practitioners can check that the child is receiving basic services and see who is providing other services. The purpose of the information database proposed in the Children Bill is to provide a tool so that all children get all the services they need at the earliest stage possible, thus supporting a shift towards prevention and early action before crisis point is reached.

Pupil Inclusion (2002 Spending Review): Range of initiatives to support all pupils to ensure they learn without disruption due to poor behaviour and attendance, and series of programmes focused on disadvantage. Also aims to reduce school truancies by 10% by 2004 compared with 2002 and improve attendance levels thereafter. Ensure all pupils who are permanently excluded obtain appropriate full-time education.

6.2 Types of policies

The above box sets the main policy levers and Public Service Agreements relevant to educational access and achievement. These can be grouped as follows.

There has been a significant number of *general initiatives* to raise standards of attainment, sometimes in specific areas, e.g. *literacy and numeracy*,³⁶⁴ or for particular groups such as *ethnic minority groups*.³⁶⁵ There has been much emphasis on *overall school improvement* and the introduction and/or the development of new ways of classifying schools, e.g. *'beacon schools'*,³⁶⁶

³⁶⁴ Ofsted (2002c); Ofsted (2003c).

³⁶⁵ Ofsted (2004a); Tikly et al. (2002); Bhattacharyya et al. (2003); Ofsted (2002a).

³⁶⁶ Rudd et al. (2000).

'schools facing challenging circumstances', and the increasingly widespread idea of 'specialist schools'. Another approach has been to target a limited number of socially disadvantaged areas, e.g. the Excellence in Cities (EiC) programme. By 2002, a range of different strands of work had been rolled up under the EiC initiative – Learning Mentors, Learning Support Units and City Learning Centres, including Specialist Schools and Beacon Schools. In addition, there is a wide range of other initiatives to improve access, retention and attainment of particular at risk groups. More information on these different initiatives is set out in the following sections.

Many of these initiatives have been individually evaluated. However, hardly any of these policies were put in place on an experimental basis in order to make evaluation of success clear-cut. Their overall combined effects are therefore even harder to measure. And many of these initiatives are relatively recent, so what follows must be an interim judgement.

6.3 What does existing evidence tell us about the impact of government policies?

For the purposes of this review, the general impact of government policies on those aged 5–13 has to be separated from the impact on particular groups most at risk of social exclusion.

Attainment of low-income groups and ethnic minority groups

The overall picture of attainment, using the Key Stage results and the government's targets for Key Stage 1 (age 7) and Key Stage 2 (age 11, the end of primary schooling), shows that, after an initial significant rise in performance from 1997 through to 2001, more recent years have seen only limited further improvement. For example, 'in 1997, 63% of children reached the expected level [level 4 of Key Stage 2] in English, a figure that increased to 75% in 2002 ... In mathematics, 73% of children reached the expected level, ... a considerable increase from the 61% in 1997. However, ... English and mathematics results have changed little since 2002'. While some of these improvements may be attributed to educational policies and programmes, the period from 1995 to 2000 was also marked by a rapid fall in unemployment, affecting almost all areas. Fewer children would thus have been growing up in workless families, which may also be a factor reinforcing educational progress.

Recent data for 2002–03³⁷¹ break down Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 results by ethnic group, gender, eligibility for free school meals (a proxy indicator for low-income groups or economic disadvantage) and special educational needs (SEN). Results for pupils on free school meals (FSM) significantly lag behind the overall population. In 2003 at Key Stage 1, on reading 69% of FSM children compared with 88% of non-FSM children achieved the expected level; for mathematics, the figures were 81% compared with 93%. In 2003 at Key Stage 2, on English 54% of FSM children obtained level 4 compared with 79% of non-FSM children; on mathematics, 53% compared with 76%; and on science, 72% compared with 89%. While ethnic minority groups, particularly Pakistani, Bangladeshi and Black pupils, performed less well at Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 than their White counterparts, the gap is in general not so wide as with low-income groups.

```
367 West et al. (2000).
```

³⁶⁸ Machin et al. (2003).

³⁶⁹ Social Exclusion Unit (1998), (2003a).

³⁷⁰ Earl et al. (2003), Executive Summary, p. 1.

³⁷¹ Department for Education and Skills (2004i): see Tables 9 and 10.

These findings for England may get some support from recent international studies of reading literacy among 'fourth grade students' (approximately ten years old).³⁷² Overall results show pupils in England with the third highest average score out of 16 countries. However, England and the US typically have a wider spread of scores and a longer 'tail' of under-achieving students than many other high-attaining countries. The most recent Ofsted report on the National Literacy Strategy (NLS) and National Numeracy Strategy (NNS) suggests that even national 'flagship' programmes such as these have great difficulty in moving up the lowest attaining 25% of pupils.³⁷³

Children from ethnic minority groups, particularly Black Caribbean, Pakistani and Bangladeshi boys, together with Gypsy/Roma and Traveller children, continue to under-perform.³⁷⁴ However, the overall position is improving,³⁷⁵ and there is some evidence that Bangladeshi and Pakistani heritage pupils are 'improving at higher rates leading to a narrowing of the gap' at Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4. The Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant (EMAG) seems to have made some contribution to this improvement.³⁷⁶

Bhattacharyya and colleagues note the levels of disadvantage in these groups, with approximately 30% of Black and Pakistani pupils and over 50% of Bangladeshi and Traveller and Gypsy/Roma pupils eligible for free school meals.³⁷⁷ However, results for the 2002 GCSE show some striking differences when ethnic minority groups are separated out on the free school meals measure. Thus, only 22% of White and Black Caribbean pupils on free school meals achieved 5+ A*–C GCSEs. However, more than 40% of Bangladeshi and Indian pupils on free school meals achieved this level.³⁷⁸

Schools with a strong ethos of expectation that pupils will achieve their best, strong leadership and systems, well-formulated policies, intellectually engaging lessons, intensive pupil support, close parental links and monitoring may better serve Black Caribbean pupils in particular.³⁷⁹ In a similar vein, a study of EMAG found that Black Caribbean pupil attainment improved where there was a focus on pupil attendance, supplementary schools and mentoring support for pupils, particularly at GCSE, along with a broad range of strategies for liaising with minority organisations and parents.³⁸⁰

Racism remains a serious problem. There is evidence that in some settings teachers minimise the significance and the value of cultural and ethnic diversity. The Teacher Training Agency met its target in 2001–02 of recruiting 7% of trainees from ethnic minority groups (currently less than 2% of all teachers are Black Caribbean). The Macpherson report emphasised the need to tackle and identify racism, and suggested strategies included learning support assistants and educational psychologists, making the national curriculum more relevant, accelerated promotion, and better understanding on the part of both teachers and pupils about the diversity of backgrounds and perspectives in the increasingly dispersed ethnic minority population. This applies also to Traveller and Gypsy/Roma children whose cultures and lifestyles are often seen as incidental to the mainstream, divorced from the efforts of schools to promote race equality for all pupils.

- 372 OECD (2003), Chart A4.3 and Table A4.1. Data from Progress In Reading Literacy Study (PIRLS).
- 373 Ofsted (2003c).
- 374 Department for Education and Skills (2004i). The Key Stage results for Traveller children and Roma/Gypsy groups are dramatically low in comparison to other groups. However, there are very few children in these categories an estimated 0.2% of the total UK population (Save the Children (2001)).
- 375 Ofsted (2004a).
- 376 Tikly et al. (2002).
- 377 Bhattacharyya et al. (2003).
- 378 Bhattacharyya et al. (2003), Figure 5, p. 12.
- 379 Ofsted (2002a).
- 380 Tikly et al. (2002).
- 381 Cline et al. (2002).
- 382 Department for Education and Skills (2003o); http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000411/sfr23-2003.pdf
- 383 Macpherson (1999).
- 384 Ofsted (2001a), (2003a).

Parental interest and involvement in their children's education

Parental interest and involvement in children's education has a significant effect on their educational performance and long-term development.³⁸⁵ Involvement can be broken down into (i) parents' educational attitudes, values and aspirations; (ii) educational activities that parents engage in with their children (for example, reading to their child, teaching songs or nursery rhymes, helping with homework, making library visits); and (iii) school involvement (for example, helping in class or on trips, attending school events, discussions with teachers, serving as a school governor). The most important form of involvement is what Desforges and Abouchaar describe as 'at home good parenting', and the model suggests that parenting influences operate by shaping the child's self-concept as a 'learner' and setting high aspirations; parental involvement in school activities does not appear to contribute so much to children's achievement.

In the most recent review of parental involvement in their children's education and general school life, the large majority of parents found their child's school welcoming (94%) and willing to involve them (84%). About one-third of the parents (29%) felt 'very involved' in their child's school life, although more primary than secondary school parents felt this way and they were more likely to help with homework. About three-quarters (72%) wanted to be more involved, and said they were prevented by competing demands of work, other children's needs, childcare and lack of time in general.³⁸⁶ The DfES initiative Parental Involvement in Children's Education (PICE) is exploring ways of engaging parents in disadvantaged communities.³⁸⁷

School development and school improvement initiatives

The increasing use of 'value-added' measures of educational progress has focused attention on the extent to which some schools are apparently 'more effective' than others – that is they significantly enhance the performance of their intake compared with schools with similar pupils at intake. While the exact characteristics that make schools effective (or indeed whether there is a 'whole school' effect) remain elusive, and the extent of this effectiveness has sometimes been overemphasised – more effective schools typically reduce rather than eliminate the performance gap between disadvantaged and advantaged intakes – this approach provides an effective strategy for school improvement.

Beacon Schools represent one of the initiatives forming part of the government's school improvement agenda. Expanding from 75 schools in 1998 to 1,052 in May 2004, the initiative identified high-performing secondary schools and linked them via increased funding into partnerships with poorer performing schools, in order to develop networks of good practice. This seems to have been largely successful, 388 but evaluation has not yet produced hard evidence of raised standards in pupil attainment, and the programme will be phased out in August 2005.

The Schools Facing Challenging Circumstances initiative began with 70 pilot schools in 2000. In April 2001, it was extended to all schools where 25% or fewer of their pupils achieved 5 GCSEs at A*–C. From April 2003, 1,400 mainstream secondary schools in England, in recognised areas of high disadvantage with high proportions of disadvantaged pupils, were to receive support from the Leadership Incentive Grant. In the provisional GCSE statistics published in October 2003, schools facing challenging circumstances improved two and a half times faster than schools not in this

³⁸⁵ Desforges and Abouchaar (2003). See also Cooper (1994); Kralovec and Buell (2001).

³⁸⁶ Williams et al. (2002).

³⁸⁷ See Parental Involvement in Children's Education website: http://www.parentcentre.gov.uk/

³⁸⁸ Rudd et al. (2002).

category. The proportion of pupils achieving this level rose from 15% or fewer in 1999–2000 to 28.5% in 2003.³⁸⁹ In spring 2002, the Prime Minister's Delivery Unit carried out a review of the programme. This led to the recommendation that policies such as the Leadership Incentive Grant should be rolled out more widely (e.g. to EiC schools) and many of the lessons learned have been taken on board by the government as part of its wider drive to transform secondary education.³⁹⁰

The *Specialist Schools Programme* began in 1994. By May 2004, there were about 1,600 schools in operation, and 2,000 are expected to be in place by 2006. Specialist schools, promoting languages, technology, mathematics, science, design and technology, arts and drama, etc., represent 54% of all secondary schools, and teach half of all secondary pupils. The great majority are comprehensive schools. The aim of the programme is to raise standards of achievement for all pupils, to extend the range of opportunities, and to raise standards of teaching and learning. Results so far have varied by specialism. More pupils in technology, language and arts colleges were achieving five or more GCSE A*–C and A*–G grades than in maintained schools nationally.³⁹¹

However, there are concerns whether the development of diversity (more specialised types of secondary schools) has served to reduce the capacity of more socially deprived children to access higher performing schools. Do schools exercise 'cream skimming' in order to improve their league table performance? Some commentators are concerned about the possibility of 'new tiers of schools unequal in status, resources and prospects'.³⁹² There is some evidence that where specialist schools have autonomy over their admissions policies, as in faith-based schools, they may admit fewer socially disadvantaged children than neighbouring schools.³⁹³ However, the 2001 Ofsted report found that the average proportion of pupils in receipt of free school meals (that is, from low-income families) was well above the national average, particularly in arts and sports colleges, and the proportion from ethnic minority groups was broadly similar to the national average, although the proportion of special needs pupils was below the national average.³⁹⁴

The government's introduction of *Education Action* Zones and the *Excellence in Cities* programme sprang in part from concerns stemming from the 1993 Ofsted report *Access and Achievement in Urban Education*³⁹⁵ and OECD figures indicating a wide divide between high and low performers in the UK.³⁹⁶ The widening gap between the top and bottom income deciles³⁹⁷ returned to the policy agenda with increasing concern about the spatial concentrations of low-income families, and the implications for schools of geographical concentrations of poor families.³⁹⁸ The persistent problems of low achievement and the growing problem of social exclusion were identified in the 1997 White Paper *Excellence in Schools*.³⁹⁹

```
389 Department for Education and Skills (2003m).
```

³⁹⁰ See, for example, http://www.standards.dfes.gov.uk/sie/si/SFCC and www.standards.dfes.gov.uk/sie/si/SFCC/rev; Department for Education and Skills (2003m).

³⁹¹ Ofsted (2001b).

³⁹² Chitty et al. (2001).

³⁹³ Fitz et al. (2003).

³⁹⁴ Ofsted (2001b).

³⁹⁵ Ofsted (1993).

³⁹⁶ OECD (2001).

³⁹⁷ Goodman and Webb (1994).

³⁹⁸ Green (1994); Noble and Smith (1996).

³⁹⁹ Department for Education and Employment (1997).

Ofsted's 2003 report on these programmes⁴⁰⁰ concluded that their influence on pupils' attainment 'is more evident in primary than secondary schools ... Overall trends in improved performance concealed a very disparate picture from individual schools in both programmes. While some present a story of constant improvement, others have little to show ... Standards in schools in disadvantaged areas are rising at a slightly faster rate than in all schools, but the gap between them is still too wide.' In the latest (2004) evaluation overview, while the impact on KS3 results was stated to be modest, 'pupils in EiC schools seemed to have a higher probability of achieving five or more A*–C GCSEs than similar pupils in non-EiC schools'.⁴⁰¹

Programmes targeting particular groups

If we conceptualise 'inclusion' as 'being in school', then in this sense a number of groups are already 'excluded', not just 'at risk' – persistent truants, excluded children, children with behavioural difficulties and children in care/looked after. A range of strategies and programmes have been developed to target these groups.

Non-attendance at school, in terms of both truancy and exclusion, is a high priority policy concern for the government. ⁴⁰² In 1999, the government set targets of reducing truancy and exclusion rates by one-third by 2002, and reducing truancy by a further 10% from 2002 onwards. Figures for 2002–03 show that there were 9,290 permanent exclusions from primary, secondary and all special schools – a decrease of 24% since 1997–98; ⁴⁰³ the figures dropped steeply for the first two years, until 1999–2000, rose slightly for the next two years, until 2001–02, and then dropped slightly again. Eight in ten permanently excluded pupils are boys. The exclusion rate is highest for pupils aged 14. It is about twice as high for Black pupils (25 in every 10,000) as for White pupils, and lowest for Chinese and Indian pupils (two and three respectively in every 10,000). Black Caribbean boys are three times more likely than other pupils to be excluded from school. ⁴⁰⁴

Progress on truancy has been more disappointing. Provisional figures for 2002–03 indicated a rate of 0.7% unauthorised absences, 405 a small fall from the previous year. However, there has been a clear downward trend since 2000–01 in overall authorised and unauthorised absences at both primary and secondary level.

Between 1997 and March 2001, nearly £300 million was invested in tackling truancy and exclusion. From April 2001, at least £600 million has been earmarked through the Connexions Service, the Children's Fund and the Pupil Support Grant up to 2004. Strategies and programmes include the creation of Learning Support Units and Learning Mentors, a more flexible and relevant curriculum for 14-16 year olds, the establishment of the Connexions Service, anti-bullying programmes, the Behaviour Improvement Project (BIP), Behaviour and Education Support Teams, the Information Sharing and Assessment project and preventative work funded through the Children's Fund. All pupils excluded should, within a month of exclusion, have Individual Education Plans (IEPs) and receive full-time education; by 2000, a third of pupil referral units were offering full-time provision for secondary pupils. These initiatives have now been rolled up into the Excellence in Cities schools and Education Action Zones programmes.

⁴⁰⁰ Ofsted (2003d). See also Ofsted (2003e), (2003f), (2003g); Schagen et al. (2003); Machin et al. (2003). See also: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/research/EIC_CP2.asp

⁴⁰¹ Kendall (2004).

⁴⁰² Social Exclusion Unit (1998); Social Exclusion Unit (2001): Annex B – Truancy and School Exclusion.

⁴⁰³ Department for Education and Skills (2004j).

⁴⁰⁴ Department for Education and Skills (2002c).

⁴⁰⁵ Department for Education and Skills (2003j).

Truancy remains a puzzling and complex problem. Surveys of pupils give far higher figures than the official figures⁴⁰⁶ – possibly because some pupils leave school after registration. There is evidence that truants tend to be older pupils and from poorer backgrounds. In a recent study,⁴⁰⁷ 27% of primary school children said they had truanted without the collusion of their parents and 16% of secondary school pupils admitted to truanting (other studies give even higher figures).⁴⁰⁸ Pupils who truanted highlighted bullying, boredom, problems with lessons, tests, rules and teachers. While most teachers in this study associated truancy with home factors (parents did not value education and therefore condoned absence), most parents thought it was very important for children to attend school regularly and associated truancy with school-related factors.

'Truancy sweeps' can be carried out by the police together with education welfare officers (EWOs) under the 1998 Crime and Disorder Act. Examples of the effectiveness of truancy sweeps reported in an evaluation in 82 LEAs in 2002–03 included improved attendance, raising pupils' and parents' awareness of the importance of children and young people being in school, finding 'missing' children who had dropped out of the system and the identification of attendance problems (for example, bullying, the responsibilities of young carers, bereavement). In York, when truancy sweeps were launched in 1999, youth crime fell by 67%, and in parts of Newham car crime fell by 70%.

Parents may also be prosecuted through parenting orders and fines under the 1998 Crime and Disorder Act. Evaluation suggests that the process of taking parents to court may be more effective than the actual outcome, and that prosecution could be effective when parents were in a position to effect change in their own and/or their child's behaviour.⁴¹¹ Further powers introduced under the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 include parenting contracts and orders for exclusion, truancy, or antisocial or criminal behaviour.

Evaluation of the Alternative Education Initiatives (AEIs),⁴¹² part of the Home Office's Crime Reduction Programme, suggests some success in re-engaging young people in the education process, improving young people's behaviour and fostering more positive attitudes about future employment, education and training. There was concern at young people's history of poor attendance, and often complex emotional and behavioural needs. One in ten of the young people in this study were classified as 'looked after' – that is, in the care of the state.

Other programmes target young people with emotional and behavioural difficulties, and the groups who are hardest to reach. The 'On Track' programme, designed originally as a crime prevention programme by the Home Office and now run by the Department for Education and Skills, targets factors such as under-achievement at school, poor school attendance, poor 'readiness to learn', etc.; early qualitative findings on the children and young people involved suggest small improvements in behaviour, confidence and self-esteem, more use of education, and better relationships with adults, but these are very preliminary findings. Home school agreements have a modest impact on parents and teachers working together, and parents supporting their children's learning at home. Behaviour support plans have had some success in opening up links

- 406 Social Exclusion Unit (1998).
- 407 Malcolm et al. (2003). See also Edward and Malcolm (2002); Osler et al. (2001).
- 408 Social Exclusion Unit (1998).
- 409 Halsey *et al.* (2003). See National Association for the Care and Resettlement of Offenders (2003) on children who 'drop out' of the system.
- 410 Social Exclusion Unit (2001), Annex B.
- 411 Kendall et al. (2004).
- 412 Kendall et al. (2003).
- 413 Doherty et al. (2003a); Parsons et al. (2003); McCarthy et al. (2003); Atkinson et al. (2003).
- 414 Coldwell et al. (2003).

with other agencies to become involved in providing alternative education.⁴¹⁵ An anti-bullying pack⁴¹⁶ is being evaluated to tackle one of the major problems cited by children and young people at school (not just those at risk of truanting or being excluded). In one study,⁴¹⁷ more than half of the children and young people interviewed said that bullying was a big problem or quite a problem in their school.

Children in care/looked after are one of the most at risk groups in the education system.⁴¹⁸ In 2002–03, only 9% of children in Year 11 who had been continuously looked after for at least 12 months achieved five or more GCSE A*–C grades, compared to more than half of all young people. At age 16, fewer stayed on in full-time education (57% compared with 72%), and significantly more were unemployed (22% compared with 7%). Twenty-seven per cent of children who have been in care for a year or more have statements of special educational needs, compared to 3% of all children. Children in care are much more likely than their peers to be permanently excluded from school – approximately 1% of looked after children compared with 0.1% of all children. The government has set a new Public Service Agreement (PSA) target to narrow the gap in educational attainment and attendance between children in care and their peers by 2006. A number of initiatives are in place, but there is little evidence as yet as to significant improvement.⁴¹⁹

Resourcing education

Overall levels of expenditure on education should broadly over time come to reflect government priorities. Overall public expenditure on education in the UK as a proportion of GDP remained fairly static over the period 1995–2000 (4.6% in 1995; 4.5% in 2000).⁴²⁰ This was below the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development average. However, when tertiary education costs are extracted, the UK public expenditure levels on primary, secondary and other non-tertiary education are roughly in line with the OECD average. National data for England support this picture of a rather flat pattern of expenditure at school level, with significant rises only at the end of the period. Overall expenditure began to rise in 1998–99, and rose more steeply from 1999–2000. Using per pupil expenditure as a standardised measure, pre-primary/primary expenditure per pupil remained relatively unchanged from 1993–94 until 1999–2000, and then rose steeply (the total spend on this sector rose with the increase in spending on the under fives). Secondary expenditure per pupil actually fell back in real terms during the mid 1990s, only recovering to the level of 1993–94 with the figures for 2001–02.⁴²¹

How far do these allocations favour more disadvantaged pupils and areas? The central government formulae for identifying levels of educational spending at local authority level (now known as Education Formula Spending) take significant account of social needs factors in the so-called Additional Educational Needs (AEN) formula. The recent revisions to this formula have probably made it reflect these needs more accurately (based on measures of children in families dependent on income support, tax credits or in ethnic minority group households). As a result, disadvantaged LEAs have significant scope for higher educational spending than less disadvantaged areas. However, because the requirements for allocation to schools (under what is now known as the 'Fair Funding' system) are heavily based on pupil numbers, this variation in expenditure between LEAs

- 415 Wilkin et al. (2003).
- 416 Smith and Samara (2003).
- 417 Oliver and Candappa (2003).
- 418 Social Exclusion Unit (2003a); see also Department for Education and Skills (2004b).
- 419 Social Exclusion Unit (2003a); and from Department for Education and Skills (2004b), Figures 3.4 and 3.5, and Table 1.
- 420 OECD (2003), Table B2, p. 207.
- 421 Department for Education and Skills (2003k). Table 8 has been used for these figures, as this includes LEA-level expenditure on schools as well as school-based expenditure. Table 7, which has school-based expenditure only, shows that the increase here began approximately a year earlier.

on social needs may not be carried through to schools. This means that in effect a school with an advantaged catchment area in a disadvantaged LEA is likely to fare better than a disadvantaged school in an otherwise advantaged LEA.⁴²² There is a financial premium that each school receives, for example for each pupil in receipt of free school meals; but it is not in line with the allocation that central government itself makes to LEAs on this same criterion.

Many of the government policies reviewed in this section are likely to have brought more resources to disadvantaged areas and schools, though there is no easy way to calculate their financial impact. Sefton estimates that there was a 32% increase in education spending in the 10% most deprived local authorities, compared with a 25% increase in the least deprived 10% over the period 1997–98 to 2003–04.⁴²³ Programmes such as Excellence in Cities and Excellence Cluster programmes will have contributed significant extra resources to disadvantaged areas. However, a few policies may have tipped resources to more socially favoured areas. For example, the 1997 commitment to reduce class sizes to 30 pupils or fewer at Key Stage 1 may have tended to favour more advantaged areas, as areas with high AEN allocations tended to have smaller class sizes already.

6.4 Who has benefited most/least?

In assessing the overall impact of educational policy, it is important to distinguish effects on individual families and children, schools and neighbourhoods and on particular groups. Different programmes, as has been shown, have different targets. An overall balance sheet is therefore extremely difficult to produce; and in addition, many of the programmes are still in early stages or have not yet been evaluated.

In terms of achievement, as measured by Key Stage results and international comparisons, there appears to have been a significant improvement in overall performance, though this may have reached something of a plateau post-2000. However, overall success should not obscure the fact that there still remains a longer 'tail' of under-achieving pupils than in many other high-attaining countries. In terms of schools in disadvantaged neighbourhoods, there is some evidence, for example from the Excellence in Cities programme and the Education Action Zones, that standards are rising at a slightly faster rate than in schools on average, although the gap still remains too wide. Similarly, schools facing challenging circumstances have improved their performance overall. However, overall results may mask a very disparate picture, with some schools making very little progress.

There is increasing evidence that some very disadvantaged ethnic minority groups, for example Bangladeshi pupils, are significantly reducing the gap in educational achievement, particularly by the time they do GCSEs. Those of Bangladeshi, Pakistani and Indian origin who are on free school meals have significantly better results at GCSE level than disadvantaged White or Black groups. Black Caribbean groups appear to be making less progress.

Programmes targeting particular groups also have mixed results. Exclusions from schools have dropped, then risen again; truancy rates have only marginally decreased. There is some evidence that programmes targeting the most disengaged young people can improve motivation and behaviour, and create links with a wider range of services for this age group, but children and young people who have been in care, children with statements of special educational need and Black Caribbean pupils remain most at risk. These programmes are still in the early stages of implementation and development and it is too soon to see their impact clearly.

⁴²² Sefton (2004).

⁴²³ Sefton (2004), p. 17.

On the financing of education, there has been a significant increase in spending for the preprimary sector, while funding per pupil in the primary and secondary sectors did not rise until 2000–01. A larger share of resources appears to be directed to the more disadvantaged areas. However, funding allocation mechanisms to local education authorities and schools mean that these funds do not always reach the most disadvantaged pupils.

Overall results indicate some significant gains. But there is consistent evidence that the hardest to reach groups may not always share in these improvements. Against this backdrop of modest improvement, however, it is important to underline that advantaged areas and schools also continue to move ahead, and some overall policies may well continue to enhance their advantage. League tables, open enrolment, formula funding and schools admissions policies may serve to advantage pupils from more middle-class backgrounds and particular types of school. ⁴²⁴ The better resourcing of higher and more selective levels of the education system again advantages areas and schools where pupils are more likely to remain in the system beyond the compulsory stages.

6.5 Which policies work well together, and which are in conflict?

The overall picture of educational policy development since 1997 is one of many separate initiatives, some universal, others targeted at particular schools, areas or groups. In some cases, one initiative has been overtaken by others. 'Joined-up thinking' on this scale, across these different levels and types of intervention, has some way to go. The risk is an apparent scatter of initiatives that are only partially coordinated. Some clear examples have already been given where initiatives have not been coordinated in their approach to the most disadvantaged groups or areas. One is the financing of education, where funding allocation policies do not necessarily reach through to the most disadvantaged. A second is the potential for schools admission policies and assessment procedures to discourage or penalise the most disadvantaged.

The effects of social deprivation on education continue to be marked. Reducing these effects through educational policies requires sustained and coordinated action on many levels – hence the importance of programme coordination.

6.6 Gaps in knowledge

Many of the initiatives already described have not yet been fully evaluated, and the effects of any one initiative may be hard to disentangle from others. But without such information, it is hard to draw firm conclusions about successes or failures. Although the key message from any evaluation of policy impact is that initiatives need to be research- and evidence-based, it is also the case that outcome evaluations will need time. And all evaluations should also include a cost/benefit analysis.

There have been some significant improvements in performance by some ethnic minority groups from very disadvantaged backgrounds. There could be further studies to identify the mechanisms at work in producing these improvements.

There is increasing information available about resourcing at the local level. However, we do not have systematic information about the extent to which, and the way in which, funding is reaching through to disadvantaged groups and areas.

Good schools and good teachers make a difference. However, not enough is yet known about how to attract and maintain high quality staff in the poorest performing schools.⁴²⁵ Parental involvement in their children's education improves performance. But too little is known about how to engage

⁴²⁴ West and Pennell (2000).

⁴²⁵ Marzano (2003); Wenglinsky (2002); Ofsted (2002b).

parents in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods. And other government policies, such as encouraging parents, particularly mothers, with young children to return to the labour market, may reduce the time they have for supporting their children's education.

6.7 Directions for the future

As David Bell, HM Chief Inspector of Schools, noted, there has been improvement, but not enough. He has argued for a tightening of the focus on reducing educational disadvantage – a guarantee of high quality staff, and funding systems that ensure that the costs of closing the achievement gap are met.⁴²⁶ Whilst there is much to praise in the government's approach, it may be that a narrow focus on education and targets runs the danger of mistaking an attainment target met with a real long-term improvement for those most at risk. However, the range of initiatives, the evidence of improvement, and the accumulation of knowledge about 'what works' for disadvantaged children and young people, provide a strong basis for the way forward.

6.8 KEY MESSAGES

- There have been substantial gains in performance overall. However, the improvement appears
 to be stronger in the period up to 2000 or so. Part of this might be attributed to the rapid fall
 in unemployment over the same period.⁴²⁷
- Some ethnic minority groups, for example Bangladeshis, appear to be making significant progress in performance, despite particularly high levels of disadvantage. However, other groups, for example disadvantaged pupils from Black Caribbean and White groups, seem to be making much less progress.
- Targeting behavioural problems can work, but highly disadvantaged pupils are subject to many external pressures that may lead to these patterns re-establishing themselves.
- Only post-2000 has educational expenditure at school level begun to rise sharply.
 Disadvantaged areas may have shared disproportionately in this increase, though some programmes tend to favour less disadvantaged areas. Higher levels of education, with correspondingly higher expenditure levels, tend to have disproportionately larger numbers of pupils from advantaged areas.
- There is a mass of different programmes with overlapping purposes and targets. Programmes attempting to raise educational performance for disadvantaged groups and reduce behavioural problems can be effective but require a high level of sustained investment over time.
- Assessing the specific effects of these initiatives is compounded by the complexity of overlapping programmes. It is also early days to measure their impact.

⁴²⁶ Bell (2003).

⁴²⁷ Unemployment fell steeply from its peak in 1993 until about 2000. It then continued to fall, but much less steeply.

CHAPTER 7: Poor health (age 0–13)

7.1 The risk of social exclusion

Health status is a crucial element of social inclusion. Whilst ill-health need not automatically lead to social exclusion, it is a clear risk factor in itself, and can also be linked to others (children's chronic ill-health leading to absence from school, for example). There is also clear evidence of links in the other direction – such as the material deprivations of living on income support long term leading to worse health.

The advent of the Labour government in 1997 heralded a new era in health, taking up some of the themes of the 1980 Black report in keeping health inequalities at the forefront of the public health agenda and re-emphasizing the link between public health strategies and improvements in health outcomes. The Acheson Report, published in 1998, argued that all policies should be evaluated in terms of their impact on health inequalities, and formulated in such a way that by favouring the less well off they would, wherever possible, reduce such inequalities. It built on the Black Report, by emphasizing the cross-cutting nature of health inequalities and setting them within a wider framework.

The Acheson Report recommended that policies aimed at improving health and reducing health inequalities in women of childbearing age, expectant mothers and young children should be given high priority; that policies should further reduce income inequalities and improve the living standards of households on benefits; and that additional resources should be provided for schools serving children from less well-off groups. Policies were advocated to reduce psychosocial ill-health in young women in disadvantaged circumstances, particularly those caring for young children, and to provide social and emotional support for parents and children. A partnership between the NHS Executive and regional government was suggested.

The report highlighted the need both to reduce the high child mortality rate from road traffic accidents and to exercise within a safe environment. It recommended promoting moderate intensity exercise, whilst advocating reducing car use to cut the mortality and morbidity associated with emissions. It also argued for increases in the real price of tobacco, to discourage young people from becoming habitual smokers. In addition, it identified the importance of specifically considering the needs of ethnic minority groups in policies aimed at reducing socio-economic inequalities, and the development of services sensitive to the needs of ethnic minority people that also promote greater awareness of their health risks.

The ensuing White Paper, *Saving Lives: Our Healthier Nation*,⁴³⁰ set out the government's targets for 2010, reflected in public service agreements (see below). Health authorities were to have a new role in improving local health. Primary care groups and trusts would have new public health responsibilities, forging powerful local partnerships with schools, housing departments, etc., to deliver health goals. Health Action Zones would break down barriers in providing services, complemented by Healthy Living Centres. A new Health Development Agency was to raise the quality of public health provision. This new approach, based on a three-way partnership of individuals, communities and the government, would work towards reducing health inequalities and improving the health of all.

```
428 Black (chair) (1980).
```

⁴²⁹ Acheson (chair) (1998).

⁴³⁰ Department of Health (1999).

Main policy levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs)

By 2010, reduce inequalities in health outcomes by 10% as measured by infant mortality and life expectancy at birth.

Increase breastfeeding initiation rates by two percentage points per annum through the NHS Priorities and Planning Framework 2003–06, focusing especially on women from disadvantaged groups.

Sure Start Service Delivery Agreement Targets in relation to health: to establish Children's Centres so that by March 2006 at least 650,000 children have access to their services; to increase by 2005 the proportion of babies and young children 0–5 years with normal levels of personal, social and emotional development for their age; to ensure by 2006 that all families with new-born babies in Sure Start local programmes and Children's Centre areas are visited in first two months and given information about services and support; to improve awareness of healthy living among children by helping parents to support their children's healthy development before and after birth; to ensure by March 2006 a 6% reduction in proportion of mothers continuing to smoke during pregnancy; to ensure information and guidance is available on breastfeeding, nutrition, hygiene and safety; to reduce by 10% number of those aged 0–4 years admitted to hospital as an emergency with gastro-enteritis, lower respiratory infection or severe injury; to provide antenatal support and advice to all pregnant women and their families.

Improve life outcomes of adults and children with mental health problems through year on year improvements in access to crisis and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS).

Reduce mortality rate from suicide and undetermined injury by at least 20% by 2010.

Reduce under-18 conception rate by 50% by 2010.

Drugs, alcohol, smoking (includes Young Persons Substance Misuse Plan): Spending Review 2002 provided funding for drug-related education, prevention and treatment services for young people. Reduce harm from drugs by reducing use of class A drugs and frequent use of any illicit drug among all young people under 25, especially by most vulnerable, and reduce drug-related crime. Linked to this is the government's wider strategy to reduce smoking and the number of teenage pregnancies.⁴³¹

Healthy Schools Programme aims to improve the overall health awareness of young people and the environment within schools.

National School Fruit Scheme: Being introduced from 2004; has been piloted in more than 500 schools in England. All four to six year old children in state schools will be entitled to a free piece of fruit or vegetable each school day. This will eventually entail distributing around 440 million pieces of fruit to over 2 million four to six year olds in some 18,000 schools across England each year.

⁴³¹ These last two are the areas we focus on in this review as they are of more relevance to the age group 0–13 (for teenage pregnancy because of the potential consequences for the children of teenage parents).

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service: Improve life outcomes of adults and children with mental health problems through year on year improvements in access to crisis and CAMHS services. Reduce mortality rate from suicide and undetermined injury by at least 20% by 2010. All CAMHS to provide comprehensive services including mental health promotion and early intervention by 2006. Increase CAMHS by at least 10% each year across the services according to agreed local priorities.

Healthy Living Centres: Established as a vehicle for a new approach to health, by boosting health, leisure and community services at the same time as addressing the wider determinants of health such as social exclusion, poor access to services, and so on. To improve health and well-being within a context that complements Health Action Zones. Priority will be given to those in deprived urban and rural areas.

Healthy Schools Programme: To create a healthy ethos within schools; improve the health and self-esteem of the school community; and enable children to make healthier choices.

Health Action Zones: To tackle inequalities in health in the most deprived areas through health and social care modernisation programmes. As well as tackling coronary heart disease, cancer and mental health, teenage pregnancy, and drug misuse prevention in young people and smoking cessation, they address other interdependent and wider determinants of health, such as housing, education and employment, and link with other initiatives.

Strategy to Reduce Unintentional Injuries: Aims to reduce the number of children killed or seriously injured by 50% by 2010 compared with the average for 1994–98, tackling the significantly higher incidence in disadvantaged communities.

Healthy Start: Plans to replace the welfare foods scheme and to improve nutrition for pregnant women, mothers and young children. In 2004 government announced plans to introduce vouchers with a fixed monetary value to replace current volume-based vouchers. Beneficiaries will be able to exchange the vouchers for liquid milk, infant formula or fresh fruit and vegetables through general retail shops. Pregnant women and families with young children will register for the scheme by completing a simple application form and getting it endorsed by a health professional. Health professionals will continue to have an important role in advising beneficiaries about health and nutrition, including breastfeeding, and in promoting the appropriate use of vitamin supplements. Children attending nursery will receive either milk or fruit.

7.2 The overall impact of government policies

It would be premature to anticipate the overall impact of the government's policies for this age group. The long-term health impact of the Five-a-Day initiative to increase children's fruit and vegetable consumption, for example, cannot as yet be ascertained. The government's target, therefore, of reducing by 2010 by at least 10% the gap between the one-fifth of areas with the lowest life expectancy at birth and the population as a whole cannot yet be evaluated. But where initiatives have had specific aims, evaluation has been possible – although much of the evaluative work is still at the process rather than outcome stage. There can be little doubt, for example, that the initiative to improve the outcomes of children with mental health problems through year on year improvements in access to crisis and child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) has been broadly welcomed, but that it has commenced from a baseline of gaps in service provision, long waiting lists, inappropriate resources and barriers to joint working.⁴³² Some evaluation is

hampered by lack of statistical data, or specificity for this age group. The government's target of reducing death from suicide and undetermined injury by at least 20% by 2010 does not link specifically, for example, into the under-14 age group, despite the fact that research suggests that such incidents among this group tend to be under-reported.⁴³³

As yet infant mortality rates remain fairly constant, with infant deaths falling by 3.5% in England and Wales in 2002, but stillbirths rising by 6.7%. ⁴³⁴ In 2002, 68% of infant deaths occurred within the first 28 days, and the majority of these deaths were related to prematurity. Babies born with low birthweights as a result of being born too small or too soon, and also the largest babies, are at greatest risk of both immediate and long-term health problems, with the smallest being most likely to die within the first weeks and months of life. Although social class mean birthweight remained similar between 1991 and 2000, the incidence of low birthweight appears to have increased between 1993 and 2000, with the highest levels reported amongst sole registrations, babies with fathers in manual occupations and those whose mothers were born in the Caribbean Commonwealth, India, Pakistan, Bangladesh and Africa (excluding Southern Africa). ⁴³⁵ It is still too early to evaluate fully the government initiative to increase breastfeeding initiation rates, with particular focus on women from disadvantaged backgrounds. There is evidence of an overall increase in breastfeeding rates between 1995 and 2000⁴³⁶ but also of persisting inequalities, with only 59% of those in lower occupations initiating breastfeeding, compared with 85% of mothers classified to higher occupations. ⁴³⁷

In Sure Start areas, targets are especially focused to bring about improvements in antenatal, ⁴³⁸ neonatal and early years' health. The national evaluation of Sure Start is still ongoing. Early evaluation of implementation ⁴³⁹ suggests that virtually all the programmes are developing a range of new or extended antenatal services, including home visits by midwives. The majority of programmes screened their new mothers for postnatal depression and provided support for them. Eighty-nine per cent of programmes provided breastfeeding advice, information and support, with the remainder intending to do so. Smoking cessation and healthy eating advice were seen as highly important aspects of every programme. Although 70% of programmes provided home safety equipment to parents, less than half offered home safety checks, and 80% did not monitor housing quality. There have been some difficulties in collaborative multi-disciplinary working, and it is as yet unclear whether ethnic minority groups, 'hard to reach' families and fathers are fully engaged in Sure Start. Moreover, it should be borne in mind that not all those at risk of social exclusion live in Sure Start areas.

7.3 Who has benefited the most? Who has benefited the least?

The government's initiatives to reduce teenage pregnancies, substance misuse, poor mental health outcomes, accident fatalities and injuries and the incidence of suicide have the potential to benefit disproportionately those from low-income households precisely because it is they who are at greatest risk of suffering from these 'risk factors' for poor health outcomes.

- 433 Shaffi (1989); Office of Population Censuses and Surveys (1992).
- 434 Office for National Statistics (2004b).
- 435 Office for National Statistics (2004c).
- 436 Office for National Statistics (2004c).
- 437 Hamlyn et al. (2002).
- 438 Reduction in smoking in pregnancy.
- 439 Tunstill et al. and the NESS Research Team (2002).

The chapter on living conditions (above) deals with road accidents for children. Although targets for reducing the under-16 conception rate have not yet been met, data for 2001 show a reduction since 1998, down by 11%; in addition, 27.3% of teenage parents were in education, training or work in 2003, compared with only 16% in 1997. 440 All areas have agreed local conception reduction targets of 40–60% by 2010, with the greatest reductions sought in the highest rate areas. It is not clear, however, whether the reduction is linked, for example, to an increase in the number moving on into higher education, to greater use of 'safe sex' strategies, to the introduction of the 'morning after' pill, which since 2001 has been available without prescription from pharmacists, or to other factors. There has, however, been an increase in sexually transmitted infections. 441

With the exception, however, of the reduction in accidental deaths, there is as yet little dramatic evidence of change. Thus, although there is evidence of a reduction in smoking in the 11–15 age group, from 13% in 1996 to 10% in 2002, which exceeds the government's target for this group (11% by 2005), there has been a slight increase in the proportion smoking from the 1999 figure of 9%, and the extent to which the reduction links with socio-economic group remains unclear. (The picture on alcohol overall is one of stability in consumption, and the proportion of those using Class A drugs has remained relatively stable.)

There has been an increase in the proportion of overweight children. In 2000, 27% of girls aged 2–19 years were overweight compared with 20% of boys. Concern has been expressed about both diet and levels of physical activity, with the *Health of Children and Young People* study reporting that in 1999 children spent on average 11.4 hours a week watching television and videos compared with 7.5 hours spent on physical activity outside school.⁴⁴³ The Five-a-Day scheme/national school fruit scheme are part of the government's drive to increase healthy eating habits amongst those most at risk and have been complemented by recent changes to the welfare foods scheme.

Lack of physical activity among children and young people has been addressed in part by the government's initiative to enhance the take-up of sporting opportunities by 5–16 year olds by increasing the percentage of school children who spend a minimum of two hours each week on high quality physical education and school sport within and beyond the curriculum from 25% in 2002 to 75% by 2006. Action has been taken to stem the loss of sports fields, and a recent Ofsted report highlighted some positive trends. 444 But state school children lag far behind independent school children in the provision of sporting opportunities, and those most at risk of social exclusion may be those least able to afford, or travel to, out-of-school sports clubs. The introduction of Health Action Zones and Healthy Living Centres may help to increase leisure and sports facilities in targeted areas; but the rapid increase in out-of-school private leisure facilities, including swimming pools, may in future jeopardize public provision for many others on low incomes.

Those least likely to benefit from the government's initiatives remain, however, those among ethnic minority groups. Significant health inequalities remain among Black and ethnic minority communities. For example, whereas in 2000 the overall rate of infant deaths per 1,000 was 5.5 (down from 5.7 in 1999), for mothers born in Pakistan the rate was 12.2 (this is up from 10.1), and for mothers born in the Caribbean the rate was 10.4 (down from 12.2).⁴⁴⁵

⁴⁴⁰ Teenage Pregnancy Unit (2003).

⁴⁴¹ Public Health Laboratory Service report (2003).

⁴⁴² National Centre for Social Research & National Foundation for Educational Research (2002).

⁴⁴³ Office for National Statistics (2004c).

⁴⁴⁴ Ofsted (2004b).

⁴⁴⁵ Home Office (2002a).

Teenage pregnancy rates are particularly high among Bangladeshis, Black Caribbeans and Pakistanis,⁴⁴⁶ with more research needed into factors influencing lifestyle 'choices'. Further, statutory services may not be effective in detecting mental health problems across different ethnic groups, in engaging them in treatment, or in gaining their confidence.⁴⁴⁷

7.4 Which policies have worked well together and why?

The reduction in the numbers of children killed and injured suggests that cross-departmental public health strategies have the potential to be effective across the board, although it is not clear that they will necessarily narrow the gap in health inequalities. Again, although reducing teenage conception rates should at first glance improve life chances for those most at risk of social exclusion, it is not as yet clear that the reduction in conceptions occurs in this group. On balance, single-issue policies (smoking, teenage conception, road fatalities) have shown the earliest short-term gains, but this may mask longer-term gains from more complex multi-agency strategies such as Sure Start.

7.5 Which policies are in conflict/tension with one another?

It is perhaps the lack of direct government action that most jeopardizes the initiatives for this age group. Initiatives such as Healthy Schools, combined with increases in sport within schools, have the potential to improve health outcomes, but have as yet concentrated on the 'soft' end of health promotion. In this regard, no action has been taken to remove sales of 'soft drinks', cakes, crisps, and so on from schools, or to ensure whole school provision of lunches high in nutritional value, or the establishment of freely accessible, clean and well-maintained drinking fountains. Many schools, for example, sell bottled water, with research from Leeds suggesting that only 18% of schools had working water fountains. Lack of stronger government action in some areas may then work against initiatives designed to promote healthy lifestyles. Those eligible for free school meals, who are arguably most at risk of poor nutrition, do not always benefit from a school meals system originally designed to boost their nutrition and overall health, because whilst nutritional guidelines are in regulations, in many schools there are vending machines and/or less healthy choices on the school meals menu.

Similarly, the alcopops industry remains relatively unfettered, although it is known both that the peak age for consumption is 13–16, and that one of the established controls on young people's drinking – bitterness – has been removed.⁴⁴⁹ Although controlling access to tobacco by under-16s is a priority in the White Paper, *Smoking Kills*, the evidence suggests that when retail outlets are restricted, young people continue to obtain cigarettes or alcohol from relatives or friends.⁴⁵⁰ This has led the British Medical Association to argue that increasing the cost of cigarettes both quickly and sharply may be a more effective method of reducing their use by adolescents, and more efficacious than educational measures.⁴⁵¹

Again, it is not clear whether the risk to health is greater from teenage parenthood or from the proliferation of sexually transmitted diseases (STDs) and an increasing abortion rate. As the British Medical Association makes clear, the health outcomes from teenage pregnancy for both mother

- 446 Social Exclusion Unit (1999).
- 447 King's Fund (1997).
- 448 See www.healthedtrust.com
- 449 Alcohol Concern (2001). Whilst this peak age only touches our relevant age group, this of course means that younger children are also consuming alcopops.
- 450 National Centre for Social Research & National Foundation for Educational Research (2002).
- 451 British Medical Association (2003).

and child require balancing (for example, health advantages from early maternity against social disadvantages).⁴⁵² Although there is little research on improving outcomes for teenage parents, we do know that condoms may provide the best protection from STDs, but remain unpopular and unreliable.⁴⁵³ Research suggests that 18% of boys and 22% of girls who first had sex aged 13–14 said they did not use contraception.⁴⁵⁴

Other areas of conflict involve the reduction in child pedestrian casualties which, whilst greatly to be welcomed, has been accompanied by an increase in the number of children travelling by car to school;⁴⁵⁵ and the increase in the prescription of Ritalin for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, which some argue has shadowed the introduction of the literacy hour and national curriculum.⁴⁵⁶

7.6 Gaps in knowledge

Overall, much of the evidence is missing, either because it is too early to evaluate the impact of initiatives – for example, the long-term impact of the Five-a-Day campaign on mortality rates – or because evaluation is hampered by lack of statistical evidence, or lack of specificity for this age group. Some initiatives may need to address more openly those factors that inhibit good practice. Within these limitations, the overall impact has been one of change, innovation and a move towards joint working across the boundaries between health, social care and education. But, despite the changes, we do not necessarily always have the robust and independent data necessary to prove that they have worked.⁴⁵⁷

7.7 Directions for the future

In some areas – such as school nutrition, the holding of children in prisons (2,633 in 2002, 90% more than in 1992) and the regulation of the food and drink industry – the government may wish to take a more direct approach. Although some steps have been taken with, for example, the Food Standards Agency setting targets to reduce average salt intakes by 10% by 2005–06, more proactive steps may be needed. This may be particularly effective in relation to provision within schools, where those most at risk of social exclusion and poor health may be more easily targeted. But there is also an urgent need for more data both to inform initiatives, and thereby increase the likelihood of their success, and to evaluate whether reforms are effective, particularly with regard to cost-intensive projects such as Sure Start. More research is also needed to ensure that the needs of young people from ethnic minority groups and Travellers are identified, and that service delivery is readily accessible.

7.8 KEY MESSAGES

- It is too early to evaluate the health impact of many of the government's initiatives on health for children.
- Single issue policies have shown the earliest short-term gains; but this may mask longer-term gains from more complex multi-agency strategies such as Sure Start.
- 452 British Medical Association (2003).
- 453 Swann et al. (2003).
- 454 Wellings et al. (2001).
- 455 Office for National Statistics (2003), Social Trends 33: A portrait of British society, TSO.
- 456 Walsh (2003).
- 457 Leatherman and Sutherland (2003).

- Government initiatives to increase school sport and physical education have proved promising, but those most at risk of social exclusion may be those least able to afford, or to travel to, outof-school sports and leisure clubs.
- The reduction in child pedestrian casualties has been accompanied by an increase in the number of children travelling by car to school.
- The Healthy Schools Initiative, combined with increases in sport within schools, has so far been accompanied by promotion of healthy options rather than further regulation of foodstuffs sold in schools.
- There are persistent inequalities in child health that have their origins at birth, such as low birth weight and infant mortality, and these are proving difficult to turn around.

CHAPTER 8: Disabled children and children with special educational needs⁴⁵⁸

8.1 The risk of social exclusion

There are estimated to be around 400,000 disabled children in the UK under 16 years, around 1 in 38 of the child population. The government has recently emphasized the risk of poverty and social exclusion for disabled people, including children, and the importance of ensuring disabled people are aware of their rights and able to secure them. The costs of disability are not taken into account in the official statistics on low income, so the families of disabled children may be even poorer than they appear. Difficulties with access to all aspects of school life may have an impact on a disabled child's quality of life and reinforce feelings of separateness. The importance of early assessment and intervention, and the recognition that disabled children, given their frequent dependence on help from multiple agencies, are especially vulnerable to poor service coordination, makes it all the more essential that disabled children benefit from the extra help promised by the Green Paper *Every Child Matters*, specifically improved information sharing, a common assessment framework, lead professionals (key workers) and co-ordinated service delivery.

Disabled children are likely to remain at risk of social exclusion unless their experiences and opportunities, as children, become more typical of children in the general population. Initiatives that specifically target disabled children can only achieve part of these aspirations; disabled children's vulnerability to social exclusion will also be diminished by strategies aimed at the general child population which also accommodate the needs of disabled children – and similar strategies aimed at adult populations. The Green Paper *Every Child Matters* is a positive example of the latter. Wider social acceptance and understanding of the needs of disabled children and adults in the community as a whole may be even more important, implying a crucial role for public education as a tool for combating social exclusion, as well as direct services.

| Main Policy Levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs) | | |
|---|---|--|
| Disability Benefits | Higher rate mobility element of disability living allowance extended to include 3–4 year olds. Disability element of child tax credit introduced. | |
| Sure Start | Aims to identify pre-school children with special educational needs and provide early intervention and support. | |
| Quality Protects | Seeks to provide wider range of flexible services for families of disabled children and to integrate children into mainstream leisure services. | |

⁴⁵⁸ Some aspects of Special Educational Needs are discussed in chapter 6 under education.

⁴⁵⁹ Department of Health (2000).

⁴⁶⁰ Department for Work and Pensions (2003a). Subsequent points in this paragraph are taken from pp. 103–128 unless otherwise indicated.

| Special Educational Needs: - SEN & Disability Act 2001 - 'Removing Barriers to Achievement' - SEN Code of Practice 2001 | Amends Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and gives disabled children and children with special needs the right to mainstream education; identifies and suggest strategies for removing obstacles to learning; codifies good SEN practice. |
|--|---|
| Schools Access Initiative | Made available in 1996–97 to help schools prepare for changes that were to be initiated by SENDA, and continues to support schools in making the total environment of mainstream schools, including the curriculum, more accessible to disabled children. |
| National Childcare Strategy | Provision for children (0–14) including disabled children up to 16. |
| Transport Act | Aims to make vehicles and transport more accessible to disabled people. |
| Carers and Disabled Children Act and Carers Special Grant | Allows direct payments to be made and gives greater choice and flexibility to parents receiving services. |
| Children's Fund | Provides funding for services aimed at the most vulnerable children in the middle years. |
| Disabled Facilities Grant | Contributes toward the cost of providing adaptations and facilities within the home. |
| Family Fund | Government contributes grants to help reduce stress on families with severely disabled children. |
| Section 64 Funding | Provide grants to voluntary organizations that target DfES priorities, which include families with disabled children. |
| Early Excellence Centres | Special centres support disabled children and their families. |
| Early Support Pilot Programme | Supports the development of co-ordinated multi-agency support services for disabled children under three years and their families. |
| National Service Framework | External working group for disabled children; reporting in late 2004. |
| Communication Aids Project | Funded by DfES, runs from 2002 to 2006; designed to promote access to curricula by supporting pupils who have difficulties with understanding language, communicating verbally or with written communication. |
| Together from the Start | Practical guidance for professionals who work with children from birth to two years and their families. |
| Every Child Matters | Green Paper summarizing government's vision for children; commits government to making improvements for disabled children and children with SEN in the key areas of early intervention, educational exclusion, low expectations and partnership working. |
| | |

8.2 What does the existing evidence tell us about the overall impact of government policies?

Disabled children are at particular risk of poverty because their parents generally have lower incomes, while having to meet the extra costs of disability. Disability benefits increase the income of families with disabled children, but often do not go far enough to redress the balance, as it costs up to three times as much to raise a severely disabled child as a non-disabled child. The equivalence scale used in low-income statistics does not take account of the additional costs of disability, and therefore is likely to underestimate the poverty of disabled children. Parents of disabled children are much less likely to be in full-time work compared with parents of non-disabled children. Difficulties with the extra expense and shortage of appropriate childcare can contribute to this. These problems are exacerbated for those with more than one disabled child. Take-up levels of benefits also remain unsatisfactory.

The National Childcare Strategy seeks to address shortages of childcare services, with £4 million invested so far in providing care for disabled children and children with SEN.⁴⁶⁴ Childcare places have now increased significantly (see chapter 5, above); but there are no figures available on places available to disabled children. However, we do know that many parents of a child with a disability have found it difficult to combine employment and caring, and many have also had to cut back or give up paid work, because of childcare problems (see chapter 5, above).

Child tax credit and the childcare element of working tax credit have been introduced, aiming to help people on low incomes, including giving help with childcare costs. Other financial resources include the Family Fund, which helped 43,017 families with severely disabled children during 2002–03,465 and the disabled facilities grant, which helped 123,000 people to improve access to their homes.466

A 2003 evaluation of the Quality Protects initiative⁴⁶⁷ found improvements in the quality and availability of services for disabled children, which were particularly evident in the early years play and leisure services. However, there is still a national shortage of inclusive and specialist provision. Many potential improvements are still at the planning stage. The Children's Fund provides funding for services targeting vulnerable children aged 5–13, and 21% of services have so far targeted disabled children.⁴⁶⁸ No evaluation of the impact of such services has been conducted thus far, however.

While feedback from families has been generally positive, the overall long-term impact of Sure Start is as yet unclear for the general child population, and less evaluative information exists for the population of disabled children. However, the need to ensure that services are delivered to disabled children and their families, the close links between Sure Start projects and primary care services, and the evaluative material available so far, give grounds for optimism. Early Excellence Centres have 35 pilot centres with a key role in supporting disabled children and children with SEN. The pilot evaluation suggested positive effects on social exclusion.⁴⁶⁹

- 461 Russell (2003b).
- 462 Joseph Rowntree Foundation (1998), 'The number and characteristics of families with more than one disabled child', Findings 218; http://www.jrf.org.uk/knowledge/findings/socialcare/scr218.asp. Full report: Lawton (1998).
- 463 Reith (2001).
- 464 Note that disabled children do not always have special educational needs.
- 465 Family Fund Trust (2003).
- 466 Tenbury Wells Community website (2003).
- 467 Council for Disabled Children (2003).
- 468 Children and Young People's Unit (2002b).
- 469 Bertram et al. (2002).

An Audit Commission study⁴⁷⁰ found wide variations in support for children with SEN (which will necessarily include some of those with disabilities) in mainstream schools, and variable attitudes to pupils. It was also found that many teachers lacked understanding of the needs of disabled children, and that children still face barriers, including shortfalls in specialist support, exclusion from certain lessons or activities and inaccessible buildings and facilities. Too many children, it was reported, waited too long to have their needs met, families faced large variations in service quality and quantity, and special schools themselves were unclear about their future role. The Schools Access Initiative Fund was introduced to address these accessibility issues, which relate to curriculum-related as well as physical access issues. Currently, 6,000 schools have benefited, with £100 million allocated to the task for the coming year alone.

The Transport Act⁴⁷¹ aims to make public transport vehicles accessible to disabled people. Currently public transport is often inaccessible to disabled children, as many vehicles are too old to comply with regulations.

8.3 What have been the main positive impacts from current policies? Which groups have benefited the most? Why have policies worked?

The benefits system for disabled children can be both complex and confusing for parents. In recent years, however, the government has made significant improvements to the amount of money families with disabled children are entitled to. The benefits/tax credits system is also currently changing to create a more seamless system which should be easier to access, with all benefits for disabled children coming under child tax credit and disability living allowance, rather than via working families tax credit and additional premia in means-tested benefits.

The government has introduced many new policies that aim directly or indirectly to improve the lives of disabled children, many of which are in the early stages and the goals of which are long-term. There are promising early signs from Sure Start, the Early Excellence Centres and Quality Protects. The aims of Sure Start and Early Excellence Centres include the early identification of children with special needs and ensuring early professional intervention. There have been examples of good practice from the pilot studies, but no conclusive evaluation yet.

8.4 Which groups have benefited the least? Where have the policies not delivered all the impacts intended and why? Are there any unintended consequences?

Many people eligible to claim disability benefits currently do not do so, due to lack of information and problems in making applications.⁴⁷² The most socially disadvantaged families are the least likely to apply. Particularly at a disadvantage within the current system of financial support are families where there is more than one disabled child. Such families receive extra benefits; but the benefits system does not take into account the cumulative effects of care.⁴⁷³

⁴⁷⁰ Audit Commission (2002a).

⁴⁷¹ Social Exclusion Unit (2003b).

⁴⁷² Reith (2001).

⁴⁷³ Joseph Rowntree Foundation (1998), 'The number and characteristics of families with more than one disabled child', Findings 218; http://www.jrf.org.uk/knowledge/findings/socialcare/scr218.asp. Full report: Lawton (1998).

The Quality Protects programme allocates £60 million of the £885 million children's service grant to provide more support for families with disabled children. There are currently wide variations in services within areas and consequently some families are at a disadvantage due to their locality. Many councils are assessing the accessibility of their services but work is not planned to start in the near future. New and better quality services are planned nationwide but it is again too early in the process for any positive effects to emerge. Many public buildings remain physically inaccessible to disabled members of the community.⁴⁷⁴

Local education authorities are under a new duty (from 2002) to improve the accessibility of mainstream schools to disabled children over time. The Schools Access Initiative provides the funding for making schools physically and educationally accessible (see above); but currently, only 23% of primary schools and 10% of secondary schools are fully accessible for disabled children.⁴⁷⁵ This makes it difficult for authorities to fully carry out their duties to give disabled children the right to mainstream education as identified in the Special Educational Needs and Disability Act (SENDA). Currently, 87% of pupils permanently excluded from primary schools and 30% from secondary schools have SEN – which may indicate that the system is failing to meet the needs of these children. In England,⁴⁷⁶ although the proportion of pupils with statements of SEN remained broadly static at 3%, the number of children with SEN statements rose by 11% over the period 1997–2002; of pupils with SEN statements, 60% were in mainstream schools by this date – a rise from 48% since 1993; 37% were in special schools and 3% in independent schools.⁴⁷⁷ The government has commissioned research to look at practices and policies with regard to admissions and exclusion for pupils with SEN, which will be published later in 2004.

The Disability Discrimination Act 1995 enabled, but did not oblige, the government to make accessibility regulations, setting minimum standards for new public transport vehicles (buses, coaches, trains, trams and taxis), so that disabled people can use them, and can travel in safety and reasonable comfort. The Transport Act (2000) has set minimum standards for new vehicles, the latest 'end date' being 2020 for small coaches. But there is no end date for the completion of all public vehicles being accessible and the disadvantage for disabled people and families with disabled children still exists. Many parents of disabled children find it necessary to use taxis, the costs of which are often not reimbursed.

8.5 Gaps in knowledge

The current demographic profile of disabled children and their circumstances remains unclear. We need to know to what extent services offered by Sure Start and the Children's Fund are being accessed by disabled children. The impact of the SEN and Disability Act 2001 can be expected to be substantial, but again, a longer view is required before any conclusion can be reached. Increasing information is available, and more is likely to become available, on the educational performance of children with SEN and which educational settings and strategies are more likely to help SEN children fulfill their potential. The absence of any specific targets on removing families with disabled children from poverty makes it hard to evaluate what progress is being made on what many families with disabled children might consider the biggest barrier to social inclusion.

⁴⁷⁴ Council for Disabled Children (2003).

⁴⁷⁵ Audit Commission (2002a).

⁴⁷⁶ Russell (2003b).

⁴⁷⁷ Department for Education and Skills (2002b).

8.6 Directions for the future

The welfare of disabled children is affected by a wide range of government initiatives: those affecting children as a whole, those affecting disabled adults and, indeed, those affecting the population as a whole. In addition to dedicated strategies, the impact of broader legislation on disabled children and their families needs to be considered.

8.7 KEY MESSAGES

- There is a lack of data about the prevalence of childhood disability and the circumstances of disabled children; the main source of data remains the 1989 OPCS survey.
- A number of positive changes to benefits/tax credits have occurred since 1999. However, improving the take-up of benefits, especially disability living allowance, remains a challenge.
- The greater willingness to consult directly with disabled people including children is a
 positive trend.
- The single most important feature of the experience of families with disabled children remains poverty. Greater childcare costs and lower parental incomes are strongly associated with childhood disability.
- Extra benefits for families with more than one disabled child do not take into account the cumulative effects of care.
- While action on special educational needs has been considerable over the past decade, the
 inclusion of children with disabilities and/or special educational needs in all aspects of school
 life within mainstream schools continues to be an aspiration rather than a reality for many
 children.
- As well as benefiting from general childcare programmes, we can expect disabled children to experience positive results from broader strategies and legislation that take account of the needs of all disabled people.
- While a substantial number of economic, social and educational initiatives have either targeted, or included, disabled children in recent years, little hard information is available as to the extent of their impact; and, where such information is available, it is rarely underpinned by baseline data and measurable targets.

CHAPTER 9: Vulnerable families, children in need, child protection

9.1 The risk of social exclusion

The importance of family support has been reinforced by research findings showing that problems in family life are associated both in the short term and into adulthood with a range of adverse outcomes: social, educational, relational, health and crime.⁴⁷⁸ These problems have costs to both the child and society generally.

Scott and others⁴⁷⁹ have shown that by the age of 28, costs for individuals with conduct disorder are ten times higher than those with no problems. The average individual costs for the conduct disorder group were £70,019, compared with £7,423 for the 'no problem' group. In all groups, crime incurred the greatest cost, followed by extra educational provision, foster and residential care, and state benefits; health costs were smaller. Parental social class had a relatively small effect on antisocial behaviour, and although substantial independent contributions came from being male, having a low reading age, and attending more than two primary schools, conduct disorder still predicted the greatest cost. Some believe that how children are parented is a major cause of social exclusion; but parenting happens in a social context, 480 and parenting is made easier or more difficult by the social situations in which parents live. 481

As noted earlier, the government's approach to family support is outlined in the Green Paper *Supporting Families*⁴⁸² and the more recent Green Paper *Every Child Matters*.⁴⁸³ Traditionally, services for children, health, education and social care have been divided up between different central and local government departments, causing duplication and confusion; but this will change with the implementation of the 2003 Green Paper and the Children Bill.

The importance of the context in which parents bring up their children is recognised in the 1998 Green Paper, *Supporting Families*, which proposed a package of practical measures: first, services to support parenting, financial support, help for families balancing work and home, and help with relationship problems; and second, services for vulnerable families with more serious family problems (see chapter 1, above). The £540 million Sure Start programme was the major vehicle for giving children in disadvantaged areas a better start in life. Child protection was not considered in this document.

This gap was remedied in the Green Paper *Every Child Matters*. Lord Laming's recommendations following the death of Victoria Climbie showed that child protection could not be separated from policies to improve children's lives as a whole. Taking stock of the current condition of children, the Green Paper noted: 'Overall this country is still one where life chances are unequal. This damages not only those children born into disadvantage but our society as a whole'. The Green Paper recommended universal services, targeted services and as a last resort compulsory action. For

- 478 Buchanan and Hudson (2000); Harnden et al. (2002).
- 479 Scott et al. (2001).
- 480 Utting (1995).
- 481 Hughes et al. (2000).
- 482 Home Office (1998); http://www.parliament.the-stationery-office.co.uk/pa/cm199798/cmwib/wb981107/wgp.htm.
- 483 HM Treasury (2003b).

children aged 0–13, the key proposals were to develop the Sure Start children's centres so that they offered childcare for older children as well, becoming children's information centres. More radically, the Green Paper proposed the integration of education, health and social care services in 'extended schools'. It was intended that these would act as the 'hub' for services for children. Children's trusts were to be set up to integrate local education, social care and some health services for children and young people within a single organisational framework.⁴⁸⁴

Main policy levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs)

Children aged 0-13

Family support

Children Act 1989: It shall be the duty of every local authority to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in their area who are in need and so far as is consistent with that duty to promote the upbringing of such children by their families by providing a range and level of services appropriate to those children's needs.

Children, Young People and Families Directorate within DfES (CYPFD): Set up in 2003 to co-ordinate children's services programmes and to bring together six mutually reinforcing strands of work. The aim of the six strands of the programme is to create a framework to support the delivery of locally preventative services. Involved in the directorate is a local transformation group; Sure Start unit; safeguarding children and supporting families group; supporting children and young people's group; children's workforce unit; and a strategy group.

Children and Young People's Unit (which is now merged with CYPFD) was set up in 2000 to improve the lives of children and young people across the country, by: 1. influencing policy in the interests of children and young people; 2. making children and young people's services preventive, not reactive; 3. being a centre of expertise on helping children and young people achieve positive outcomes; 4. ensuring children and young people are involved in developing the services they use.

The Parenting Fund: £25 million to assist voluntary and community organisations in the delivery of parenting support. In particular, contributing to an expansion in support available to all parents; increasing support services for groups who currently receive little access – for example, assisting voluntary and community organisations who provide services to Black and ethnic minority families, fathers or parents of adolescents; spreading parenting support services; increasing the capacity of the whole parenting support sector to grow.

Family Support Grant: Started in 1999–2000 and is worth up to £6.3 million for work starting in the financial year 2004–5. The grant provides core funding for the National Family and Parenting Institute, Parentline Plus, and Home-Start UK; and continuation funding for project work agreed under previous rounds. Most projects are now funded for three years. Funding for new projects is under an open round agreed annually by the relevant minister as well as a small grant programme for voluntary organizations. For the purposes of this grant programme 'family support' means 'activities to support parents in their parenting role' such as parenting education, or activities to improve family relationships between children and parents.

Sure Start: (now part of CYPFD) – see Early Years and Health sections.

Children's Fund (now part of CYPFD) is a £450 million fund launched in 2000. It is aimed at developing services that support multi-agency working for preventive services for children and young people aged from 5 to 13 across England. This intention is addressed by encouraging partnership working between the voluntary, community and statutory sectors and the participation of children, young people and their families in the development of these services. As of June 2003, the Children's Fund was supporting the delivery of services to over 220,000 children, young people and their carers. Since the Children's Fund has now absorbed the On Track programme, 25% of its budget is for children at risk of offending.

On Track was originally established by the Home Office in 1999 with a budget of £10 million. In April 2001, the programme was transferred from the Home Office to the Children & Young People's Unit and was incorporated into the Children's Fund. On Track was for children aged 4–12 and focused on reducing the risk factors associated with behaviour likely to lead to offending and antisocial behaviour and on promoting protective factors. It was piloted in 24 disadvantaged areas in England and Wales. There were five core interventions: home visiting; pre-school; parent support and training; family therapy; home-school partnerships and local specialist option.

The Local Network Fund for children and young people: The fund is for all children and young people aged 0–19 and the budget is £150 million over five years from 2001. It is delivered through 57 local Funds run by voluntary organizations, with grants of up to £7,000 and capacity building support available to small community groups working with children and young people facing disadvantage. The four themes are economic disadvantage, isolation and access, aspirations and experiences and children's voices. Funding decisions are taken by local panels.

Children's Centres: By March 2006, government expects children's centres to reach 650,000 pre-school children (350,000 through existing Sure Start programmes and 300,000 new children). They will play key roles in supporting at risk groups and deliver universal childcare and education services.

Children's Trusts are about integrated commissioning leading to more integrated service delivery and better outcomes for children and young people. They will be formed through the pooling of budgets and resources across a range of agencies.

Marriage and Relationship Support Grant programme (MARS), set up to give grants for preventative services for children, young people and families before they hit crisis.

Parenting Order: Parents of children who are involved in criminal or antisocial behaviour, or who fail to attend or are excluded from school, can be made subject to a parenting order where the order would be desirable in the interests of preventing the child from engaging in further criminal or antisocial behaviour, or in improving their attendance at or behaviour in school. Under the order parents are required to attend a parenting programme in the form directed by the responsible officer. The order can also include specific requirements the parents must comply with which are desirable in preventing a repetition of the kind of behaviour by the child that led to the order being made. Failure to comply with the terms of the order can result in criminal 'breach' proceedings, a return to court and potentially a fine or community sentence.

Welfare and protection

Children Act 1989 gives framework for both private (following separation and divorce) and public law (child welfare/child protection) for supporting families, dealing with children in need, child protection, looked after children.

Quality Protects programme (now part of CYPFD) launched in 1998 to transform management and delivery of children's services. Eleven objectives relating to: child protection; children in need; disabled children; looked after children; leaving care; adoption. Quality protects spending over five years amounts to £885 million, with £138 million going on a main grant; £60m on disabled children; £298m on leaving care; £9.5 million on IT fund.

Children in need (CIN): Aim: to ensure children in need gain maximum life chance benefits from educational opportunities, health and social care. Local authorities have a duty to provide services.

The Children in Need census includes children supported in families or independently (CSF/I) as well as child protection cases and looked after children; as such, CIN now includes all children who receive some sort of social service provision. In the past these groups have been separated out.

Child protection: Aim: to ensure children are protected from emotional, physical, sexual abuse and neglect (significant harm). Changes due as a result of Victoria Climbie Inquiry, the Green Paper *Every Child Matters* and the Children Bill.

Looked after children: Aim: to ensure children who are looked after (those that cannot live with their families) gain maximum life chance benefits from educational opportunities, health care and social care. Also a PSA to improve level of education, training and employment outcomes so that the levels for this group are at least 75% of those achieved by all young people in 2004.

Adoption and Children Act 2002, where children are unlikely to be able to return to their families, encouraged more adoption of looked after children. Supported by research showing children adopted do better on a range of outcomes than children who are long-term fostered.

Vulnerable Children's Grant: £252 million over 2003–06 will provide additional educational support for children most in need, including children in care. An extra £113 million over 2003–06 will improve care placements and stability through the Choice Protects programme.

9.2 What does the existing evidence tell us about the overall impact of government policies?

Although important large-scale evaluations of many government family support programmes have yet to report, there are preliminary indications that the programmes are impacting positively on large numbers of children, young people and families. There is also some evidence that better family support services in the community reduce the numbers of referrals to social services as children 'in need'.485

However, improving services and outcomes for children 'in need' (which includes those needing protection and looked after children) is proving more challenging. Given that these children are likely to be amongst the most disadvantaged and most at risk of social exclusion, it is encouraging that some progress is being made and that there are positive indications that families find the help provided from social services helpful.⁴⁸⁶

Family support policies and programmes

The national evaluation of the Children's Fund will not finally report until 2006. It will, among other things, be exploring the impact of the Fund on its users and research will include the experiences of children with disabilities. Already, there have been emerging messages on the positive influence of the programme from an interim report in September 2003. Morris and Spicer describe the common challenges and early lessons. They found that the Children's Fund was described as raising the profile of prevention and preventive services and supporting innovative practice in local areas. By encouraging joint mapping of children's needs, the Children's Fund was seen as supporting a broader understanding of the connections between indicators of social exclusion. There was evidence of a range of skills and knowledge around participation being built by the Fund. There was also evidence of some sophisticated mainstreaming activity and programme managers were generally enthusiastic about this. Overall the Children's Fund appeared to have acted as a driver in the development of partnership working in prevention, encouraging multi-agency discussion and the development of preventive services. The first annual report of the evaluation will be published in 2004, and other interim and annual reports will be published during the lifetime of the project.

There is also anecdotal and local evaluation evidence emerging from local Children's Fund projects. For example, it was reported in Manchester in 2003 that fewer children were starting school with pre-existing behaviour problems and that over 15,000 children had accessed holiday schemes and other play and sport activities throughout the six weeks' summer holiday.⁴⁸⁹ The furore earlier in 2004 about the proposed spending cuts on this programme, which has now been resolved, was perhaps indicative of the esteem in which the programme is held.⁴⁹⁰

The Local Network Fund has funded 6,200 projects, with over 3,000 of these reported as being led by children and young people, and nearly 1,600 reported as being led by Black and ethnic minority groups. In total the Fund has distributed £28.7 million in grants. Funds are allowed for projects that come under four themes: aspirations and experiences; economic disadvantage; isolation and access; and children and young people's voice. An interim report from the national evaluation on the Local Network Fund for Children and Young People suggests that the Fund is having a beneficial impact on the lives of its beneficiaries. 'I've done things I wouldn't normally

```
485 Gardner (2002).
```

⁴⁸⁶ Buchanan et al. (2002).

⁴⁸⁷ Morris and Spicer (2003).

⁴⁸⁸ Morris and Spicer (2003).

⁴⁸⁹ Manchester Social Services: http://www.manchester.gov.uk/education/services/5-13_sep03.pdf

⁴⁹⁰ House of Commons Hansard (2004), Written Answers 26 January, cols. 127W-134W, TSO.

have done', explained one 15 year old boy. Although some minority groups are proving difficult to engage, the capacity to reach them appears to be developing, as does the capacity to develop effective safeguarding policies.⁴⁹¹

The emerging findings from On Track, which is now part of the Children's Fund, are also positive. A national qualitative study⁴⁹² of the On Track programme showed that interventions relating to the Home Office categories were depicted as being successful and of high quality. Following *home visiting*, children's behaviour, school attendance and self-esteem had improved. Parents reported that their home management, confidence, family functioning, health and emotional well-being had benefited and they were less stressed. They were better able to manage their children's behaviour and to access help from other services. The *pre-school education* programme was also associated with positive outcomes for children and parents. The *parent support and training* strand impacted on the whole family. Better relationships with partners and children were reported and more positive attitudes to professionals. The specialist interventions were also viewed as helpful. Overall, the impacts on children were overwhelmingly positive and there appeared to be general agreement between users and practitioners about the outcomes.

The former cross-cutting Children and Young People's Unit (CYPU) appears to have played an important role in ensuring that the projects reached those children and families at risk of social exclusion. In 2003, the CYPU shifted its focus to help those harder to reach: Travellers, asylum seekers and homeless and transient children.⁴⁹³ Whilst the Unit itself no longer exists, its responsibilities were absorbed into the new Children and Young People's and Families Directorate in the Department for Education and Skills, and the focus on these client groups continues to be a priority. The National Family and Parenting Institute and Parentline Plus are playing a major part in supporting parents more generally. The recent evaluation of Parentline Plus recognized that it provided a good quality helpline service to over 60,000 callers per annum, of whom three-quarters were first-time callers. One in five callers in one call centre were from a ethnic minority group, 39% were lone parents and 14% step-families. Plans to increase the helpline service and to develop an email service have recently been approved.⁴⁹⁴

Media reports on the first Children's Trust pilots⁴⁹⁶ highlight the range of ways trusts are responding and the different priorities they are pursuing in different areas. For example, Croydon will initially focus on improving services for children with disabilities and those with mental health problems. Others such as Bexley plan to set up children's centres integrating health, education and social services. There will be a three year evaluation of children's trust pathfinders, which will report in 2007. The aims of the evaluation will be to examine the structure, process, outputs, outcomes and costs of different models of children's trust pathfinders, to identify features associated with successful implementation in the context of local circumstances and national policy, and to build up a robust base of evidence in order to contribute to the development of practice and policy in relation to future children's trusts.

The Marriage and Relationship Support Grant programme (MARS), which arose from the proposed Strategy for Marriage and Relationship Support for 2002 and Beyond, *Moving Forward Together*, ⁴⁹⁷ noted that since stable relationships and families were key to a healthy society, and as family life is currently undergoing unprecedented change, there is need for more support for couples at an earlier stage. In the 2003–04 round, public funding supported a wide range of voluntary sector

- 491 Craig (2004).
- 492 Atkinson et al. (2003).
- 493 Children and Young People's Unit (2002a).
- 494 Department for Education and Skills (2003c).
- 495 House of Commons Hansard (2004), Written Answers 26 January, cols. 142-144W, TSO.
- 496 The Guardian (2003), articles in July.
- 497 Lord Chancellor's Department (2002).

organisations providing marriage and relationship support services to couples in England and Wales. Specific projects include supporting couples in Brighton through problems associated with drug use, and a national scheme to assist manic depressives in maintaining positive relationships.⁴⁹⁸

9.3 Children in need499

The Children in Need census, as mentioned earlier, includes children of all ages requiring support in their families or independently (CSF/I) as well as children needing protection and looked after children. There were 388,200 children reported from the CIN database based on a sample week in February 2003⁵⁰⁰ who required some sort of local authority provision. Just over two-thirds of all these children were aged 13 and under. In all, there were about 2,600 children in need per authority. A total of 69,000 (18%) were looked after and the remaining 319,200 (82%) were children supported in families or independently. During the specified week, social services actively worked with 164,400 children (52%) requiring support in families or independently. On average, social work staff spent, in individual work, 3.2 hours per child in the survey week on looked after children and 1.7 hours per child on those living independently or with their families.

The survey showed that the single main need for social service intervention is abuse and neglect, which accounted for more than half of all looked after children and just over a quarter of other children in need. Age-wise, CSF/I peaked at two and three years old, whereas looked after children were more likely to be aged between 13 and 18. Overall, around 18% of children in need are of ethnic identity other than White, suggesting that this category is between 1.2 and 1.7 times the national average in the under-18 population as a whole. Children of Black or mixed ethnic identity are over-represented, whereas children of Asian ethnic identity are under-represented. Asian children are most likely to be in need because of a 'child's disability'.

There is very little information on outcomes for children in need, apart from those for looked after children, but evidence from small-scale projects indicates that in many cases parents feel that social workers are doing a good job and that both they and their children benefit from involvement.⁵⁰¹

Some 65,000 children in 2003 had been involved in S.47 enquiries (child protection), or a rate of 59 per 10,000 children in England. There were 26,600 children on child protection registers (CPRs) at 31 March 2003. Sixteen per cent of the children on the registers at this time were also looked after. More than a third of registrations during 2002–03 related to children considered to be at risk of neglect. Caution is necessary when interpreting these figures, as they do not include all children who have been abused. Sol

The Laming Inquiry⁵⁰⁴ highlighted the major challenges and concerns in protecting children in England and Wales; but a recent report,⁵⁰⁵ published in March 2004, notes that councils are improving their performance on safeguarding children. Evidence from the US, Australia and Scotland, however, shows how difficult it is to protect all children. In most areas, the system struggles to keep up with referrals.⁵⁰⁶

- 498 http://www.dfes.gov.uk/marriageandrelationshipsupport/grant0304.shtml
- 499 http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/VOL/v000451/index.shtml
- 500 Department for Education and Skills (2004e).
- 501 Buchanan et al. (2002).
- 502 Department for Education and Skills (2004a).
- 503 Sibert et al. (2002).
- 504 Home Office (2003).
- 505 Social Services Inspectorate, The Audit Commission's Joint Reviews of Social Services and the National Care Standards Commission (2004).
- 506 Buchanan (2003).

Although the aim for children who are looked after is to maximise their life chances, this has also proved difficult to achieve. Some 60,800 children were being looked after between March 2002 and March 2003. The CIN census (mentioned earlier) records a slightly higher number of children but it is possible that this is explained by the numbers of children in respite care. Although children who are looked after only accounted for 27% of all children who received a service during the survey week, expenditure on children who were looked after accounted for 61% of the total children's budget. Most of this money goes on the costs of residential or fostering services. Overall, children in need cost social services on average about £59.5 million per week, with £36.5 million being spent on children who are looked after.

Placement stability is a major concern, although this is improving – but with considerable variability between authorities. Overall, only 15% of looked after children had been in three or more placements in 2002–03, compared to 18.5% four years earlier. A worrying issue is that a small but growing minority of looked after children do not have an assigned social worker. ⁵⁰⁹ In addition, spending on looked after children seems to vary locally by a factor of two or more between the highest and lowest spending authorities in England: 'although there may be good reasons for spending more in some areas than others, it seems hard to justify this degree of variation'. ⁵¹⁰

Improving the education of looked after children is still key to a better future for them. Progress is being made, in particular in improving the educational attainment of children in more stable placements. A report published in April 2004⁵¹¹ notes that 44,900 children had been looked after *continuously* for at least 12 months by English local authorities and of these 35,100 were eligible for full-time schooling. An increasing number of these children are passing Key Stage tasks at Level 2, 4 and 5. There is still a long way to go. Fifty-seven per cent of these children in Year 11 took at least one GCSE or GNVQ compared to 96% in the general population, and nearly 9% achieved 5 GCSEs or equivalent at grade A*–C. The percentage of young people who had been continuously looked after for at least 12 months who were convicted, or subject to a final warning or reprimand, is around three times higher than children in the general population.

The report from the Social Exclusion Unit,⁵¹² A Better Education for Children in Care, outlines the key changes needed to improve these children's education: greater placement stability, so that they do not move about so often; less time out of school and longer in education; help with homework; more help from home to support schoolwork; improved health and well-being. Research from the National Children's Bureau⁵¹³ notes that young people say the most important factor in making educational progress is encouragement from their carers, teachers and social workers. 'When I have done well, my foster carer is really proud. That makes me want to keep doing my best', one 12 year old was reported as saying.

Jackson, in a study comparing a group of high-achieving young people who had been in care with another lower-achieving group, found the factors associated with high achievement were: stability and continuity in placement; early reading; having a parent or carer who valued education and saw it as the route to a good life; having friends outside care who did well at school; developing

- 507 http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SBU/b000424/table1.xls
- 508 ONS (2004), Children in Need in England: Results of a survey of activity and expenditure as reported by Local Authority Social Services' Children and Families Teams for a survey week in February 2003: Local Authority tables and further national analysis; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/VOL/v000451/index.shtml
- 509 Social Services Inspectorate, The Audit Commission's Joint Reviews of Social Services and the National Care Standards Commission (2004).
- 510 Sefton (2004).
- 511 Department for Education and Skills (2004b).
- 512 Social Exclusion Unit (2003a).
- 513 Harker et al. (2004).

out-of-school interests and hobbies (which also helped to increase social skills and bring them into contact with a wider range of non-care people); meeting a significant adult who offered consistent support and encouragement and acted as a mentor and possibly a role model; and attending school regularly.⁵¹⁴ With all the risks looked after children were exposed to, developing educational resiliency, she felt, was likely to be the best route for ensuring better futures for them.

The challenge of ensuring better outcomes is great. Evidence from the US and Australia points to how hard it is for the administrative parent to be a good parent.⁵¹⁵ An Office for National Statistics (ONS) survey showed that 45% of young people who were looked after aged 5–17 were assessed as having a mental health disorder.⁵¹⁶ Although it is likely that some of these difficulties relate to earlier experiences, there is a concern that some difficulties may be related to the additional difficulties they experience when being looked after.⁵¹⁷

For children who cannot return to live with their families, adoption may offer a better future. Targets are set to increase by 40% the number of looked after children who are adopted and to reduce the period children remain looked after before they are placed for adoption. Some 3,500 looked after children, compared to 2,200 in 1999, were adopted in England in the year ending 31 March 2003. Of these, 59% were aged between one and four, whilst 29% were aged between five and nine. More than 80% of these children were placed for adoption within 12 months of the 'best interest' decision. There is concern that, as more difficult and older children are adopted, there may be more adoption disruption. Post-adoption services have been slow to develop. There is a realisation that support with adoption placement needs to continue into a child's adult life.

The last policy analysed is the controversial new parenting order. Where possible, youth offending teams work with parents of young offenders on a voluntary basis with or without a contract, but where parents refuse to co-operate they can be made subject to a parenting order. In the national evaluation of the whole programme, ⁵²¹ 66% of referrals came via the voluntary route and 16% via a Parenting Order. Information was missing on the remaining 18%. Parents who took part showed high levels of need, with more than 8 in 10 saying they wanted help in managing difficult behaviour in their child. Although parents were initially sceptical, attendance at sessions was high, with on average parents attending three-quarters of the sessions. By the time they left, they reported statistically significant positive changes in parenting skills and competencies and offending in their children dropped by a third. The results of the reconviction study should, however, be taken as cautiously indicative because parenting programmes contributed to these outcomes in many cases alongside other interventions with the young offender. The contribution of the different programmes is not known. We wait to see what the longer-term impact from parenting programmes within youth justice will be.

```
514 Jackson (2002).
```

⁵¹⁵ Buchanan (2003).

⁵¹⁶ Meltzer et al. (2003).

⁵¹⁷ Cheung and Buchanan (1997).

⁵¹⁸ Rushton (1999).

⁵¹⁹ Department for Education and Skills (2003p).

⁵²⁰ Rushton and Dance (2002).

⁵²¹ Ghate and Ramella (2002).

9.4 Who has benefited most? Who has benefited least?

Those who have access to services in their communities appear to have benefited, ⁵²² but we will get a better picture when the results emerge from the major national evaluation of Sure Start. Evidence suggests that the Children's Fund and On Track are having some success in targeting hard-to-reach groups in their areas, but this is still proving challenging. The On Track thematic report notes that the more specialist, threatening or stigmatizing the service, the greater the perceived distance between it and the community. ⁵²³ The use of community venues and sites not associated with a specific agency appeared to increase engagement and reduce any stigma associated with referral. In many family support services, engaging families from Black and ethnic minority communities can prove difficult. Language issues and gender can be major barriers in accessing services. ⁵²⁴

The overriding message in providing family support services is that we need to hear what parents and children want. Ghate and Hazel, 525 in a study of 'parenting in poor environments', note that parents want improved accessibility and quality services open to all in the community – as well as more information, as many parents felt inadequately informed about key aspects of parenting and child rearing, particularly on parenting teenagers. Parents also want practical support services that allow them to feel 'in control', and access to services when they need help quickly. Ghate and Hazel conclude that we need a diversity of formal, semi-formal and informal services to meet the multiple problems and needs of some families living in poor environments and that these need to involve multi-agency working in order to deliver 'joined-up' services. Informal and semi-formal support was not a universal panacea for all parenting problems. Some parents, despite considerable support, still had difficulties in coping. One of the major problems highlighted by Ghate and Hazel was that 'support' was not always perceived in a positive light. They felt that there was an urgent need to tackle the concept of 'negative support', and the poor public image of many family support services.

Barrett, 526 in a systematic review of parenting programmes, echoes this view:

'research has consistently shown that to be effective parenting programmes need to ensure that they do not stigmatise or create dependency and last long enough for changes to be sustained rather than for false hopes and negative reactions to be evoked.'

(Barrett, H. (2003), *Parenting Progammes for Families at Risk*, National Family and Parenting Institute, p.4)

There is some evidence that family support with an education focus better engages with families and is less stigmatising and therefore more acceptable. ⁵²⁷ Desforges and Abouchaar ⁵²⁸ highlighted the important role that parental involvement has on children's education. In the early years parental involvement has a significant impact on a child's cognitive development, literacy and number skills; at school age such involvement is more powerful than family background, size of family and level of parental education. Whereas parental involvement is related to school

- 522 Chappell et al. (2003).
- 523 Doherty et al. (2003a).
- 524 Butt and Box (1998); Becher and Husain (2003).
- 525 Ghate and Hazel (2002).
- 526 Barrett (2003).
- 527 Evangelou and Sylva (2003); Scott and Sylva (2002).
- 528 Desforges and Abouchaar (2003).

achievement, educational failure is associated with lack of parental interest. Fathers' interest is strongly liked to educational outcomes. Most parents believe that they should share the responsibility for their children's education with the school and nearly three-quarters of parents say they want more involvement.⁵²⁹

Under the new provisions in the Children Bill, schools will play a much more pivotal role in the co-ordination of services for children. Some government programmes are already doing this with positive effect. An evaluation of On Track found that schools are already playing an important role. The school was emerging as a pivotal institution for delivery of the programme. Multi-agency work brought new care workers into schools, and with them a need to tackle problems in a shared way.⁵³⁰

For those families who do not access community family support programmes, or who have more complex needs, social services fill an important gap. Evidence suggests that we may need to do more to engage parents with depression, as they may be less assertive in accessing appropriate services.⁵³¹

9.5 Which policies have worked well together and why? Which are in tension/conflict with one another, and why?

The main analysis for this section was undertaken in August 2003, before the publication of the Green Paper *Every Child Matters*. The earlier analysis vividly illustrated the tensions of different central government departments being responsible for different sections of children's services – health, education and social services. In particular, the separation of family support from child welfare and protection appeared to compound the problems of promoting children's well-being and safeguarding vulnerable children. Many of those turning up at the different health, education and social services resources are the same children. Bringing together the various departments involved should not only offer more integrated support but also enable more easier tracking of children at risk.

9.6 Gaps in knowledge

Barrett notes that, with regard to parenting programmes, there is a particular need for more information about ethnic minority parents, including refugee families – both about how well the needs of these families are currently being met and also about what else is needed. Overall, Barrett feels that there is a need for information about parenting projects to be more systematically collected so that it can be disseminated more effectively.

Another gap is for more information on out-of-school care. Recent research⁵³³ shows that out-of-school childcare has positive impacts on children, providing safe and well-equipped space for children's free play in a positive environment. With the increase in mothers in paid employment, it is likely that quality pre-school, after-school and holiday care will be increasingly important, and we need to know more on how to provide quality after-school and holiday provision.

With figures suggesting that one child in four under 16 will experience their parents' separation or divorce, and evidence that conflict around divorce is particularly damaging for children, more help for families and their children during this time is needed. A study by Butler *et al.* looked at the

- 529 Desforges and Abouchaar (2003).
- 530 Parsons et al. (2003a).
- 531 Buchanan et al. (2002).
- 532 Barrett (2003).
- 533 Barker et al. (2003).

experience of divorce through children's eyes. The authors suggest that a new strategic approach is necessary to give effective emotional and socio-legal back-up to children and families beyond that given by parents and carers.⁵³⁴ Research has also shown that some children presenting in private law cases are not very different from those presenting in public law care proceedings.⁵³⁵ Bringing the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS) into the Department for Education and Skills along with other children's services should be a positive move. Barrett also notes that it is not yet clear how parents can best be helped to care for their children post-separation or divorce, and that more information is needed so that an accurate picture can be gained about how existing programmes may be enhanced and delivered.⁵³⁶

9.7 Directions for the future

If we look to the future, we may want to consider to what extent family support policies have not focused sufficiently on developing resilience and opportunities and fostering aspirations. Schoon and Bynner note in new research that it is now increasingly being recognized that research on children and young people needs to pay at least as much attention to the development of competences, resources, skills and assets as to disadvantage and risk.⁵³⁷ The Parenting Education and Support Forum, working with Coram Family and supported by the Department for Education and Skills, is now developing national occupational standards for work with parents, together with piloting a national quality training centre⁵³⁸ which may meet this need.

9.8 KEY MESSAGES

- Although the main evaluations of the major child initiatives are still to report, there is evidence
 that the Children's Fund and On Track have proved popular and are impacting on the lives of
 a large number of children and young people.
- Research has indicated the effectiveness of both early and later parent- and family-focused interventions for reducing criminal activity and antisocial behaviour. Education-focused projects may be more acceptable to parents.
- Family support services can suffer from 'negative impact' or stigma but generally agencies are making progress in engaging the 'hard to reach'.
- During one sample week in February 2003, 388,200 children in need received some sort of local authority provision. Under the current categorization, 'children in need' include those needing protection and looked after children. The majority of these children were referred because of child abuse and neglect. Of these, 82% were supported independently or within the family, and only 18% were 'looked after'. These large numbers are putting enormous strain on social services departments. Availability of family support programmes in the community may reduce the numbers of children in need.
- Progress is being made in improving outcomes for children who are looked after, but educationally these children still lag a long way behind children in the general population.

⁵³⁴ Butler et al. (2003).

⁵³⁵ Buchanan et al. (2001).

⁵³⁶ Barrett (2003).

⁵³⁷ Schoon and Bynner (2003).

⁵³⁸ Parenting Forum (2004).

CHAPTER 10: Access to justice

10.1 The risk of social exclusion

Lack of access to justice carries a significant risk of social exclusion. Young children living in families experiencing eviction, debt, unemployment, discrimination, immigration, mental health problems and family breakdown may be especially at risk. They are likely to be the indirect victims of problems that might have been avoided if their parents had had appropriate access to justice.

The importance of access to justice was highlighted in a large survey by Genn⁵³⁹ that explored how the public, as well as possible plaintiffs or potential defendants, dealt with potential legal disputes and problems. It identified structural factors or lack of knowledge that prevented access to the legal system where it was desired. Those with low levels of computer literacy and ordinary literacy had specific problems in accessing justice. It concluded that a better understanding of the law was fundamental to citizenship. These findings were supported by two important papers by Pleasence *et al.* in 2003,⁵⁴⁰ based on a subsequent survey for the Legal Services Commission, which showed that in some groups, particularly those at risk of social exclusion, 'justiciable' problems could cluster and escalate. Lack of knowledge of potential help from advice and legal services meant that minor difficulties became more serious.

A lack of understanding and confusion about the legal processes is highlighted by a study of families from different cultures involved in child protection cases in the courts.⁵⁴¹ The complexity of their lives also increased their difficulties.

Main policy levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs) (Lord Chancellor's Department/ Department of Constitutional Affairs)

Objective I: To provide a fair, swift and effective system of justice which provides confidence in the rule of law; helps reduce crime, the fear of crime, and the economic consequences of crime; and gives value for money.

Objective II: To improve people's knowledge and understanding of their rights and responsibilities, including how to resolve disputes that affect them, in a way and at a cost proportionate to the issue at stake.

Objective III: To improve the availability of affordable and good quality legal services so that the law underpins economic success at home and abroad, and that the use of public funds secures greater social justice and reduces social exclusion.

Objective IV: To make civil and family law clearer and more easily enforceable, giving priority to key government objectives in tackling social and economic issues.

⁵³⁹ Genn (1999).

⁵⁴⁰ Pleasence et al. (2003a), (2003b).

⁵⁴¹ Brophy (2003).

Objective V: To improve the lives of children, and help build and sustain strong families through providing a legal and procedural framework which sustains family relationships, and, when they do break down, to resolve disputes with the least distress to those affected, especially the most vulnerable.

Main Initiatives

Access to Justice Act 1999. Among other things, this Act was set up the Legal Services Commission to 1) manage the Community Legal Service (CLS) and 2) manage the Criminal Defence Service.

The Community Legal Service (replaced the Civil Legal Aid Service).

The Partnership Innovation Budget. Forms part of the CLS fund and aims to encourage CLS partnerships to explore innovative ways of delivering legal and advice services to vulnerable communities.

10.2 What does the existing evidence tell us about the overall impact of government policies?

The Lord Chancellor has directed the Legal Services Commission that priority should be given to help with welfare issues that will enable people to climb out of social exclusion. The Community Legal Service (CLS) is the government's main expenditure programme for all civil legal and advice services for the public. It was formally launched in April 2000 to ensure that the public could have much better access to good quality legal and advice services. The CLS focuses on those areas of law that affect people's everyday lives: housing, debt, employment, welfare benefits, community care, discrimination, immigration and mental health.

The CLS partnerships provide the framework for local networks of legal and advice services based on meeting local needs and priorities. Local partnerships bring together the Legal Services Commission, local authorities, local solicitors' firms, citizens' advice bureaux, law centres and other independent advice centres. By April 2002, 206 CLS Partnerships in England and Wales involving 391 local authorities covered 97% of the population. The Lord Chancellor had set a target of 90% coverage by April 2002, which was met eight months ahead of schedule. The aim in 2003 was to continue to integrate the CLS with the wider neighbourhood renewal programme. The partnerships are establishing links with Local Strategic Partnerships that are now beginning to take an overview of all social exclusion issues in this area. CLS partnerships are also forging links with many other initiatives, e.g. Connexions, primary care groups etc.

The House of Commons Constitutional Affairs Select Committee published a report in July on the adequacy of civil legal aid. This highlighted the difficulties in recruiting solicitors and barristers to do legal aid work. ⁵⁴² Further evidence comes from a report by James Sandbach of Citizens Advice ⁵⁴³ which suggests that the CLS may be under strain. The survey of Citizens Advice Bureaux (CAB) views on CLS partnerships showed that support from publicly-funded legal services in emergency situations such as housing eviction or domestic violence is becoming less accessible, especially to those on low incomes. There is concern about the decline in solicitors' practices offering legal aid work, the manageability of contracts and the sustainability of partnerships.

⁵⁴² Constitutional Affairs Select Committee (2004).

⁵⁴³ Sandbach (2004).

10.3 Who has benefited most? Who has benefited least?

With regard to the PSA to ensure effective and accessible justice, and protect the rights of citizens, in June 2003, 40% of the population believed that the criminal justice system is effective in bringing people to justice – but of course this means that 60% did not.⁵⁴⁴

The government is making strenuous efforts to bring advice and access to justice to those at particular risk of exclusion. In the first round of The Partnership Innovation Budget, two-thirds of the 75 successful bids went to projects in the most deprived local authority areas. Proposals for the second round are to be directed at taking services to the most excluded groups such as the homeless, older people and those in isolated rural areas.

The independent review of the Community Legal Service⁵⁴⁵ noted that although progress was being made, five key areas needed further development. First, there was a need to clarify the aims and functions of the CLS and to define the role and strategy for the CLS in tackling social exclusion and performance management systems to enable delivery. Second, there was a need to establish the evidence base for the CLS and the extent to which advice and legal services contribute to the reduction of social exclusion. Third, there was a need to develop national funding streams and procedures. The fourth issue was the importance of ensuring quality and the fifth was the need to translate the CLS aims into local provision and meet the needs of service users.

10.4 Which policies have worked well together and why? Which are in tension/conflict with one another, and why?

Access to justice is one of those cross-cutting areas where the solutions cannot lie simply with the legal and advice services. Access to justice is not only about ensuring that advice and legal help are accessible but also about people perceiving a problem as one where a legal resolution might help. Citizen education for young people and adults, particularly those new to the country, should ensure that everyone is aware of what sort of problems are 'justiciable' and how to access legal help.

10.5 Gaps in knowledge; and directions for the future

Further knowledge is needed, as identified by the independent review noted above, to determine what works in resolving 'justiciable' problems. The Legal Services Research Centre (LSRC) survey illustrates that people from different family types have different strategies for finding advice. Any future policy-making on advice provision for family problems requires a detailed understanding of this diversity and the complexity of people's behaviour and motivations. 'A great challenge for those providing family advice and support services is to utilise resources to enable those at high risk of experiencing multiple family problems to avoid doing so and to enable those who have already found themselves faced with a cluster of problems to move on from them.'546

10.6 KEY MESSAGES

Research has shown that lack of access to justice carries a significant risk of social exclusion.
 Some problems for children may have been avoided if their parents had had appropriate and earlier access to justice.

544 Home Office (2004).

545 Matrix Research and Consultancy (2004).

546 Pleasence et al. (2003a).

- A lack of understanding and confusion about the legal processes is seen in a study of families from different cultures involved in child protection cases in the courts. The complexity of the parents' lives also increased their difficulties in accessing help.
- The Community Legal Service is the government's main expenditure programme for all civil legal and advice services for the public. The CLS focuses on those areas of law that affect people's everyday lives: housing, debt, employment, welfare benefits, community care, discrimination, immigration and mental health.
- An independent review of the CLS in 2004 noted that, although progress was being made in developing services, the CLS needed to clarify its role and strategy in tackling social exclusion; it needed to establish the extent to which advice and legal services contributed to the reduction of social exclusion; and then to translate this, through effective management systems, into local provision in a way that met the needs of service users.
- The House of Commons Constitutional Affairs Select Committee published a report in July on the adequacy of civil legal aid which highlighted difficulties in recruiting solicitors and barristers for legal aid work. A survey of CAB views on CLS partnerships showed that support from publicly-funded legal services in emergency situations such as housing eviction or domestic violence may be becoming less accessible, especially to those on low incomes. They too were concerned about the decline in solicitors' practices offering legal aid work, the manageability of contracts and the sustainability of partnerships.

CHAPTER 11: Discrimination

'There is nowhere to get away from the torture.'

(Young person talking to Young Voice, quoted in Katz, A., Buchanan, A. and Bream, V. (2002), *Bullying in Britain: Testimonies of Teenagers*, Young Voice)

11.1 The risk of social exclusion

It is crucial to consider the close links between discrimination and social exclusion. There is considerable evidence that discrimination is linked to depression, low self-esteem and psychological problems. This makes sense when we consider the importance of 'agency' (see chapter 1, above) – when children feel they have no control over how they are treated, they may either turn in on themselves or 'act out', gaining recognition through antisocial behaviour. Children may not call the pain they experience because of 'difference' – be it difference based on racial or ethnic group, gender, religion, disability or the social conditions in which they live – 'discrimination'. To them, it is 'bullying'. Esther Rantzen noted that the biggest single problem that children rang Childline about was bullying, with 22,372 calls in 2000. S48

In this section we consider children's experience of discrimination and, because discrimination happens in a social context, we also consider the parents' perspective. Children bear witness, as 'bullies' or 'the bullied', to their parents' experiences and views. Finally, we look at a particularly vulnerable group of children – those in asylum-seeking families and unaccompanied minors. Discrimination linked to disability is considered elsewhere.

Discrimination because of colour, culture or ethnic origin

Although the Race Discrimination Act (1976) is now nearly 30 years old, the death of Stephen Lawrence in 1993 demonstrated that as a society we still have a long way to go to eliminate 'racism' in the UK. As the Inquiry noted:

"Racism" in general terms consists of conduct or words or practices which advantage or disadvantage people because of their colour, culture or ethnic origin. In its more subtle form it is as damaging as in its overt form."

"Institutional Racism" consists of the collective failure of an organization to provide an appropriate and professional service to people because of their colour, culture or ethnic origin. It can be seen or detected in processes, attitudes and behaviour which amount to discrimination through unwitting prejudice, ignorance, thoughtlessness, and racist stereotyping which disadvantage ethnic minority people."

(Home Office (1999), The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry, Cm 4262-1, TSO)

In a study of bullying in England in 2003,⁵⁴⁹ a fifth of pupils in Year 5 reported that they had been called racist names.

- 547 United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (2001); see also Taylor and Turner (2002).
- 548 Rantzen (2001).
- 549 Oliver and Candappa (2003).

'Bullying is when someone picks on someone else because they are different – their race, height, weight, looks [It's about] ... prejudice and discrimination.'

(Girl, year 8, quoted in Oliver, C. and Candappa, M. (2003), *Tackling Bullying: Listening to the views of children and young people,* Department for Education and Skills/Thomas Coram Research Unit, Institute of Education)

An earlier study of 7,000 young people⁵⁵⁰ across the UK in 2001 also found that half of all children had been bullied both within school and outside school premises at some time, with one in ten experiencing severe bullying. This study also highlighted that 'being different' for a wide range of reasons was often at the heart of bullying. Twenty-three per cent of girls and 31% of boys in the 2001 survey of 7,000 children had experienced racist bullying from other children. A quarter of all the young people said that bullying was the major source of stress in their lives. There were strong links between bullying, depression and suicide attempts.⁵⁵¹

These figures are reflected in another recent study by Eslea, published in April 2004.⁵⁵² In a survey of 2,000 8–13 year old children from a disadvantaged area in Blackpool, Eslea found that 43% of boys and 46% of girls had been bullied at school at some time. Almost 1 in 10 was a victim of bullying several times a week. A third of children were bullied outside school in locations including streets, parks and undergrounds, at home and at the shops. Similar figures are evident from the neighbourhood study by the Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, in which analysis of some of the interviews shows that nearly half of the children of mothers living in low-income areas in East London had been bullied.⁵⁵³

A further study has shown that children in families living on benefits were significantly more likely to worry 'a lot' about being bullied.⁵⁵⁴ Child-on-child racist bullying takes many subtle forms: verbal abuse by name calling, racist jokes and offensive mimicry; physical threats or attacks; wearing of provocative badges or insignia; bringing in racist leaflets, comics or magazines; inciting other in a racist way; racist graffiti or other written insults about food, music, dress or customs.⁵⁵⁵ The common characteristic is that racist bullying was likely to hurt not only the victim but also other pupils from the same ethnic minority group who perceived that a particular child was being bullied who had similar characteristics to them.

Asylum-seeking families and unaccompanied children

Under the 1951 Geneva Convention, the UK has certain responsibilities to offer asylum to people who are forced to leave their countries of origin because of conflicts or well-founded fear of persecution. Of those who flee, a significant proportion come with families and children. Other children arrive on their own. Under section 20 of the Children Act 1989, local authorities have a duty to provide accommodation for children where there is no one with parental responsibility for a child. An unaccompanied asylum-seeking child is 'a person who at the time of making the asylum seeking application is or (there is no proof) appears to be under eighteen, is applying for asylum in his or her own right and has no adult relative or guardian to turn to in this country'. 556 When dealing with unaccompanied minors, the welfare of the child should be the central consideration.

- 550 Katz et al. (2002).
- 551 Buchanan et al. (1999).
- 552 Eslea (2004).
- 553 Mumford and Power (2003).
- 554 Ridge (2002) (based on author's analysis of British Household Panel Youth Survey).
- 555 Department for Education and Skills (2000).
- 556 http://www.ind.homeoffice.gov.uk/default.asp?pageid=3164

Main policy levers and Public Service Agreements (PSAs)

Home Office Aim: Build a safe, just and tolerant society.

Race equality

Objective VI: Support strong and active communities in which people of all races and backgrounds are valued and participate on equal terms.

9. Bring about measurable improvements in race equality and community cohesion across a range of performance indicators, as part of the government's objectives on equality and social inclusion.

Objective V: Regulate entry to and settlement in the United Kingdom effectively in the interests of sustainable growth and social inclusion.

7. Focus the asylum system on those genuinely fleeing persecution by taking speedy, high quality decisions and reducing significantly unfounded asylum claims.

The Race Relations Amendment Act 2000 imposed a general duty on public bodies (including schools) to have due regard to the need to promote race equality. Under this Act, schools have a duty to draw up a race equality policy and ensure that policies do not discriminate against racial groups.

11.2 What does the existing evidence tell us about the overall impact of government policies?

Children's experience

Following the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry, the public duty imposed by the Race Relations Amendment Act 2000 was in effect legislation designed to bring about 'mainstreaming' of racial equality, not an 'add on'. It was about 'institutional change, getting the concept of inclusion into the bloodstream of an organization'. As a result of the legislation, most schools now have an agreed anti-bullying policy which includes a definition of bullying, including racist, sexist and homophobic bullying; aims and objectives; procedures to follow; and intervention techniques. 557

Much bullying, as witnessed by the murder of Damilola Taylor, takes place outside school premises. Schools are not directly responsible for bullying off their premises, although, exceptionally, failure to combat harmful behaviour outside the school might breach the school's common law duty of care. 558

Having policies is one thing – but having policies that work is another. There is concern about how well anti-bullying policies are working in schools. Whereas over a third of children at primary school thought their school was 'very good' at dealing with bullying, only just over 1 in 10 felt this

⁵⁵⁷ Department for Education and Skills (2000).

⁵⁵⁸ Leah Bradford-Smart v West Sussex County Council (Queen's Bench Division, 23–27 October 2000).

was the case at secondary school.⁵⁵⁹ In year 8, a higher proportion of Black and Asian pupils (33%) reported that they had been bullied that term compared with pupils from other ethnic groups (30%) and White pupils (26%).⁵⁶⁰ The report concluded:

'These findings suggest that anti-bullying policies might be expected to have limited effect if they fail to take into account the realities of the child's social world. "Bottom up" as well as "top down" responses are needed. Nevertheless, the findings indicate that anti-bullying policies provide a useful starting point for tackling bullying but regular reviews of both policies and strategies are necessary including examining the relationship with curriculum development, support and training for teachers and working in partnership with parents.'

(Oliver, C. and Candappa, M. (2003), Tackling Bullying: Listening to the views of children and young people, Department for Education and Skills/Thomas Coram Research Unit, Institute of Education)

A 'bullying charter for action for schools' was launched by Ivan Lewis in November 2003.⁵⁶¹ This brings together staff, pupils and parents to create a school community where bullying is not tolerated. Incorporated in the charter are ideas for responding to the bullying behaviour that children and young people experience.

Children are likely to reflect the views of their parents. Results from the Home Office 'Citizenship Survey' in 2002⁵⁶² suggest that perceptions of racism had increased marginally in the last five years. Respondents who were white and the elderly were the most pessimistic. A higher proportion of people from ethnic minority groups felt that services treated them less well than people from other races.

When it comes to reducing inequalities, education is central (see chapter 6 above). A research report from the Department for Education and Skills reveals the diverse and complex picture of ethnic minority attainment and participation right across the education system. ⁵⁶³ Black, Bangladeshi and Pakistani pupils perform less well than other ethnic groups throughout compulsory education. On the other hand, Indian and Chinese pupils perform better than all other ethnic groups throughout. Family background can explain some of the variations in how well children do at school. The 2003 figures shows that some children are significantly disadvantaged. Over 30% of Pakistani and Black pupils and over 50% of Bangladeshi and Gipsy/Roma pupils are eligible for free school meals (FSM). It is interesting, however, that the greatest discrepancy in attainment between those eligible for FSM and those not eligible is found amongst White pupils, suggesting that other factors must also be considered.

The Department for Education and Skills has a range of initiatives in hand to improve these children's attainment. *Aiming High: Raising the achievement of ethnic minority pupils*⁵⁶⁴ outlines a whole school approach to achievement, involving strong leadership; high expectations; effective teaching and learning; and an ethos of respect and parental involvement. A second publication, *Aiming High: Understanding the educational needs of ethnic minority pupils in mainly white schools*, ⁵⁶⁵ addressed the difficulties of isolation which can present ethnic minority pupils with additional barriers to their achievement. A further set of publications was made available to schools and local

- 559 Oliver and Candappa (2003).
- 560 Oliver and Candappa (2003).
- 561 Department for Education and Skills (2003e).
- 562 Cited in Home Office (2002a).
- 563 Bhattacharyya et al. (2003).
- 564 Department for Education and Skills (2003f).
- 565 Department for Education and Skills (2004f).

education authorities providing advice on how to make effective use of the Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant (EMAG).⁵⁶⁶ In addition, a pilot project undertaken in partnership with the Primary National Strategy has been set up in 21 local education authorities to increase the confidence and expertise of mainstream primary teachers in meeting the needs of advanced bilingual learners.

When it comes to vulnerable families, the ethnic distribution of the children in need population compared with data from the 2001 Census of the national population for the ethnic distribution of children aged under 18 shows that children of a Black or mixed ethnic identity are overrepresented within the children in need population.⁵⁶⁷ In contrast, children of an Asian ethnic identity are under-represented. In particular, children from a mixed ethnic group are overrepresented in the looked after population.

Immigration and asylum-seeking

Immigration and asylum-seeking policy has the difficult task of regulating entry to and settlement in the UK. Although most immigrants are single young people, some also bring their families. The Nationality, Asylum and Immigration Act 2002, following the White Paper Secure Borders, Safe Havens, 568 published in February 2002, radically overhauled the asylum system, placing emphasis on the control and removal of unsuccessful applicants. In 2003, further tough measures were announced. Support for families able but unwilling to return home was withdrawn, with the possibility that some of their children could be removed into 'public care'. 569

Figures from the Department for Education and Skills for looked after children in the year ending 31 March 2003 show that 2,400 unaccompanied children were being looked after, of whom approximately 1,700 were in London. The 2003 Children in Need census notes 12,500 asylum-seeking children who were receiving a service. Figures from the London Consortium show that in 2002, 4,482 children were being supported and in March 2003, 4,516. Thirteen London boroughs had more than 500 children whom they were supporting aged 0–18. Figures from the London boroughs had more than 500 children whom they were supporting aged 0–18.

The literature reports major difficulties, ^{572 573} both in providing for the children and in ensuring the welfare and protection of both unaccompanied children and children in asylum-seeking families. Some unaccompanied children have been accommodated under section 17 of the Children Act 1989 in unsupported lodgings. In one study, 20% were in bed and breakfast accommodation. Education is another concern. There are often delays in finding school places. When in school, language support can be poor and children can experience bullying.

There are also unmet physical concerns (in one study, 36 out of 118 were not registered with a GP – all these were unaccompanied children). A particular concern is the healthcare needs of asylum seekers. The British Medical Association in 2002, while recognizing that all asylum seekers are entitled to free medical treatment under the NHS, has noted that there was a lack of government funding, planning and co-ordination of health services for them and has argued for additional payments to doctors offering an extended range of services to this group of patients.⁵⁷⁴ The

- 566 Department for Education and Skills (2004g).
- 567 Department for Education and Skills (2004e).
- 568 Home Office (2002b).
- 569 Webber (2003). See also http://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/news/april04/relea158.htm and http://www.oxfamgb.org/ukpp/resources/downloads/poverty_report_jul02.pdf.
- 570 Department for Education and Skills (2004e).
- 571 London Asylum Seeking Consortium: http://www.westminster.gov.uk/lasc/dataservices/
- 572 Ritchie and Buchanan (2003).
- 573 Dennis (2002).
- 574 British Medical Association (2002).

Refugee Council⁵⁷⁵ notes that good health care is a fundamental right. Refugees and asylum seekers can suffer a range of health problems, but many had difficulty in accessing services. Their difficulties were compounded by language, lack of knowledge about entitlement and lack of information amongst health service workers, some of whom believed that asylum seekers were not entitled to free health care.

Anxieties surround what happens when a child becomes 18, especially if their status and financial future are uncertain. Social workers working with unaccompanied and other asylum-seeking children feel that these children are more at risk than UK-born children in terms of physical and sexual abuse and exploitation in employment. They also have concerns about trafficking and about the relationship of children who arrive in this country with so-called 'guardians'.⁵⁷⁶

These findings are supported by a recent publication from the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 577 which notes that 'UK legislation and policy tends to treat asylum-seeing and refugee children as asylum-seekers and refugees first and foremost rather than children. Consequently, these children face restrictions to their rights and entitlements'. 578 The author notes that many of these children are living in poverty, and that in many urban areas asylum-seeking and refugee children now compromise a significant minority – up to 15% of pupils in some inner London local education authorities. She also notes the potential for partnership, for example in assisting refugee groups in developing their own early years' provisions.

11.3 Who has benefited most? Who has benefited least?

A recent Ofsted report⁵⁷⁹ noted that asylum-seeker children can inspire their classmates and teachers because of the seriousness with which they treated education. Even though all the asylum-seeker pupils spoke little or no English initially, nearly all made at least satisfactory progress, and many progressed well in a short time. The report said:

'They and their parents often provided an intoxicating cocktail of motivation and determination to succeed, despite the difficult and often traumatic circumstances surrounding the leaving of the home country.'

(Ofsted (2003), The Education of Asylum-seeker Pupils, HMI 453, p. 33)

At the other end of the scale, the low level of attainment, particularly amongst Black Caribbean boys, is worrying. William Atkinson, Britain's most prominent black head teacher, described the disruption caused by some disaffected black youngsters as a new form of 'Black-on-Black violence' that was damaging the life chances of their peers. Many black leaders maintain that institutional racism is the real problem. The Commission for Racial Equality also warned that 'peer pressure' had made a substantial contribution to the decline in black achievement. 580

⁵⁷⁵ Refugee Council (2003).

⁵⁷⁶ Ritchie and Buchanan (2003).

⁵⁷⁷ Rutter (2004).

⁵⁷⁸ Rutter (2004), p. 51.

⁵⁷⁹ Ofsted (2003b).

⁵⁸⁰ National Literacy Trust (2003).

11.4 Which policies have worked well together and why? Which are in tension/conflict with one another and why?

When it comes to anti-discrimination, the main issue is the mixed messages given by anti-discrimination policy on the one hand – which is trying to promote 'inclusion' and tolerance – and policy on asylum-seeking on the other, which is promoting some exclusive and punitive policies, in order to deter those who are not 'genuine'. There is also sometimes a danger of unthought-through public rhetoric failing to challenge racist attitudes.

11.5 Gaps in knowledge; directions for the future

The whole treatment of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and other asylum-seeking children is a sensitive area. Some might say that we treat children who are not born in the UK differently; but all children need to be integrated effectively into our society if they are not to become socially excluded.

The UK has a long history of welcoming migrants and offering a safe haven to those at risk of persecution. Eliminating the risk of social exclusion because of discrimination of one sort or another is a both a national and global challenge; but promoting inclusion is about promoting opportunities, supporting parents' and children's 'agency' and aspirations and demonstrating that neither colour, culture, ethnic origin nor gender is a barrier to human progress.

11.6 KEY MESSAGES

- For children, the daily reality of discrimination is represented by 'bullying' behaviour by their peers. Childline data has indicated that the most frequent problem that children rang Childline about was bullying.
- In a study of bullying in England in 2003, a fifth of pupils in Year 5 reported that they had been called racist names.
- Following national government initiatives, most schools now have an agreed anti-bullying policy which includes a definition of bullying, including racist, sexist and homophobic bullying, aims and objectives, procedures to follow and intervention techniques.
- Findings suggest that anti-bullying policies provide a useful starting point for tackling bullying but regular reviews of both policies and strategies are necessary, including examining the relationship with curriculum development, support and training for teachers and working in partnership with parents.
- Children are likely to reflect the views of their parents. Results from the Home Office 'Citizenship Survey' in 2002 suggest that perceptions of racism had increased marginally in the last five years.
- Immigration and asylum-seeking policy has the difficult task of regulating entry to and settlement in the United Kingdom. Figures from the Department for Education and Skills for looked after children for 2002–03 show that 2,400 unaccompanied children were being looked after, and the 2003 Children in Need census notes 12,500 asylum-seeking children who were receiving a service.

- Some ethnic minority groups, particularly some Asian groups, have done well educationally and in their later careers. Asylum-seeker children can inspire their classmates and teachers because of the seriousness with which they treat education.
- The low level of attainment, particularly amongst Black Caribbean boys, is worrying. Many black leaders maintain that institutional racism is the real problem. The Commission for Racial Equality also warned that 'peer pressure' had made a substantial contribution to the decline in black achievement.

CHAPTER 12: Conclusions and Directions for the Future

In this chapter, we bring together our findings from the separate sections and assess the overall impact of government policies for children aged 0–13 and families in or at risk of social exclusion. In doing this, as outlined in chapter 1, we assess the extent to which government policies have been successful in tackling social exclusion for all children, in terms of their experience of childhood as well as the longer-term consequences of social exclusion. Secondly, we consider how far the government has reduced the risks associated with social exclusion and how far, by making opportunities and encouraging children and their parents to take advantage of them, it has promoted resiliency and inclusion. Thirdly, we consider the extent to which the government has made progress in ensuring rights and respect (such as facilitating access to legal services and tackling discrimination), as these are also important elements of social inclusion.

In the final sections of the chapter, we consider some cross-cutting messages from the literature review and then discuss possible directions for the future.

12.1 Overview

Progress in tackling social exclusion

The review has shown clearly that, after inheriting a legacy of child poverty and rising inequality which was comparatively and historically dire, ⁵⁸¹ the current government has made considerable progress in making a positive impact on the lives of children (0–13) and their families in or at risk of social exclusion. As one recent report suggests, 'a combination of a healthy labour market, reduced demographic pressures and policy developments have begun to have an impact on social exclusion'. ⁵⁸² And recent measures have focused in particular on children and families.

Our literature review has shown that:

- the numbers of children living in poverty have fallen, hardship has declined and improvements in family living standards have directly benefited children;
- the use of bed and breakfast for families has been reduced and more children are living in decent housing;
- more early years provision is now available, with almost all three and four year olds taking up part-time early education places, and child care is publicly recognised as a key service for children and for families;
- educational attainment has risen overall, and some groups have made significant progress despite continuing high levels of disadvantage;
- health policies on specific issues (such as road fatalities) have shown clear gains and there is greater awareness of the centrality of health inequalities;
- disabled children have benefited from specific policies and there is a greater willingness to consult directly with disabled people, including children;
- 581 Bradshaw and Bennett (2003).
- 582 Bradshaw et al. (2004) (taken from summary, p. 7).

more support is available to all parents and in particular vulnerable families.

Reducing risks and promoting opportunities

But the legacy of the previous 20 years which the current government inherited, in terms of high levels of poverty and polarization and the 'long tail' of educational under-achievement in particular, makes tackling social exclusion a long haul. Challenges still remain in reducing the risks associated with social exclusion for children and families, and in encouraging them to take advantage of the opportunities available.

More specifically, there is still more that needs to be done in the following areas:

- a further impetus is needed to fulfil the government's longer-term objective to eliminate child poverty;
- further efforts need to be made to reduce the number of homeless households with children;
- more needs to be done to reduce the 'childcare gap' in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods and to tackle barriers to accessing services, such as cost, lack of information, inflexibility and culturally inappropriate provision;
- further steps should be taken to increase the educational achievements of some ethnic minority groups, such as disadvantaged Black Caribbean and White groups; and to ensure that additional spending on education intended to help disadvantaged pupils reaches them;
- although programmes such as Sure Start are likely to be important in the longer term for child health (and other aspects of children's lives), we need to consider how to reduce persistent inequalities in child health such as low birthweight, which have an impact on life chances in the short and long term;
- we need to learn how to ensure that families with disabled children are lifted out of poverty;
 and
- we need to know more about supporting families without 'negative impact' and stigma. We
 also need to find ways of responding to the needs of large numbers of children in need who
 are placing local social services under strain and how to promote better the life chances of
 children in care.

Ensuring rights and respect

Our review included access to justice and discrimination issues, as important elements of trying to tackle social exclusion. What we found was that:

- the importance of access to justice and rights, and anti-discrimination measures, is now clearly recognized;
- although progress is being made in opening up access to justice, we need to ensure that
 parents are aware of services and that publicly-funded legal assistance is accessible for those
 on low incomes in emergency situations;
- bullying in school and after school remains a major concern. Further initiatives are needed to
 tackle this behaviour which causes so much misery for children and impacts on so many areas
 of their lives. Further steps also need to be taken to ensure that asylum-seeking children
 receive the same standard of care as those born in the UK.

12.2 Looking to the future

It has been argued that there are three possible directions for the next stage of government policy in this area: 'increasing the dosage'; filling the gaps; and adopting new approaches. 583 This is a useful division, although some initiatives or changes of emphasis could probably be put under more than one of these headings. It is also important to remember that because social exclusion is multi-faceted and dynamic, it is unlikely that one overarching policy will solve all problems, and policies will need to be continually reviewed. In addition, as the Strategy Unit has pointed out, 'many of the determinants of individuals' life chances are not under the government's direct control and may not be susceptible even to indirect influence'. 584 These points should be borne in mind, but should not prevent the development of thinking about the next stage in the government's policy priority of tackling social exclusion amongst children and families.

In looking to the future, it is useful to summarise some of the cross-cutting messages from the review.

Cross-cutting messages from the review

- The pattern of inequality has changed, with incomes for the large majority becoming more equal over the 1990s; but inequality still remains very high. In education, though overall achievement levels are rising, the gap for disadvantaged children remains large.
- The need for a bridge between children's services: this review was started before the publication of the Green Paper Every Child Matters and the early stages of the analyses highlighted the need to build bridges, and achieve more cohesive planning, between different policy areas impacting on children's lives. This may come with the implementation of the Children Bill.
- The 'hard to reach': the most disadvantaged, some ethnic minority groups, vulnerable
 families and looked after children may be missing out. In many policy areas these
 groups appear to have benefited less than children from families not from these
 groups.
- Protecting children at times of transition: research on the negative impact of transitions
 of parental employment and family status appears to indicate a need for greater
 protection of children at these times. Most recently, another report has also focused on
 transitions, in terms of disrupted education for homeless children. Provision is needed
 to cover periods of insecurity.
- Increasing the take-up of opportunities: the review has highlighted that one barrier to the take-up of opportunities may be a lack of information. This was apparent in the take-up of pre-school places, family support and parental support in education and access to justice. But there are other possible barriers that need to be considered.

⁵⁸³ Lisa Harker (2003), in presentation to Save the Children seminar on 'Dimensions of poverty and social exclusion, and persistence of severe poverty in childhood', 23 June.

⁵⁸⁴ Strategy Unit (2003).

- Some children and families may need more targeted help: for some, the take-up of available opportunities may seem like a step too far. For this group, mentors and advisers have played a useful role, but there is a need to consider what else could be done.
- How to keep children at the centre of policies and understand more about exclusion: the government has made important efforts to consider children's views in all areas of government policy, but there are still some areas where their voice appears less strong. The challenge also remains of how to find out more about, and understand more clearly, the lives, experiences and views of the most socially excluded groups.

Increasing the dosage

Our evidence has shown that the government is making significant progress in tackling social exclusion amongst children and families. Analysis suggests that some of the pressures leading to social exclusion are likely to increase in the future, while others may diminish.⁵⁸⁵

Tackling child poverty must remain a priority

Many children are still deprived of basic necessities, ⁵⁸⁶ or live in severe poverty and social exclusion; ⁵⁸⁷ and disabled children's poverty is underestimated, because additional costs caused by disability are not taken into account in the Households Below Average Income data. Emerging policy concerns about children and families – in part articulated through the latest edition of *Opportunity for All,* ⁵⁸⁸ in part through the cross-cutting child poverty review, etc. – include how to help specific vulnerable groups, such as ethnic minority populations, large families and families with disabilities. Some of the poorest families will not be living in families on means-tested benefits or tax credits at all, and so cannot be reached by policies to improve living standards by increasing these payments. ⁵⁸⁹ The government may need to refocus its research on low incomes, in order to know more about the position of the poorest groups, and therefore also about how to tackle their poverty. However, the difficulties of doing this should not be underestimated.

Research on the negative impact of transitions of parental employment and family status appears to indicate a need for greater protection of children at these times. ⁵⁹⁰ Most recently, another report has also focused on transitions, in terms of disrupted education for homeless children. ⁵⁹¹ It suggests that thousands of children in temporary housing are absent from school for more than ten weeks in a year; over two-thirds of families without permanent homes said their children had problems at

- 585 Bradshaw et al. (2004).
- 586 As portrayed in the annual Families and Children Study, which identifies items defined as social necessities that families may be going without because they cannot afford them.
- 587 Adelman et al. (2003).
- 588 Department for Work and Pensions (2003a).
- 589 Adelman et al. (2003).
- 590 Adelman *et al.* (2003). (Though, as noted elsewhere in this report, this research was carried out before the recent introduction of some measures to help with the transition into employment.) There is also a recommendation for increased protection at times of transition in Farrell and O'Connor (2003).
- 591 Shelter (2004a).

school.⁵⁹² Provision does not necessarily need to be targeted at these particular times, but could be geared to providing adequate ongoing support – in terms of both material resources and social networks – to cover periods of insecurity.⁵⁹³

In addition, care is always needed to ensure that policies do not cause gaps to increase. As the government itself says, 'there is a clear sense in which a widening income gap between the poorest children and the rest and social inclusion are at odds'.⁵⁹⁴ It is known that if transfer payments and low wages are allowed to lag behind general income growth, growing polarization is inevitable; and before the impact of recent benefit rises, research found that families on benefits had no higher a standard of living than that of similar families in 1950.⁵⁹⁵ As noted above, recent analysis shows, however, that the pattern of income inequality seems to have been changing, with those on lower (though not always the lowest) incomes catching up to the median, and incomes for the large majority becoming more equal over the 1990s, but the very top pulling away, especially in the late 1990s; over the early 2000s, income inequality may have fallen slightly.⁵⁹⁶

Whilst there are many influences on such shifts, the recent increases in benefits/tax credits are clearly making their mark in terms of the increases in lower incomes. The government is also committed to increasing the child element of child tax credit in line with earnings over the rest of this parliament. Our evidence suggests that uprating policies for benefits, tax credits and the national minimum wage will continue to be significant in the future if those on low incomes are to keep up with increases in living standards and if relative poverty is to be further reduced. ⁵⁹⁷ Indeed, the government itself suggests that more will be needed; it argues that its child poverty target means 'not only that some children should not fall further behind as society overall grows richer, but that they must actually catch up with the typical family'. ⁵⁹⁸

More work is needed to tackle inequalities and discrimination

Health inequalities have proved harder to shift in a positive direction. ⁵⁹⁹ Inequalities such as low birthweight and infant mortality which have their origin at birth are proving difficult to turn around. In addition, young people from disadvantaged backgrounds often seem to be fatalistic about their health, believing that good health is largely a matter of luck. ⁶⁰⁰ How to increase their sense of control and 'agency' (as described in chapter 1), whilst acknowledging and tackling the largely structural determinants of their health, remains a key challenge. The new health questionnaire being completed by 11–15 year olds in the current wave of the Families and Children Study may be a useful experiment in this area. The government is due to publish another paper on health inequalities later in 2004.

- 592 Shelter (2004a).
- 593 One advantage of child benefit, for example, is that it 'follows the child', via the main carer, through transitions in family status as well as in employment and income level. The Work and Pensions Select Committee (2004) has recommended that the government's national strategy on child poverty should reassert its commitment to retain universal child benefit, uprated to maintain and enhance its real value. Increases in universal child benefit are progressive because families with children generally have lower relative incomes (Clark and Leicester (2004).
- 594 Department for Work and Pensions (2003d).
- 595 Carr-Hill and Lavers (2000).
- 596 Brewer *et al.* (2004); Goodman and Oldfield (2004). The fall over the early 2000s is not statistically significant, however. The description here is based on movements in income inequality, which is the commonly used measure; Goodman and Oldfield (2004) also examine inequality in expenditure over time, which presents a rather different picture.
- 597 See, for example, Sutherland *et al.* (2003); Clark and Leicester (2004); and work by Evans and others at the University of Bath, modelling lifetime income trajectories under the current policy regime.
- 598 Department for Work and Pensions (2003d).
- 599 This is confirmed by Sefton (2004).
- 600 Ermisch et al. (2001) (data based on British Household Panel Survey youth element).

In addition, as Lupton notes in relation to deprived areas, 'discrimination on racial grounds may well turn out to be one of the biggest drivers of socio-economic segregation'. ⁶⁰¹ A review which has highlighted the importance of a socially inclusive experience in childhood, as ours has, must reaffirm that any strategy to combat social exclusion is, and is seen to be, embedded in a broader framework of principles, including a strong anti-discrimination ethos which permeates through to school and street level. This is particularly important given increasing diversity.

Improving evidence and quality of data

'Increasing the dosage' tends to suggest a focus solely on policy effort. However, another crosscutting issue that touches on all our policy areas is availability of evidence and quality of data. On evidence gathering, several policy chapters in the review suggest that there could be more focus on the impact on children in the evaluation of policy initiatives. Many researchers have also argued that, although the government has made great progress in collating relevant information, the coverage of national data on children could be improved. ⁶⁰² Some argue that it is increasingly difficult to extract consistent data about children across the UK, because of devolution. ⁶⁰³ A study of financial support for children since 1975 in relation to their costs has been published recently ⁶⁰⁴ and the analysis of government expenditure in relation to children in England has been mentioned above. ⁶⁰⁵ We also need surveys of overall child well-being so that changes can be measured over time. ⁶⁰⁶ Despite what appears to be a plethora of information on the state of children, many improvements are still required.

Filling the gaps

Bringing services together

The implementation of the Children Bill, from November 2004, will do much to bridge the gap between different services at local level for children and in particular the gap between services for vulnerable families and children in need of protection; but perhaps more is needed.

Our evidence suggests that in addition to the development of the Children, Young People and Families Directorate within the Department for Education and Skills, there is a need to fully mainstream a strategy against the social exclusion of children and families throughout government. This is similar to a call in the Work and Pensions Select Committee's recent report for the government to set out a comprehensive strategy for its longer-term goals for reducing child poverty. For Particular challenges set out in chapter 3, for example, include focusing more on children in housing policies, and making children more visible in the agenda on neighbourhood renewal, improving public spaces, and in strategic considerations in transport, given the importance of the local neighbourhood and travel to children's social inclusion. The private sector might also be encouraged to take greater corporate responsibility for its role in helping to create, or to prevent, social exclusion – including, in particular, utilities providers and financial services.

- 601 Lupton (2003b), p. 218.
- 602 However, see also Plewis *et al.* (2001) for additional proposals for maximising the potential of existing surveys and data.
- 603 Bradshaw, J. (2004), in presentation to seminar on researching the well-being of children, 21 January, organized by the Policy Studies Institute.
- 604 Adam and Brewer (2004).
- 605 Sefton (2004).
- 606 Bradshaw (ed.) (2002).
- 607 The government has just responded to this; see Department for Work and Pensions (2004b).
- 608 See, for example, Ridge (2002).

Reaching the 'hard to reach'

When thinking about some of these gaps, we need to understand more about why the take-up of opportunities has to some extent by-passed those most at risk, the poorest and some ethnic minority groups, who are sometimes described as 'hard to reach'.

Several recent reviews have highlighted the 'hard to reach' as a particular cause for concern. 609 The concept of 'hard to reach' was originally coined by social research agencies such as Mori, 610 who noted that traditional methods of researching the general public were not appropriate for particular groups, for example, Black and ethnic minority groups, young people, refugees and asylum seekers, people with learning disabilities and deprived communities. In a study on delivering services to hard-to-reach families in On Track areas, 611 three broad groups were identified: minority groups including ethnic minority groups, Travellers and asylum seekers; the overlooked – slipping through the net such as the learning disabled; and the service resistant or those unwilling to engage with service providers, the suspicious, the over-targeted or disaffected.

However, it has also been pointed out that a different perspective could see such groups as 'hard to hear', rather than 'hard to reach', 612 and we have already noted in this review the government's determination that listening to children will be one of the underlying principles of policy development. And 'hard to reach' groups may be seen in a positive sense as posing a clear challenge – of how to create 'easy to use' services. 613

Increasing the take-up of opportunities

For some people the main barrier, as we have seen above, is a lack of knowledge about the opportunities available. More problematic, however, is when parents' lack of knowledge means that they cannot support and guide their children. This is a particular problem in education, as noted in a report on children in Bradford just after the recent riots. Parents from some ethnic minority groups could not give their children the essential parental support that is so connected to educational success because they did not understand the educational system.

A second barrier is that services may be seen to be inappropriate, inaccessible or associated with stigma. We can see this in the views expressed, particularly by minority groups, on some family support services. Mainstreaming may reduce the stigma as Sure Start programmes and Children's Centres increase.

A third barrier is that cultural factors may work against taking up opportunities:

'My dad thinks having an education is very good but he also believes making money is also very important. That's why I'm not going to university. I can start making money now and my dad will be proud of me that way.'

(Boy in Bradford, quoted in Katz. A., Buchanan, A. and Bream, V. (2001), *Thwarted Dreams: Young views from Bradford*, Young Voice)

- 609 See, for example, the seminar on 7 May 2003 organised by the Social Exclusion Unit and the Strategy Unit on social exclusion.
- 610 www.mori.com/localgov/reach.php
- 611 Doherty et al. (2003b).
- 612 Suggested by participants at a workshop on inclusive consultation in June 2002 organised by the Cabinet Office to inform its production of Viewfinder, a guide for departments on consulting with their service users.
- 613 Suggested by participants at seminar organised by Joseph Rowntree Foundation on 'Tackling Disadvantage', 8 June 2004.

An area populated by a particular ethnic minority group can become segregated.⁶¹⁵ If cultural expectations suggest that a girl must leave school early to help care for young siblings, she may feel that it is not much use to work hard at school, and this creates strong cultural pressures not to take up opportunities. A bridge needs to be made to find culturally acceptable ways to link parental expectations and a child's aspirations.

A fourth barrier is that some parents and children may make a rational choice that the opportunities offered are not for them. Childcare, for example, may be too expensive, so that the rewards from working are cancelled out. Some children, particularly Black Caribbean boys, ⁶¹⁶ may make a decision that achievement in education is not possible, so they choose other routes, perhaps through antisocial behaviour and bullying, to achieve status and esteem.

Targeted help

Finally, escape from social exclusion is particularly difficult, as discussed earlier, for children and parents who have been rendered depressed because of poor social conditions; community norms that may encourage low expectations; domestic violence and child abuse, discrimination and bullying – as well as for parents who worry that their children, because of their circumstances, will repeat the tragedies of their own lives. Some people will benefit from more targeted services.

The current work by the Social Exclusion Unit on mental health, and a forthcoming literature review by the Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion of the two-way links between mental health and social exclusion, 617 will help to inform this sensitive area of research and policy for parents in particular. And the new study of mental health amongst children and adolescents will give guidance for future strategies for them. Those with severe depression will need treatment from mental health services and support in the long term; but others can benefit, as we have seen, from mentors and advisers, and where they are not only given support but helped to develop new skills, competences and confidence, and create opportunities for new experiences. For this group of parents and children, it may not be enough to reduce the risk, or to present the opportunities; they also need a helping hand to help them take control of their lives and discover that exercising 'agency' can make a difference.

New approaches

As we noted above, central to many of the findings in this analysis is that those least likely to benefit from the government's initiatives are the so-called 'hard to reach'. The phrase 'hard to reach' may suggest that it is only necessary to stretch that bit further to ensure policy impact on such groups; but it may be that new approaches are also needed.

Learning to hear

Although the government is now making considerable progress in accessing the views of children, we still need to know more about how socially excluded people perceive their own experiences and how they make decisions. This gap in knowledge could be remedied by adopting more participatory methods in research, which fully involve socially excluded groups and give them more 'voice'. One organization that works closely with families in persistent poverty, for example,

- 615 Lupton (2003b).
- 616 Frosh et al. (2002).
- 617 Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion (2003).
- 618 This was highlighted by some participants in the Social Exclusion Unit/Strategy Unit seminar on social exclusion held on 7 May 2003, for example.
- 619 See, for example, Bennet (with Roberts), (2004).

explored the idea of involving parents with children 'at risk' or in care as full partners with professionals. (Some research also suggests, however, that whilst some groups may be seen by others as 'socially excluded', they may not identify with or favour this term themselves. (621)

More appropriate targets

It may also be that with 'hard to reach' groups generally, we lack measures of success that are appropriate for them, above and beyond the targets specified in current PSAs etc.⁶²² For some, returning to work or training can be too great a leap. An intermediate step may be attending a day centre or becoming involved in voluntary work and these 'steps on the way' should also be recognized and rewarded, both for service users and service providers.

Tackling stigma and discrimination and building trust

There may in fact need to be a step change in the delivery of services to make them more relevant to 'hard to reach' groups. We do know already that when asked about their priorities for services, people living in deprived areas themselves identified not only more resources – which should be tackled by the policy of guaranteeing a 'floor' of minimum standards – but also staff attitudes. And recent research found that socially excluded children feel less respected by their teachers. 623,624 This suggests a need to ensure enough priority is given to help front-line staff involved in delivering services to children and parents develop relationships of trust and stability with them. This is one way to ensure that 'bending mainstream services' to meet the needs of socially excluded people – in deprived areas and elsewhere – can have greater impact. The government's current investigation of the costs of education could also be broadened into a wider exploration of how to ensure that school is an inclusive experience for all children.

Timing of interventions

Adopting a more 'child-centred' view implies that strategies to tackle social exclusion may need to be more differentiated by age-group. As noted earlier in this report, the various elements that make up social exclusion may be more or less important at different ages for children; our approach may therefore need to become more nuanced.

There is currently a move to focus attention and resources on the early years, especially the first 12 months. ⁶²⁵ But, as we suggested in chapter 4, taking a preventative strategy on child poverty seriously may mean linking back further than this, to pregnancy, and even the pre-conception period. This implies a need to look at the adequacy of provision for childless single people and couples – working-age adults and especially young people. The health and well-being of those who become parents, or who are likely to become parents shortly, are crucial for the health and well-being of their children. This is of course particularly the case for prospective mothers. Yet there has been much less policy focus on the level of out-of-work benefits for this group than for children. The weekly level of income support/income-based jobseeker's allowance in 2003–04 for single 18–24 year olds was well under half the amount of the pension credit minimum guarantee for single pensioners (£43.25 per week, compared to £102.10). ⁶²⁶ Yet many of these young people will be parents at this age; some will be pregnant. Even those aged 25 or over only received some £10

- 620 ATD Fourth World (1996), Talk With Us Not At Us.
- 621 Mumford and Power (2003).
- 622 For example: 'for some people with lower abilities or opportunities, the very focus on paid work and academic attainment was excluding in itself' (Lupton (2003b), p. 215).
- 623 In research carried out by the Social Exclusion Unit prior to the creation of the neighbourhood renewal strategy; also described in more detail in Ghate and Hazel (2002), and in Commission on Poverty, Participation and Power (2000).
- 624 Ridge (2002)
- 625 See, for example, Harker and Kendall (2003).
- 626 Cited by Jonathan Bradshaw at seminar on researching the well-being of children, 21 January 2004, organized by Policy Studies Institute.

more per week. It is difficult to see how a healthy diet can be maintained on this level of income alongside other costs; this may pose an increased risk of low birthweight babies, with all the associated risks that that implies, as described in the chapter on health above.

12.3 Conclusion

Breaking patterns of social exclusion for this age group is also about, as one group of refugee children put it, 'Dreams, Struggles and Survival'.⁶²⁷ The centrality of education for reducing social exclusion, in terms of its potential both to provide an inclusive experience for children now (or not) and to influence their future as adults, has been underlined in this report. Much of government policy is about helping children to have a better future. We need to identify and remove the barriers, such as poverty, poor living conditions, poor health and discrimination, that stand in their way; and then we need to give them the skills, competence and confidence to achieve their goals and realise their dreams. Children can only do this with the support of their family, so we need to support their parents in this endeavour as well.

Children's dreams, struggles and successes also require active promotion. The general public needs positive stories of children's and parents' achievements 'against the odds' if we are to combat the negative press and public stereotypes of those living in social exclusion, which are so damaging to all. The government should give a consistent lead in its use of language and imagery. But we *all* have a responsibility to promote and help create a truly inclusive society.

Postscript, July 2004: spending review and child poverty review

On 12 July 2004, as this report was going to press, the Chancellor announced both the spending review and the child poverty review. There was not sufficient time to integrate their contents into the main text of the report. However, some of the recommendations of both reviews are very pertinent to the findings and conclusions in this report, and, more importantly, to the lives of children aged 0–13 and their families.

Major targets and aspirations set out in the two reviews of particular relevance include those on financial support and employment:

- to halve both the number of children in relative low-income households and those suffering a combination of material deprivation and relative low income between 1998–99 and 2010–11:⁶²⁸
- to reduce the proportion of children living in workless households by 5% between spring 2005 and spring 2008;
- to increase the proportion of Parents with Care on Income Support and income-based Jobseeker's Allowance who receive maintenance for their children to 65% by March 2008;
- abolition of the 'double debt' rule and lowering of the repayment rate for Social Fund budgeting loans, together with work with the private and voluntary sectors to develop more affordable loans for those on low incomes;

⁶²⁷ Clare (2002).

⁶²⁸ Note that the threshold of what will count as 'material deprivation' has not yet been decided.

- a long-term aspiration to improve financial support for large families; and
- work to assess whether there are systematic differences in the take-up of income-related benefits and tax credits by ethnic group.

There are also plans on housing which will affect children in particular:

- resources for 10,000 additional units of social housing per year by 2007–08;
- a continuing target to ensure that all social housing is 'decent' by 2010; and
- a new target to ensure that 70% of households in the private sector are living in a decent home by 2010 and a new PSA target highlighting children's needs.

On public services, the spending review announces:

- new, more challenging PSA floor targets to drive up standards in schools located in deprived areas, with monitoring of the bottom 10–20% of educational under-achievers and of the most vulnerable groups, and a review to ensure such schools are treated equitably and resources are used efficiently;
- expanded parenting support, with help at key transition points for children;
- further work on transport accessibility planning and the bus subsidy review;
- work on the evidence base on health care and public health issues for children from lower socio-economic groups, and a PSA target on childhood obesity; and
- continued commitment to early intervention for young offenders; pilots of women's community sentences for female ex-offenders; sentence reform to try to ensure that fewer children of offenders are separated from their parents.

There is further progress on childcare and early years' provision:

- new targets for the Sure Start Unit to increase Ofsted-registered childcare by 10%; increase take-up of formal childcare by lower-income working families by 50%, and introduce by April 2005 a light-touch childcare approval scheme;
- plans to set up 2,500 children's centres by 2008 (beyond the commitment to a children's centre in each of the 20% most disadvantaged wards in England);⁶²⁹
- piloting of free part-time early education for 12,000 two year olds in disadvantaged areas;
- providing at least an extra 120,000 new childcare places by 2008, and additional childcare support for at least 2,000 very disadvantaged children; and
- increased levels of investment in childcare, and a commitment to publishing a ten-year strategy for childcare in the Pre-Budget Report this year.

⁶²⁹ This is from the spending review; the child poverty review mentions 1,700 children's centres, i.e. one in each of the 20% most disadvantaged wards in England, by 2007–08.

The government is also setting up a 'child poverty accord' with the Local Government Association to support further co-ordination between central and local government and the voluntary sector. Whilst we have obviously not had the opportunity to study these proposals in detail, or to analyse their potential impact, they clearly add up to an impressive body of targets, intentions and more specific proposals, many of which relate to the issues of particular focus in this report.

Sources for postscript (not included in bibliography):

HM Treasury (2004), Child Poverty Review, The Stationery Office.

HM Treasury (2004), 2004 Spending Review: Security, stability and opportunity for all – Investing for Britain's long-term future, New public spending plans 2005–2008, The Stationery Office.

Various other documents were published at the same time, including HM Treasury (2004) *Spending Review: Public Service Agreements 2005-2008*, The Stationery Office.

Bibliography

Acheson, Sir D. (chair) (1998), Independent Inquiry into Inequalities in Health, The Stationery Office.

Adam, S. and Brewer, M. (2004), Supporting Families: The financial costs and benefits of children since 1975, The Policy Press.

Adelman, L., Middleton, S. and Ashworth, K. (2003), *Britain's Poorest Children: Severe and persistent poverty and social exclusion*, Save the Children.

Alcohol Concern (2001), 'Fact Sheet on Alcopops'.

Allen, C., Milner, J. and Price, D. (2002), Home is Where the Start is: The housing and urban experiences of visually impaired children, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Allott and Lomax (2000a), *Urban Street Activity in 20 mph Zones: Ayres Road, Old Trafford, Final Zone Report*, Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions.

Allott and Lomax (2000b), *Urban Street Activity in 20 mph Zones: Royton, Oldham, Final Zone Report*, Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions.

Allott and Lomax (2000c), *Urban Street Activity in 20 mph Zones: Seedley, Salford, Final Zone Report*, Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions.

Ambrose, P. (2004), 'Defining poverty – a revisitation', SPA News, June.

Association of London Government (2003), Funding a Better Future.

ATD Fourth World, (1996), *Talk With Us, Not At Us: How to Develop Partnerships Between Families in Poverty and Professionals*, ATD Fourth World.

Atkins, W.S. (2003), Local Authority Survey: Final report, Commission for Integrated Transport.

Atkinson, M., Kinder, K. and Doherty, P. (2003), *On Track: A qualitative study of the early impacts of services*, Research Report 473, Department for Education and Skills.

Audit Commission (2002a), *Special Educational Needs: A mainstream issue*, The Stationery Office; http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/reports/AC-REPORT.asp?CatID=PRESS-CENTRE&ProdID=D3265D20-FD7D-11d6-B211-0060085F8572.

Audit Commission (2002b), Statutory Assessment and Statements of SEN: In need of review?, The Stationery Office.

Audit Commission (2003), Services for Disabled Children: Review of services for disabled children and their families, The Stationery Office.

Barker, J., Smith, F., Morrow, V., Weller, S., Hey, V. and Harwin, J. (2003), *The Impact of Out of School Care: A qualitative study examining the views of children, families and playworkers*, Research Report 446, Department for Education and Skills.

Barnes, J., Broomfield, K., Forst, M., Harper, G., McLeod, A., Knowles, J. and Leyland, A. (2003), *Characteristics of Sure Start Local Programme Areas: Rounds 1 to 4*, National Evaluation Summary and Report 03, June, Sure Start.

Barnes, M. and Willitts, M. with Anderson, T., Chaplin, J., Collins, D., Groben, S., Morris, M., Noble, J., Phillips, M., and Sneade, I. (2004), *Families and Children in Britain: Findings from the 2002 Families and Children Study (FACS)*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 206, Corporate Document Services.

Barrett, H. (2003), *Parenting Programmes for Families at Risk*, National Family and Parenting Institute.

Bhattacharyya, G., Ison, L. and Blair, M. (2003), ethnic minority Attainment and Participation in Education and Training: The evidence, Research Topic Paper 01-03, Department for Education and Skills.

Becher, H. and Husain, F. (2003), Supporting ethnic minority Families: South Asian Hindus and Muslims in Britain – developments in family support, National Family and Parenting Institute.

Bell, D. (2003), 'Access and achievement in urban education: ten years on', speech to the Fabian Society.

Belsky, J. and Vondra, J. (1989), 'Lessons from child abuse: the determinants of parenting', in D. Cicchetti and V. Carlson (eds.), *Child Maltreatment: Theory and research on the causes and consequences of child abuse and neglect*, Cambridge University Press.

Bennett, F. (2002), 'Gender implications of recent social security reforms', Fiscal Studies, 23:4, pp. 559–584.

Bennett, F. with Roberts, M. (2004), From Input to Influence: Participatory approaches to research and inquiry into poverty, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Beresford, B. and Oldman, C. (2002), *Housing Matters: National evidence relating to disabled children and their housing*, The Policy Press for Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Berthoud, R. (2001), 'A childhood in poverty: persistent versus transitory poverty', *New Economy*, spring 2001.

Bertram, T., Pascal, C., Bokhari, S., Gaspar, M. and Holtermann, S. (2002), *Early Excellence Centre Pilot Programme Report 2000–1*, Research Report 361, Department for Education and Skills.

Biddulph, M. (2001), Home Zones: A planning and design handbook, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Black, Sir D. (chair) (1980), *Inequalities in Health: Report of a research working group*, Department of Health and Social Security.

Blackwell, T. (2003), 'Work and Child Poverty Briefing Paper', End Child Poverty and the Work Foundation.

Bradshaw, J. (ed.), (2001), Poverty: The outcomes for children, National Children's Bureau.

Bradshaw, J. (2001a), 'Introduction', in J. Bradshaw (ed.), Poverty: *The outcomes for children*, National Children's Bureau.

Bradshaw, J. (2001b), 'Conclusions', in J. Bradshaw (ed.), *Poverty: The outcomes for children*, National Children's Bureau.

Bradshaw, J., (2001c), 'Child poverty under Labour', in G. Fimister (ed.), *An End in Sight? Tackling child poverty in the UK*, Child Poverty Action Group.

Bradshaw, J. (ed.) (2002), The Wellbeing of Children in the UK, Save the Children.

Bradshaw, J. and Finch, N. (2002), A Comparison of Child Benefit Packages in 22 Countries, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 174, Corporate Document Services.

Bradshaw, J. and Finch, N. (2004), 'Housing benefits in 22 countries', *Benefits*, vol. 12, issue 2, June, pp. 87–94.

Bradshaw, J., Kemp, P., Baldwin, S. and Rowe, A. (2004), *The Drivers of Social Exclusion: A review of the literature*, Social Exclusion Unit, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

Bradshaw, J. and Bennett, F. (2003), *Report on the UK National Action Plan on Social Inclusion*, 2001–2003, University of York, for European Commission.

Bradshaw, J., Finch, N., Kemp, P.A., Mayhew, E. and Williams, J.. (2003), *Gender and Poverty in Britain*, Equal Opportunities Commission.

Brewer, M. (2003), What do the Child Poverty Targets Mean for the Child Tax Credit? An update, Briefing Note no. 41, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Brewer, M. (2004), *Will the Government hit its Child Poverty Target in 2004–05?*, Briefing Note no. 47, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Brewer, M. and Clark, T. (2003), *The Impact on Incentives of Five Years of Social Security Reforms in the UK*, WP02/14, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Brewer, M., Goodman, A. and Shephard, A. (2003), *How has Child Poverty Changed under the Labour Government? An update*, Briefing Note no. 32, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Brewer, M. and Goodman, A. (2003), 'What really happened to child poverty in the UK under Labour's first term?', *Economic Journal*, June.

Brewer, M., Goodman, A., Myck, M., Shaw, J. and Shephard, A. (2004), *Poverty and Inequality in Britain: 2004*, Commentary 96, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

British Medical Association (2002), Asylum Seekers: Meeting their healthcare needs.

British Medical Association (2003), Adolescent Health; http://www.bma.org.uk

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979), *The Ecology of Human Development: Experiments in nature and design*, Harvard University Press.

Brophy, J. (2003), Significant Harm: Child litigation in a multi-cultural setting, Research Series 1/03, Lord Chancellor's Department.

Brunton, G., Harden, A., Rees, R., Kavanagh, J., Oliver, S. and Oakley A. (2003), *Children and Physical Activity: A systematic review of barriers and facilitators*, Institute of Education.

Bryson, A., 'Lone mothers' earnings', in R. Ford and J. Millar (eds.) (1998), *Private Lives and Public Responses: Lone parenthood and future policy in the UK*, Policy Studies Institute.

Buchanan, A. (1995), 'Young people's views on being looked after in out-of-home care under the Children Act 1989', Children and Youth Services Review, Vol. 17, 5/6, pp. 681–696.

Buchanan, A. (1996), Cycles of Child Maltreatment: Facts, fallacies and interventions, John Wiley and Sons.

Buchanan, A. (1999), What Works for Troubled Children, Barnardo's.

Buchanan, A. (2003), 'Safeguarding children: social policy and the global perspective', paper to the ISCPAN Conference, Warsaw.

Buchanan, A., Hunt, J., Bretherton, H. and Bream, V. (2001), Families in Conflict: Perspectives of children and parents on the Family Court Welfare Service, The Policy Press.

Buchanan, A., Katz, A. and McCoy, A. (1999), Young Men Speak Out: Factors associated with depression and suicidal behaviour, Samaritans.

Buchanan, A. and Hudson, B. (2000), *Promoting the Emotional Wellbeing of Children*, Oxford University Press.

Buchanan, A., Ritchie, C., and Bream, V. (2002), Seen and Heard 2: Wiltshire Family Services study 2001, Barnardo's/Wiltshire County Council.

Butler, I., Scanlan, L., Robinson, M., Douglas, G. and Murch, M. (2003), *Divorcing Children: Children's experience of their parents' divorce*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Butt, H. and Box, L. (1998), Family Centred: A study of the use of family centres by Black families, Racial Equality Unit.

Callender, C. (2000), *The Barriers to Childcare Provision*, Research Report 231, Department for Education and Employment.

Campbell, S. B. (1995), 'Behaviour problems in pre-school children: a review of recent research', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 36, 1, pp. 113 –149.

Cappellari, L. and Jenkins, S.P. (2002), 'Modelling low income transitions', *ISER Working Papers no. 2002–8*, Institute for Social and Economic Research, University of Essex.

Carr-Hill, R. and Lavers, B. (2000), 'New Labour, new poor' in J. Bradshaw and R. Sainsbury (eds.), *Experiencing Poverty*, Ashgate Publishing, pp. 181–199.

Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion (2003), CASE Annual Report 2003, London School of Economics.

Centre for Sustainable Energy (2002), Rural Fuel Poverty: Defining a research agenda.

Chappell, T., Schafer, J. and Stewart-Brown, S. (2003), Rose Hill – Littlemore Sure Start: The first two years: A report of the local evaluation, August 2000 – May 2002, Rose Hill – Littlemore Sure Start; available at http://www.hsru.ox.ac.uk.

Chesshire, J. (2002), *Initial Review of Main Fuel Poverty Research and Publications*, Department of Trade and Industry.

Cheung, S-Y. and Buchanan, A. (1997), 'High malaise scores in adulthood of children and young people who have been in care', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 38, pp. 575–580.

Children and Young People's Unit (2001), *Learning to Listen: Core principles for the involvement of children and young people*, Department for Education and Skills.

Children and Young People's Unit (2002a), Annual Report of the Children and Young People's Unit, Department for Education and Skills.

Children and Young People's Unit (2002b), Children's Fund Quarterly Statistics; www.cypu.gov.uk

Chitty, C., Edwards, T., Glatter, R., Maden, M., Pring, R., Tomlinson, S., West, A. and Whitty, G. (2001), 'Comprehensive education: building on success', Briefing Paper, 19 July, Campaign for State Education.

Chote, R., Emmerson, C. and Simpson, H. (eds.) (2003), *IFS Green Budget 2003*, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Citizens Advice (2004), Evidence, January.

Clare, S. (2002), Dreams, Struggles and Survival, Children's Society.

Clark, T. and Leicester, A. (2004), 'Inequality and two decades of British tax and benefit reforms', *Fiscal Studies*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 129–158.

Cline, T., de Abreu, G., Fihosy, C., Gray, H., Lambert, H. and Neale, J. (2002), *ethnic minority Pupils in Mainly White Schools*, Research Brief 365, Department for Education and Skills.

Coldwell, M., Stephenson, K., Fathallah-Caillau, I. and Coldron, J. (2003), *Evaluation of Home School Agreements*, Research Brief 455, Department for Education and Skills.

Cole-Hamilton, I. and Gill, T. (2002), Making the Case for Play: Building policies and strategies for school-age children, National Children's Bureau.

Cole-Hamilton, I., Harrop, A. and Street, C. (2002a), *The Planning and Location of Play Provision in England: Mapping exercise*, New Policy Institute.

Cole-Hamilton, I., Harrop, A. and Street, C. (2002b), *The Value of Children's Play and Play Provision: Systematic review of the literature*, New Policy Institute.

Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (2003a), *Make Space: Working for better public spaces in our towns and cities*.

Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (2003b), press release, 6 November.

Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (2003c), *Thinking Space: CABE Space Work Plan 2003/04*.

Commission for Local Administration in England (2002), Annual Report 2001–02.

Commission on Poverty, Participation and Power (2000), *Listen Hear: The right to be heard*, The Policy Press in association with UK Coalition against Poverty.

Compas, B. E. (1995), 'Promoting successful coping during adolescence', in M. Rutter (ed.), *Psychosocial Disturbances in Young People: Challenges for prevention*, Cambridge University Press.

Constitutional Affairs Select Committee (2004), *Civil Legal Aid: Adequacy of Provision*, HC 391-I, Fourth Report, Session 2003–2004, The Stationery Office.

Contact a Family (2002), Contact a Family childcare survey.

Cooper, H. (1994), 'Homework research and policy: a review of the literature', *Research/Practice* 2(2); http://education.umn.edu/CAREI/Reports/Rpractice/Summer94/homework.htm.

Cooper, P. (2001), We Can Work it Out: What works in educating pupils with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties outside mainstream classrooms, Barnardo's.

Corlyon, J. and Meadows, P. (2004), *Methods Paper: Defining a local childcare market*, Research Report 526MP, Department for Education and Skills.

Council for Disabled Children (2003), Analysis of the Quality Protects 2002 Management Action Plans: Services for disabled children and their families; http://www.ncb.org.uk

Counterpoint Research (2001), *Young People's Perceptions of Contraception and Seeking Contraceptive Advice*, Department of Health.

Craig, G. (2004), A Promising Start? The national evaluation of the Local Network Fund for Children and Young People, Interim Report, Research Report 520, Department for Education and Skills Publications; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/research.

Daniels, H., Cole, T., Sellman, E., Sutton, J., Visser, J. with Bedward, J. (2003), *Study of Young People Permanently Excluded from School*, Research Report 405, Department for Education and Skills.

Daycare Trust (2003), Towards Universal Childcare.

Dennis, J. (2002), A Case for Change: How refugee children in England are missing out: First findings from the Monitoring Project of the Refugee Children's Consortium, Children's Society, Save the Children's and Refugee Council.

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2002), Playing Fields Statistics.

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2003), *Planning for Play: Playing fields and positive gains for sport 2001/02*.

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2004), *Getting Serious about Play: A review of children's play*.

Department for Education and Employment (1998), *Meeting the Childcare Challenge*, Cm 3959, The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Employment (1997), Excellence in Schools, Cm 3681, The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Skills (2000), Don't Suffer in Silence: An anti-bullying pack for schools.

Department for Education and Skills (2001) National Curriculum Assessments of 7, 11 and 14 year olds in England – 2001, TSO; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SBU/b000053/index.shtml

DfES (2002) Childcare and Early Education Facts London; DFES

Department for Education and Skills (2002a), *Permanent Exclusions from Maintained Schools in England 2001/02*, B09/02,TSO; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SBU/booo427/index.shtml

Department for Education and Skills (2002b), *Special Educational Needs in Schools in England: January 2002*, The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Skills (2002c), Participation in Education, Training and Employment by 16–18 year olds in England: 2000 and 2001, SFR 16/2002, July 2002.

Department for Education and Skills (2002d), Statistics of Education: Pupil progress by pupil characteristics: 2002 (internet publication only).

Department for Education and Skills (2003a), School Playing Fields: School sports improvements.

Department for Education and Skills (2003b), Changing Futures: Annual report of the Children and Young Peoples Unit.

Department for Education and Skills (2003c), 'New support service for parents and carers', *Newsreport*, 31 December; http://www.dfes.gov.ukpns/DisplayPN.cgi?pn_id=2003_0262

Department for Education and Skills (2003d), *Provision for Children under Five Years of Age in England – January 2003*, November (internet publication only); http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsqateway/DB/SBU/b000430/bulletintext2003final.pdf

Department for Education and Skills (2003e), Bullying: A charter for action.

Department for Education and Skills (2003f), Aiming High: Raising the achievement of ethnic minority pupils.

Department for Education and Skills (2003g), Statistics of Education: Special educational needs in England: January 2003, The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Skills (2003h), The Future of Higher Education, Cm 5735, TSO.

Department for Education and Skills (2003i), *School Workforce in England* (Including Pupil:teacher and Pupil:adult ratios); http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000411/sfr23-2003.pdf.

Department for Education and Skills (2003j), *Pupil Absence in Schools in England: 2002/03* (provisional), SFR 24/2003, September 2003.

Department for Education and Skills (2003k), Education and training expenditure since 1993–1994, Statistical Bulletin B04/03, TSO, August.

Department for Education and Skills (2003l), Class Sizes in Maintained Schools in England.

Department for Education and Skills (2003m), GCSE/GNVQ Results for Young People in England, 2002/03 (Provisional).

Department for Education and Skills (2003m), National Curriculum Assessments of 7, 11 and 14 year olds in England; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000286/sfr37-2001.pdf

Department for Education and Skills (2003o), *School Workforce in England* (Including Pupil:Teacher and Pupil:Adult Ratios).

Department for Education and Skills (2003p), *Statistics of Education: Children adopted from care in England*, 2002–2003, Issues 07/03, November, The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Skills (2004a), Statistics of Education: Referrals, assessments and children and young people on child protection registers – Year Ending 31 March 2003, The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Skills (2004b), Statistics of Education: Outcome Indicators for Looked After Children: Twelve months to 30 September 2003, England, The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Skills (2004c), *Marriage and Relationships Support Grant*; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/marriageandrelationshipsupport/grant0304.shtml

Department for Education and Skills (2004d), Every Child Matters: Next steps.

Department for Education and Skills (2004e), Children in Need in England: Results of a survey of activity and expenditure as reported by Local Authority Social Services' Children and Families Teams for a survey week in February 2003: Local Authority tables and further national analysis (internet only publication); http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/VOL/v000451/index.shtml

Department for Education and Skills (2004f), Aiming High: Understanding the educational needs of ethnic minority pupils in mainly white schools.

Department for Education and Skills (2004g), Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant: Good practice publications.

Department for Education and Skills (2004h), Statistics of Education: Outcome Indicators for Looked After Children: Twelve months to 30 September 2003, London, The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Skills (2004i), *National Curriculum Assessment and GCSE/GNVQ Attainment by Pupil Characteristics, in England, 2002 (final) and 2003 (provisional)*, SFR 04/2004, 24 February; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/.

Department for Education and Skills (2004j), *Permanent Exclusions from Schools and Exclusion Appeals, England 2002/2003 (provisional)*, SFR 16/2004, May 2004; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000465/index.shtml.

Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2003), *Annual Report 2003*, Cm 5919, The Stationery Office.

Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and Department of Trade and Industry (2004), *The UK Fuel Poverty Strategy: 2nd annual progress report – 2004*.

Department for Transport (2000), Tomorrow's Roads – Safer for Everyone.

Department for Transport (2001), Home Zone Challenge: Guidance to prospective bidders.

Department for Transport (2003a), Annual Report 2003, Cm 5907, The Stationery Office.

Department for Transport (2003b), Road Casualties Great Britain: 2002 Annual Report.

Department for Transport (2003c), Road Casualties in Great Britain: Experimental statistics.

Department for Transport (2003d), *Autumn Performance Report 2003*, Cm 6045, The Stationery Office.

Department for Work and Pensions (2002a), Building Choice and Responsibility.

Department for Work and Pensions (2002b), Opportunity for All: Fourth annual report 2002, TSO.

Department for Work and Pensions (2003a), *Opportunity for All: Fifth annual report 2003*, Cm 5956, The Stationery Office.

Department for Work and Pensions (2003b), Measuring Child Poverty.

Department for Work and Pensions (2003c), UK National Action Plan on Social Inclusion 2003–2005.

Department for Work and Pensions (2003d), Memorandum (CP 30) submitted to Work and Pensions Select Committee Inquiry into Child Poverty.

Department for Work and Pensions and HM Treasury (2003), Full Employment in Every Region.

Department for Work and Pensions (2004a), *Households Below Average Income 1994/95–2002/03*, Corporate Document Services; http://www.dwp.gov.uk/asd/hbai/asp.

Department for Work and Pensions (2004b), Report on Child Poverty in the UK: Reply by the Government to the Second Report of the Work and Pensions Select Committee, Session 2003–04 [HC 85-1], Cm 6200, The Stationery Office.

Department of Education and Employment (1998), *Meeting the Childcare Challenge*, Green Paper, Cm 3959, The Stationery Office.

Department of Health (various years), *Health Survey for England*, available on DoH website: http://www.doh.gov.uk/stats/trends1.htm.

Department of Health (1999), Saving Lives: Our Healthier Nation, White Paper, Cm 4386, The Stationery Office.

Department of Health (2000), *Quality Protects: disabled children, numbers and categories – Model to calculate the numbers of disabled children in local population and categorisation of needs*; http://www.dfes.gov.uk/qualityprotects/info/publications.

Department of Health (2002), Social Services Performance Assessment Framework Indicators 2001–2002.

Department of Social Security (1998a), New Ambitions for Our Country: A new contract for welfare, Green Paper, Cm 3805, The Stationery Office.

Department of Social Security (1998b), *Children First: A new approach to child support*, Green Paper, Cm 3992, TSO.

Department of Social Security (1999), A New Contract for Welfare: Children's rights and parents' responsibilities, White Paper, Cm 4349, TSO.

Department of Trade and Industry (2003a), Fuel Poverty Monitoring – Indicators.

Department of Trade and Industry (2003b), *Departmental Report 2003*, Cm 5916, The Stationery Office.

Desforges, C. and Abouchaar, A. (2003), *The Impact of Parental Involvement, Parental Support and Family Education on Pupil Achievement and Adjustment: A review of the literature,* Research Report 433, Department for Education and Skills.

Dex, S. (2003), Families and Work in the 21st Century, Joseph Rowntree Foundation; www.jrf.org.uk

Dickens, R. and Manning, A. (2002), *Has the national minimum wage reduced UK wage inequality*, DP533, Centre for Economic Performance, London School of Economics.

Doherty, P., Hall, M. and Kinder, K.J. (2003a), *On Track Thematic Report: Assessment, referral and hard to reach groups*, Research Report 475, Department for Education and Skills..

Doherty, P., Stott, A., and Kinder, K. (2003b), *Delivering Services to Hard to Reach Families in On Track Areas: Definition, consultation and needs assessment*, Home Office Development and Practice Report 15, National Foundation for Educational Research.

Dornan, P. (ed.) (2004), *Ending Child Poverty by 2020: The first five years*, Child Poverty Action Group.

Earl, L., Watson, N., Levin, B., Leithwood, K., Fullan, M. and Torrance, N. with Jantzi, D., Mascall, B. and Volante, L. (2003), *Watching and Learning 3: Final report of the external evaluation of England's national literacy and numeracy strategies*, Department for Education and Skills.

Edward, S. and Malcolm, H. (2002), The Causes and Effects of Truancy, Research in Education, *SCRE Newsletter No.71*, Winter 2002.

End Child Poverty and Shelter (2002), Child Poverty, Housing and Homelessness.

Energy Saving Trust with Centre for Sustainable Energy and National Energy Action (2003), Warm Zones External Evaluation: First annual report.

Engels, R., Dekovic, M. and Meeus, W. (2000), 'Parenting, social skills and friendships in adolescents', *Kind-en-Adolescent*, 21(2), pp. 106–124.

Ermisch, J., Francesconi, M. and Pevalin, D.J. (2001), *Outcomes for Children of Poverty*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 158, Corporate Document Services.

Eslea, D. (2003) Bullied at School, Scared on the Streets, University of Lancaster; www.uclan.ac.uk/facs/science/psychol/bully/files/coventry/pdf

Evangelou, M. and Sylva, K. (2003), *The Effects of the Peers Early Educational Partnership (PEEP) on Children's Developmental Progress*, Research Report 489, Department for Education and Skills.

Evans, M., (2001), Welfare to Work: The organisation of opportunity – lessons from abroad, CASEReport 15, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Evans, M., Millar, J. and Sarre, S. (2003), New Deal for Lone Parents: Second synthesis report of the national evaluation, W163, Department for Work and Pensions.

Family Fund Trust (2003), Family Fund Annual Activity Report.

Farrell, C. and O'Connor, W. (2003), Low Income Families and Household Spending, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 192, Corporate Document Services.

Fawcett, B., Featherstone, B. and Goddard, J. (forthcoming), *Contemporary Child Care Policy and Practice*, Palgrave.

Fergusson, D. M. and Lynskey, M. T. (1996), 'Adolescent resilience to family adversity', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 9(4), pp. 483–94.

Ferri, E., Bynner, J. and Wadsworth, J. (2003), *Changing Britain, Changing Lives: Three generations at the turn of the century*, University of London.

Fitz, J., Taylor, C. and Gorard, S. (2003), 'Memorandum submitted to the Select Committee on Education and Skills'.

Fitzgerald, R., Finch, S., Blake, M., Perry, J. and Bell, A. (2002), *Fifth Survey of Three and Four Year Old Children and Their Use of Early Years' Services*, Research Brief 351, Department for Education and Skills.

Frosh, S., Phoenix, A. and Pattman, R. (2002), *Young Masculinities: Understanding boys in contemporary society*, Palgrave.

Fuel Poverty Advisory Group (2003a), Estimating The Costs of Tackling Fuel Poverty In England.

Fuel Poverty Advisory Group (2003b), First Annual Report 2002/3, Department of Trade and Industry.

Gardner, R. (2002), Supporting Families: Child protection in the community, John Wiley and Sons.

Genn, H. (1999), 'Paths to justice: what do people think about going to law?', in R. Messick (ed.), Sourcebook on Access to Justice, Hart Publishing.

Ghate, D. and Hazel, N. (2002), *Parenting in Poor Environments: Stress, support and coping*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers for Policy Research Bureau.

Ghate, D. and Ramella, M. (2002), *Positive Parenting: The national evaluation of the Youth Justice Board's Parenting Programme*, Youth Justice Board/Policy Research Bureau.

Gillborn, D. (1996), 'Exclusions from school', Viewpoint No.5, Institute of Education.

Gillborn, D. and Mirza, H.S. (2000), Educational Inequalities: Mapping race, class and gender, Ofsted.

Goode, J., Callender, C. and Lister, R. (1998), *Purse or Wallet? Gender inequalities and income distribution within families on benefits*, Policy Studies Institute.

Goodman, A. and Webb, S. (1994), For Richer, for Poorer: The changing distribution of income in the United Kingdom, 1961–1991, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Goodman, A. and Oldfield, Z. (2004), *Permanent Differences? Income and expenditure inequality in the 1990s and 2000s*, Institute for Fiscal Studies.

Gordon, D., Adelman, L., Ashworth, K., Bradshaw, J., Levitas, R., Middleton, S., Pantazis, C., Patsios, D., Payne, S., Townsend, P. and Williams, J. (2000), *Poverty and Social Exclusion in Britain*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Gore, T. and Smith, N. (2001), *Patterns of Educational Attainment in the British Coalfields*, Research Report 314, Department for Education and Skills.

Graham, D., Glaister, S. and Anderson, R. (2002), *Child Pedestrian Casualties in England: The effect of area deprivation*, Institute for Public Policy Research.

Green, A. (1994), The Geography of Poverty and Wealth, Institute of Employment Research.

Grayling, A., Hallam, K., Graham, D., Anderson, R. and Glaister, S. (2002), *Streets Ahead – Safe and liveable streets for children*, Institute for Public Policy Research.

Green, A. (1994), *The Geography of Poverty and Wealth*, Institute of Employment Research, Warwick. (Part of the Joseph Rowntree Foundation Inquiry into Income and Wealth, 1995.)

Gregg, P., Harkness, S. and Machin, S. (1999), *Child Development and Family Income*, York Publishing Services Ltd. for Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Gregg, P. and Harkness, S. (2003), Welfare Reform and Lone Parents' Employment in the UK, Working Paper 03/072, Centre for Management and Public Organisation, University of Bristol.

Gregg, P. and Washbrook, E. (2003), *The Effects of Early Maternal Employment on Child Development in the UK: Preliminary results under project 'Understanding the impact of poverty on children of the 90s'*, CMP Working Paper Series no. 03/070, Department of Economics, University of Bristol.

Gundara, J., Jones, C. and Owen, C. (2000), Working Towards Inclusive Education: Aspects of good practice for Gypsy/Traveller pupils, Research Brief 238, Department for Education and Employment.

Hall, K., Bance, J. and Denton, N. (2004), *Diversity and Difference: ethnic minority mothers and childcare*, Women and Equality Unit, Department of Trade and Industry.

Hallam, K. (2002), Local Transport Plan Review and 20mph Zone Survey, Institute for Public Policy Research.

Halsey, K., Johnson, A., Kinder, K. and Fletcher-Morgan, C. (2003), *Evaluation of Truancy Sweep Follow-ups*, National Foundation for Educational Research.

Hamlyn, B., Brooker, S., Oleinikova, K. and Wands, S. (2002), *Infant Feeding 2000*, The Stationery Office.

Hanson, T. L., McLanahan, S. and Thomson, E. (1997), 'Economic resources, parental practices, and children's well-being', in G. J. Duncan and J. Brooks-Gunn (eds.), *Consequences of Growing up Poor*, Russell Sage Foundation.

Harker, L. and Kendall, L. (2003), *An Equal Start: Improving support during pregnancy and the first 12 months*, Institute for Public Policy Research.

Harker, R., Dobel-Ober, D., Berridge, D. and Sinclair, R. (2004), *Taking Care of Education*, National Children's Bureau.

Harman, R. and Lyons, G. (2003), Short Term Skills Shortages in Delivering Local Transport Responsibilities, County Surveyors Society.

Harnden, A., Sheikh, A. and Stewart-Brown, S. (2002), 'Childhood determinants of adult health', in A. Harnden (ed.), *Key Aspects of Child Health Surveillance*, Royal College of General Practitioners.

Harries, T., La Valle, I. and Dickens, S. (2004), *Childcare: How local markets respond to national initiatives*, Research Report 526, Department for Education and Skills.

Heath, A. (2000), 'The political arithmetic tradition in the sociology of education', *Oxford Review of Education*, 26 (3&4), pp. 314–330.

Hills, J., Le Grand, J. and Piachaud, D. (eds.) (2002), *Understanding Social Exclusion*, Oxford University Press.

Hills, J. (2002), 'Does a focus on "social exclusion" change the policy response?', in J. Hills, J. Le Grand and D. Piachaud (eds.), *Understanding Social Exclusion*, Oxford University Press.

HM Treasury (2001), Tackling Child Poverty: Giving every child the best possible start in life – A Pre Budget Report document.

HM Treasury (2002a), Pre-Budget Report, November 2002, Cm 5664, The Stationery Office.

HM Treasury (2002b), 2002 Spending Review: Public Service Agreements 2003–2006, Cm 5571, The Stationery Office.

HM Treasury (2003a), *Pre-Budget Report: The strength to take the long-term decisions for Britain*, Cm 6042, The Stationery Office.

HM Treasury (2003b), Green Paper, Every Child Matters, Cm 5860, The Stationery Office.

HM Treasury (2004), Prudence with a Purpose: A Britain of stability and strength – Economic and Fiscal Strategy Report and Financial Statement and Budget Report, HC 301, The Stationery Office.

Hobcraft, J. (1999), 'Intergenerational and life-course transmission of social exclusion: influences of childhood poverty, family disruption and contact with the police', in Persistent Poverty and Lifetime Inequality, CASEReport 5 and H M Treasury Occasional Paper no 10.

Hobcraft, J. (2002), 'Social exclusion and the generations', in J. Hills, J. Le Grand and D. Piachaud (eds.), *Understanding Social Exclusion*, Oxford University Press.

Hobcraft, J. (2003), Continuity and Change in Pathways to Young Adult Disadvantage: Results from a British birth cohort, CASEpaper 66, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Hobcraft, J. (forthcoming, 2004), 'Parental, child and early adult legacies in the emergence of adult social exclusion: evidence on what matters from a British cohort', in P.L. Chase-Lansdale, K.E. Kiernan and R.J. Friedman (eds.), *The Potential for Change Across Lives and Generations:*Multidisciplinary perspectives, Cambridge University Press.

Home Office (1998), Supporting Families, consultation document, The Stationery Office.

Home Office (1999), The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry, Cm 4262, The Stationery Office.

Home Office (2002a), Race Equality in Public Services.

Home Office (2002b), Secure Borders, Safe Havens: Integration with diversity in modern Britain, White Paper, Cm 5387, The Stationery Office.

Home Office (2003), The Victoria Climbie Inquiry, Cm 5730, The Stationery Office.

Home Office (2004), British Crime Survey: Crime in England and Wales 2002/2003.

Housing Corporation (2002), Decent Homes: Assessing housing association properties against the decent homes standard, Sector Study 19.

Howarth, C., Kenway, P. and Palmer, G. (2001), *Responsibility for All: A national strategy for social inclusion*, New Policy Institute/Fabian Society.

Hughes, M. and Lloyd, E. (1996), 'Young people: stakeholders in the educational system', in H. Roberts and D. Sachdev (eds.), *Young People's Social Attitudes*, Barnardo's.

Hughes, M., Downie, A. and Sharma, N. (2000), Counting the Cost of Poverty, Barnardo's.

Impetus Consulting and Association for the Conservation of Energy (2003), A Review of English Local Authority Fuel Poverty Reports and Strategies.

Institute for Public Policy Research, Social Market Foundation, Policy Exchange, Scottish Council Foundation and Institute of Welsh Affairs (2004), *Overcoming Disadvantage: An agenda for the next 20 years*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Institute of Leisure and Amenity Management (2003), Public Parks.

Institute of Social and Economic Research (2004), The ISER Report 2003/4, University of Essex.

Jackson, S. (2002), 'Reducing risk and promoting resilience in vulnerable children', *IUC Journal of Social Work* issue 4; http://www.bemidjistate.edu/sw_journal/issue4/contents

Karoly, L.A., Greenwood, P.W., Everingham, S.S., Hoube, J., Kilburn, M.R., Rydell, C.P., Sanders, M. and Chiesa, J. (1998), *Investing in our Children: What we know and don't know about the costs and benefits of early childhood interventions*, RAND.

Kasparova, D., Marsh, A., Vegeris, S. and Perry, J. (2003), *Families and Children 2001: Work transitions and childcare*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 191, Corporate Document Services.

Katz, A., Buchanan, A. and Bream, V. (2002), *Thwarted Dreams: Young views from Bradford*, Young Voice

Katz, A., Buchanan, A. and Bream, V. (2001), *Bullying in Britain: Testimonies of teenagers*, Young Voice.

Kellard, K. (2002), 'Job retention and advancement in the UK: a developing agenda', *Benefits* 10(2), pp. 93–98.

Kempson, E., Collard, S. and Taylor, S. (2004a), *Experiences and Consequences of Being Refused a Community Care Grant*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 210, Corporate Document Services.

Kempson, E., McKay, S. and Willitts, M. (2004b), *Characteristics of Families in Debt and the Nature of Indebtedness*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 211, Corporate Document Services.

Kendall, L. (2004), *Excellence in Cities: Overview to December 2003*, Report 01/2004, National Foundation for Educational Research, P35.

Kendall, S., Kinder, K., Halsey, K., Fletcher-Morgan, C., White, R. and Brown, C. (2003), *An Evaluation of Alternative Education Initiatives*, Research Report 403, Department for Education and Skills.

Kendall, S., White, R. and Kinder, K. (2004), School Attendance and the Prosecution of Parents: Effects and effectiveness – Final report, National Foundation for Educational Research.

King's Fund (1997), London's Mental Health.

Klasen, S. (2001), Social exclusion, children and education: conceptual and measurement issues, University of Munich.

Klein, G. (2003), *Life Lines: NCC's agenda for affordable energy, water and telephone services*, National Consumer Council.

Kovacs, M. and Devlin, B. (1998), 'Internalising disorders in childhood', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 39, pp. 47–63.

Kralovec, E. and Buell, J. (2001), 'End homework now', Educational Leadership, 58, pp. 39-42.

La Valle, I., Arthur, S., Millward, C., Scott, J. and Claydon, M. (2002), *Happy Families? Atypical work and its influence on family life*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Lawless, P., Dabinett, G., Tyler, P. and Rhodes, J. (2001), *A Review of the Evidence Base for Regeneration Policy and Practice*, Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions.

Lawton, D. (1998), *Complex Numbers: Families with more than one disabled child*, Social Policy Research Unit, University of York.

Layfield, R., Chinn, L. and Nicholls, D. (2003), *Pilot Home Zone Schemes: Evaluation of The Methleys, Leeds*, TRL586, Transport Research Laboratory.

Leatherman, S. and Sutherland, K. (2003), The Quest for Quality in the NHS, Nuffield Trust.

Liabo, K., Lucas, P. and Roberts, H. (2003), 'Can traffic calming measures achieve the Children's Fund objective of reducing inequalities in child health?', *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, March 2003 88(3), pp. 235–36.

Lister, R. (2004), 'Ending child poverty: a matter of human rights, citizenship and social justice', in P. Dornan (ed.), *Ending Child Poverty by 2020: The first five years*, Child Poverty Action Group, pp. 59–67.

Little, T.D. (2002), 'Agency in development', in W.W. Hartup and R.K. Silbereisen (eds.), *Growing Points in Developmental Science: An introduction*, Psychology Press, xiv, 370 pp. 223–240.

Little, T.D., Hawley, P., Heinrich, C., and Marsland, K. (2002), 'Three views of the "agentic" self: a developmental synthesis', in E.L. Deci and R.M. Ryan (eds.), *Handbook of Self-determination Research*, University of Rochester Press, pp. 389–404.

Local Government Association (2003), Tackling Pockets of Deprivation: Lessons from local authorities' social inclusion work.

Lonsdale, J. (2004), 'Dealing with the complexity of benefit regulations', *Benefits*, vol. 12, issue 2, June, pp. 135–136.

Lord Chancellor's Department (2002), Moving Forward Together: A proposed strategy for marriage and relationship support for 2002 and beyond.

Lupton, R. (2001), *Places Apart?*, CASEReport 14, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Lupton, R. and Tunstall, R. (2002), *Is Targeting Deprived Areas an Effective Means to Reach Poor People?*, CASEpaper 70, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Lupton, R. (2003a), 'Neighbourhood Effects': Can we measure them and does it matter?, CASEpaper 73, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Lupton, R. (2003b), *Poverty Street: The dynamics of neighbourhood decline and renewal*, The Policy Press.

Lydon, R. and Walker, I. (2003), *Welfare-to-work, Wages and Wage Growth*, Working Paper 3, Inland Revenue.

Machin, S., McNally, S. and Meghir, C. (2003), *Excellence in Cities: An evaluation of an education policy in disadvantaged areas*, Department for Education and Skills.

Macpherson, Sir W. (1999), Stephen Lawrence Inquiry, Cmnd 4262, The Stationery Office.

Malcolm, H., Wilson, V., Davidson, J. and Kirk, S. (2003), *Absence from School: A study of its causes and effects in seven LEAs*, Research Report 424, Department for Education and Skills.

Marsh, A. and Rowlingson, K. (2002), Low/Moderate Income Families in Britain: Changes in 1999–2000, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 165, Corporate Document Services.

Marsh, A., McKay, S., Smith, A. and Stephenson, A. (2001), *Low-income Families in Britain: Work, welfare and social security in 1999*, Department of Social Security Research Report 138, Corporate Document Services.

Marsh, A. and Perry, J. (2003), *Family Change 1999–2001*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 180, Corporate Document Services.

Marsh, A. and Vegeris, S. (2004), 'Employment and child poverty', in P. Dornan (ed.), *Ending Child Poverty: The first five years*, Child Poverty Action Group, pp. 46–58.

Marzano, R. L. (2003), What Works in Schools: Translating research into action, Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Matrix Research and Consultancy (2004), *An Independent Review of the Community Legal Service*, Department for Constitutional Affairs.

McCarthy, P., Whitman, J., Walker, J. and Coombes, M. (2003), *Targeting Initiatives: Diverting children and young people from crime and antisocial behaviour*, Research Report 476, Department for Education and Skills.

McCord, J. (1992), 'The Cambridge-Somerville Study: a pioneering longitudinal experimental study of delinquency prevention', in J. McCord and R.E. Tremblay (eds.), *Preventing Antisocial Behavior: Interventions from birth through adolescence*, Guildford Press, pp. 196–206.

McKay, S. (2003), Working Families' Tax Credit in 2001, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 181, Corporate Document Services.

McKay, S. (2004), Lone Parents in London: Quantitative analysis of differences in paid work, In-house Research Report 136, Department for Work and Pensions.

McLeod, J. and Shanahan, M. (1993), 'Poverty, parenting and children's mental health', *American Sociological Review*, 58(3), pp. 351–66.

Melhuish, E.C. (2004), A Literature Review of the Impact of Early Years Provision on Young Children, with Emphasis Given to Children from Disadvantaged Backgrounds, National Audit Office.

Meltzer, H. and Gatward, R. with Goodman, R. and Ford, T. (2000), *The Mental Health of Children and Adolescents in Great Britain*, Office for National Statistics/The Stationery Office.

Meltzer, H., Gatward, R., Corbin, T., Goodman, R. and Ford, T. (2003), *The Mental Health of Young People Looked After by Local Authorities in England*, The Stationery Office; http://www.statistics.gov.uk/downloads/theme_health/ChildrensMentalHlth.pdf

Messick, R. (ed.) (1999), Sourcebook on Access to Justice, Hart Publishing.

Metcalf, D. (2002), 'The national minimum wage: coverage, impact and future', Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 64, Supplement 0305-9049, pp. 567–582.

Micklewright, J. (2002), *Social Exclusion and Children: A European view for a US debate*, CASEPaper 51, Centre for the Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Middleton, S., Ashworth, K. and Braithwaite, I. (1997), *Small Fortunes: Spending on children, childhood poverty and parental sacrifice*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Millar, J. and Ridge, T. (2001), *Families, Poverty, Work and Care*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 153, Corporate Document Services.

Millar, J. in D. Thurley (ed.) (2003), Working to Target: Can policies deliver paid work for 7 in 10 lone parents?, One Parent Families.

MORI Social Research Institute (2002a), *Streets of Shame*, Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment.

MORI Social Research Institute (2002b), The Rising Prominence of Liveability.

Morris, K. and Spicer, N. (2003), *The National Evaluation of the Children's Fund: Early messages from developing practice*, University of Birmingham; http://www.ne-cf.org

Mumford, K. and Power, A. (2003), *Eastenders: Family and community in East London*, The Policy Press.

National Association for the Care and Resettlement of Offenders (2003), Missing Out: Key findings from NACRO's research on children missing school.

National Audit Office (2003), *Warm Front: Helping to combat fuel poverty*, HC769, The Stationery Office.

National Audit Office (2004), Early Years: Progress in developing high quality childcare and early education accessible to all, HC 268, Session 2003–2004, 27 February.

National Centre for Social Research & National Foundation for Educational Research (2002), Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Among Young People in England in 2002, The Stationery Office.

National Consumer Council (2003), Everyday Essentials: Meeting basic needs.

National Family and Parenting Institute (2001), Listening to Parents: Their worries, their solutions.

National Foundation for Educational Research (2002), *Annual Survey of Trends in Education*, available at: www.nfer.ac.uk/research/documents/TrendsEd13.pdf

National Literacy Trust (2003), 'Fall in the number of Black pupils achieving good grades', *Ethnic Minority Achievement*; http://www.literacytrust.org.uk/Database/EALachievement.html#Fall

National Playing Fields Association (2003), Fields Focus, Autumn.

Neighbourhood Renewal Unit (2003), *New Deal for Communities: The national evaluation – Annual report 2002/03*, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

New Opportunities Fund (2003), *Green Spaces and Sustainable Communities: Achievements and challenges*.

Newman, T. (2002), *Promoting Resilience: A review of effective strategies for childcare services*, Barnardo's (prepared for Centre for Evidence Based Social Services, University of Exeter); http://www.exeter.ac.uk/cebss.

Nickell, S. and Quintini, G. (2002), 'The recent performance of the UK labour market', *Oxford Review of Economic Policy* 18(2), pp. 202–220.

Noble, M., Evans, M., Dibben, C. and Smith, G. (2001), *Changing Fortunes: Geographic patterns of income deprivation in the late 1990s*, Report for SEU/DETR/DSS, Department of Local Government, Transport and the Regions.

Noble, M. and Smith, G. (1996), 'Two nations? Changing patterns of income and wealth in two contrasting areas', in J. Hills, (ed.), *New Inequalities: The changing distribution of income and wealth in the UK*, Cambridge University Press.

OECD (2001), Education at a Glance: OECD Indicators.

OECD (2002), Education Policy Analysis.

OECD (2003), Education At a Glance 2003.

Office for National Statistics (2003), Social Trends 33: A portrait of British society, The Stationery Office.

Office for National Statistics (2004a), Work and Worklessness Among Households: Labour Force Survey autumn 2003, 21 January.

Office for National Statistics (2004b), Childhood and Infant Deaths in 2002;

http://www.statistics.gov.uk/pdfdir/chdeath0304.pdf

Office for National Statistics (2004c), *The Health of Children and Young People*; http://www.statistics.gov.uk

Office of Population Censuses and Surveys (1992), Mortality Statistics for England and Wales 1979–1990, HMSO.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2002a), *Autumn Performance Report 2002*, Cm 5692, The Stationery Office.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2002b), Living Places - Cleaner, Safer, Greener.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003a), *Autumn Performance Report 2003*, Cm 6074, The Stationery Office.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003b), Homelessness Statistics: December 2003 and Repeat Homelessness.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003c), Annual Report 2003, Cm 5906, The Stationery Office.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003d), Assessing the Impacts of Spatial Interventions.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003e), Statutory Homelessness: England second quarter 2003.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2003f), English House Condition Survey 2001.

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2004a), Homelessness Statistics: March 2004.

Offfice of the Deputy Prime Minister (2004b), Statutory Homelessness: England first quarter 2004.

Ofsted (1993), Access and Achievement in Urban Education, HMSO.

Ofsted (2001a), Managing Support for the Attainment of Pupils from ethnic minority Groups; http://www.ofsted.gov.uk

Ofsted (2001b), Specialist Schools: An evaluation of progress.

Ofsted (2002a), Achievement of Black Caribbean Pupils: Good practice in secondary schools, HMI 448.

Ofsted (2002b), The Annual Report of HM Inspector of Schools: Standards and quality in education 2000/01; http://www.ofsted.gov.uk

Ofsted (2002c), The National Literacy Strategy: The first four years 1998–2002, HMI 555.

Ofsted (2003a), Provision and Support for Traveller Pupils, HMI 455; http://www.ofsted.gov.uk.

Ofsted (2003b), The Education of Asylum-seeker Pupils, HMI 453; http://www.osted.gov.uk.

Ofsted (2003c), The National Literacy and Numeracy Strategies and the Primary Curriculum, HMI 1973.

Ofsted (2003d), Excellence in Cities and Education Action Zones: Management and impact, HMI 1399.

Ofsted (2003e), Education Action Zones: Tackling difficult ilssues in Round 2 Zones, HMI 1711

Ofsted (2003f), Excellence Clusters: The first ten inspections, HMI 1732.

Ofsted (2003g), Excellence in Cities: City Learning Centres – Evaluation of the first year, HMI 1655.

Ofsted (2004a), Achievement of Bangladeshi Heritage Pupils, HMI 513.

Ofsted (2004b), *The School Sport Partnerships Programme: Evaluation of phases 3 and 4 2003/04*, HMI 2150, http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/publications/index.cfm?fuseaction=pubs.summary&id=3670

Ofsted and Audit Commission (2002), LEA Strategy for the Inclusion of Pupils with SEN, The Stationery Office.

Ofsted and Audit Commission (2003), School Place Planning: The influence of school place planning on school standards and social inclusion, The Stationery Office.

Oliver, C. and Candappa, M. (2003), *Tackling Bullying: Listening to the views of children and young people*, Research Report 400, Department for Education and Skills.

One Parent Families (2003), One Parent Families Today: The facts.

Osler, A., Watling, R. and Busher, H. (2001), *Reasons for Exclusion from School*, Research Report 244, Department for Education and Skills.

Palmer, G., Rahman, M. and Kenway, P. (2002), *Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2002*, loseph Rowntree Foundation.

Palmer, G., North, J., Carr, J. and Kenway, P. (2003), *Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2003*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Parenting Forum (2004); http://www.parenting-forum.org.uk/training.asp.

Parsons, C., Austin, B., Bryan, H., Hailes, J. and Stow, W. (2003a), *On Track Thematic Report:* Community and schools engagement, Research Report 474, Department for Education and Skills.

Parsons, C., Cornwall, J., Godfrey, R. et al. (2003b), ethnic minority Exclusions and the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2002: Interim findings, Centre for Educational Research, Christchurch University College (interim summary of research for Department for Education and Skills).

Parsons, C., Hayden, C., Godfrey, R., Howlett, K. and Martin, T. (2001), *Outcomes in Secondary Education for Children Excluded from Primary School*, Research Report 271, Department for Education and Skills.

Pascall, G. (1999), 'UK family policy in the 1990s: the case of New Labour and lone parents', *International Journal of Law*, Policy and the Family (13), 258–273.

Petrie, P., Storey, P. and Candappa, M. (2003), *Inclusive Play: Supporting provision for disabled children*, Institute of Education.

Pettigrew, N. (2003), *Experiences of Lone Parents from ethnic minority Communities*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 187, Corporate Document Services.

Pettitt, B. (2003), Effective Joint Working Between Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and Schools, Brief No. 412, Mental Health Foundation.

Piachaud, D. and Sutherland, H. (2000), *How Effective is the British Government's Attempt to Reduce Child Poverty?*, CASEPaper 38, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Piachaud, D. and Sutherland, H. (2002), 'Child poverty', in J. Hills, J. Le Grand and D. Piachaud (eds.), *Understanding Social Exclusion*, Oxford University Press.

Pinney, A. (2003), Reducing Reliance on Statements: An investigation into local authority practices and outcomes, Research Report 508, Department for Education and Skills; http://www.dfes.gov.uk.research

Pleasence, P., Balmer, N. J., Maclean, M., Buck, A., O'Grady, A., and Genn, H. (2003a), 'Family problems – what happens and to whom: Findings from the LSRC Survey of Justiciable Problems', *Family Law*, 33, July, pp. 497–827.

Pleasence, P., Balmer, N. J., Maclean, M., Buck, A., O'Grady, A. and Genn, H. (2003b), 'Family problems – who does what and when: Further findings from the LSRC Survey of Justiciable Problems', Family Law, 33, November, pp. 822–827.

Plewis, I., Smith, G., Wright, G. and Cullis, A. (2001), *Linking child poverty and child outcomes: exploring data and research strategies*, Working Paper no. 1, Department for Work and Pensions.

Prilleltensky, I. and Nelson, G. (2000), 'Promoting child and family wellness: priorities for psychological and social interventions', *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 10, pp. 85–105.

Prout, A. (1998), 'Studying children as social actors: a programme of research in the United Kingdom', Association Paper, American Sociological Association.

Prout, A. (2000), 'Children's participation: control and self-realisation in British late modernity', *Children and Society* 14, issue 4, December, pp. 304–15.

Public Health Laboratory Service report (2003), Diagnoses of selected sexually transmitted infections (STIs) in GUM clinics: England, Wales and Northern Ireland 1991–2002.

Rafferty, A. and Walker, R., in D. Thurley (ed.) (2003), Working to Target: Can policies deliver paid work for 7 in 10 lone parents?, One Parent Families.

Rantzen, E. (2001), 'Bullying: a ChildLine conference'; http://www.childline.org.uk

Reed, J. & Hallgarten, J. (2003), *Time to Say Goodbye? The future of school performance tables*, Institute for Public Policy Research.

Refugee Council (2003), The Refugee Council's Response to the Department of Health consultation paper: 'Proposed Amendments to the NHS Regulations (Charges to Overseas Visitors)'.

Regan, S. and Robinson, P. (2004), 'Loud and clear: an open and persistent poverty strategy', in Institute for Public Policy Research, Social Market Foundation, Policy Exchange, Scottish Council Foundation and Institute of Welsh Affairs (2004), *Overcoming Disadvantage: An agenda for the next 20 years*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation, pp. 21–38.

Reith, L. (2001), 'Children, poverty and disability', *Poverty 109*, Summer, Child Poverty Action Group; http://www.cpag.org.uk/info/Povertyarticles/Poverty109/disability.htm.

Ridge, T. (2002), Childhood Poverty and Social Exclusion: From a child's perspective, The Policy Press.

Ritchie, C. (2003), Parenting and adolescent well-being, Phd. Thesis, University of Oxford.

Ritchie, C. and Buchanan, A. (2003), 'Mapping the issues for asylum seeking families and unaccompanied children', paper to the Infolog Conference, London, May.

Roberts, H. and Sachdev, D. (eds.) (1996), Young People's Social Attitudes, Barnardo's.

Rudd, P., Jamison, J., Saunders, L., Davies, D., Johnson, F. and Ashby, P. (2000), *Beacon Schools:* What do they have to offer? Findings from the evaluation of pilot beacon schools, Research Brief 223, Department for Education and Employment.

Rudd, P., Rickinson, M., Blenkinsop, S., McMeeking, S., Taylor, M. and Phillips, N. (2002), *Long term External Evaluation of the Beacon Schools Initiative 2001–2002*, National Foundation for Educational Research.

Rushton A. (1999), 'Adoption as a placement choice: arguments and evidence', Maudsley Discussion Paper.

Rushton, A. and Dance, C. (2002), *Adoption Support Services for Families in Difficulties*, British Association for Adoption and Fostering.

Russell, P. (2003a), *Bridging the Gap: Developing a childcare strategy for families with disabled children*, Council for Disabled Children.

Russell P. (2003b), 'Access and achievement or social exclusion? Are the government's policies working for disabled children and their families?', *Children and Society*, 17, pp. 215–225.

Rutter, J. (2004), Working with Refugee Children, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Rutter, M. and Smith, D. (eds.) (1995), Psychosocial Disorders in Young People: Time trends and their causes, John Wiley and Sons.

Rutter, M., Giller, H. and Hagell, A. (1998), *Antisocial Behavior by Young People*, Cambridge University Press.

Rutter, M. (1974), 'Dimensions of parenthood: some myths and some suggestions', in Department of Health and Social Security, *The Family in Society: Dimensions of parenthood*, Her Majesty's Stationery Office.

Rutter, M. (1999), 'Psychosocial adversity and child psychopathology', *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 174, pp. 480–493.

Rutter, M. (1999), 'Resilience reconsidered: conceptual considerations and empirical findings', in J. P. Shonkoff and A. S. Meisels (eds.), *Handbook of Early Childhood Interventions*, 2nd edition, Cambridge University Press.

Ruxton, S. and Bennett, F. (2002), *Including Children? Developing a coherent approach to child poverty and social exclusion across Europe*, Euronet.

Sampson, R. J. and Laub, J. H. (1994), 'Urban poverty and the family context of delinquency: a new look at structure and process in a classic study', *Child Development*, 65(2), pp. 523–540.

Sandbach, J. (2004), 'Welcome to the advice oasis: bureaux' evidence on the Community Legal Service', *Evidence*, January, pp. 10–11.

Saunders, T., Stone, V. and Candy, S. (2001), *The Impact of the 26 Week Sanctioning Regime*, WAE 100, Department for Work and Pensions.

Save the Children (2001), Denied a Future? The right to education of Roma/Gypsy and Traveller children in Europe, Save the Children.

Schagen, S., Blenkinsop, S., Braun, A., Lines, A., McMeeking, S. and Pennell, H. (2003), *The Evaluation of Excellence Clusters: Second interim report*, National Foundation of Educational Research.

Schoon, I. and Parsons, S. (2002), 'Teenage aspirations for future careers and occupational outcomes', *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, April, Vol. 60(2), pp. 262–288.

Schoon, I. and Bynner, J. (2003), 'Risk and resilience in the life course: implications for interventions and social policies', *Journal of Youth Studies*, 6, 21–31.

Schweinhart, L. J. and Weikart, D. (1993), A Summary of Significant Benefits: The High/Scope Perry Pre-School study through to 27, High/Scope Press.

Scott, S. and Sylva, K. (2002), The 'Spokes' Project: Supporting parents on kids' education – Final report on DoH Parenting Initiative and LSL Health Action, Department of Health.

Scott, S., Knapp, M., Henderson, J. and Maugham, B. (2001), 'The financial cost of social exclusion: a follow-up study of antisocial children into adulthood', *British Medical Journal*, July 28; 323 (7306): 191.

SCRE Centre (2001), Out of School Care: A brief review of the literature.

Sefton, T. (2002), *Recent Changes in the Distribution of the Social Wage*, CASEPaper 62, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Sefton, T. (2004), A Fair Share of Welfare: Public spending on children in England, CASEReport 25, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics, and Save the Children.

Seligman, M. (1980), Human Helplessness: Theory and applications, Academic Press.

Sen, A. (1992), Inequality Reexamined, Clarendon Press.

Shaffi, M. (1989), 'Completed suicide in children and adolescents: methods of psychological autopsy', in C. R. Pfeffer (ed.), *Suicide Among Youth: Perspectives on risk and prevention*, American Psychiatric Press.

Sharp, C., Blackmore, J., Kendall, J., Greene, K., Keys, W., Macauley, A., Schagen, I. and Yeshanew, T. (2003), *Playing for Success: Evaluation of the fourth year*, Research Report 402, Department for Education and Skills.

Shelley, P. (2002), Everybody Here?, Contact a Family.

Shelter (2004a), Living in Limbo.

Shelter (2004b), Toying with their Future.

Shenton, J. (2003), *Eliminating Fuel Poverty in Britain: Policy, prospects and progress*, University of Salford.

Sibert, J. R., Payne, E. H., Kempe, A. M., Barber, M., Rolfe, J., Morgan, R., Lyons, R. A. and Butler, I. (2002), 'The incidence of severe physical child abuse in Wales', *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 26, pp. 267–276.

Smith, P. and Samara, M. (2003), Evaluation of the DfES Anti-Bullying Pack, Research Brief RBX06-03, Department for Education and Skills.

Social Exclusion Unit (1998), Truancy and School Exclusion, Cm 3957, The Stationery Office.

Social Exclusion Unit (1999), Teenage Pregnancy, Cm 4342, The Stationery Office.

Social Exclusion Unit (2001), Preventing Social Exclusion, Cabinet Office.

Social Exclusion Unit (2003a), A Better Education for Children in Care, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

Social Exclusion Unit (2003b), *Making the Connections: Final report on transport and social exclusion*, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister;

http://www.socialexclusionunit.gov.uk/publications/reports/pdfs/SEU-Transport_Summary.pdf

Social Exclusion Unit (2004), *Tackling Social Exclusion: Taking stock and looking to the future*, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

Social Security Advisory Committee (2003), 16th Report of the Social Security Advisory Committee (April 2002 to July 2003).

Social Security Select Committee (2001a), *The Social Fund: A lifeline for the poor or the fund that likes to say no?*, HC 232, Third Report, Session 2000–2001, The Stationery Office.

Social Security Select Committee (2001b), *Integrated Child Credit*, HC 72, Second Report, Session 2000-2001, The Stationery Office.

Social Services Inspectorate, The Audit Commission's Joint Reviews of Social Services and the National Care Standards Commission (2004), All our Lives: Social care in England 2002–2003.

Sparkes, J. (1999), *Schools, Education and Social Exclusion*, CASEPaper 29, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Sparkes, J. and Glennerster, H. (2002), 'Preventing social exclusion: education's contribution', in J. Hills, J. Le Grand and D. Piachaud (eds.), *Understanding Social Exclusion*, Oxford University Press.

Statham, J. and Mooney, A. (2003), *Around the Clock: Childcare services at atypical times*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Strategy Unit (2002), Delivering for Children and Families (inter-departmental childcare review).

Strategy Unit (2003), 'Life chances and social mobility', presentation to Institute for Public Policy Research seminar, 6 September.

Street, C. (2000), Whose Crisis? Meeting the needs of children and young people with serious mental health problems, Young Minds.

Sutherland, H. (2002), One Parent Families, Poverty and Labour Policy, One Parent Families.

Sutherland, H., Sefton, T. and Piachaud, D. (2003), *Poverty in Britain: The impact of government policy since 1997*, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Swann, C., Bowe., K., McCormick, G., Kosmin, M./Health Development Agency (2003), *Teenage Pregnancy and Parenthood: A review of reviews*, The Stationery Office.

Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Sammons P., Siraj-Blatchford, I., Taggart, B. and Elliot, K. (2003), *The Effective Provision of Pre-School Education (EPPE) Project: Findings from the pre-school period*; www.ioe.ac.uk/cdl/eppe

Tanner, E., Bennett, F., Churchill, C., Ferres, G., Tanner, S. and Wright, S. (2003), *The Costs of Education: A local study*, Child Poverty Action Group Oxford and District Branch.

Taylor, J. and Turner, R. J. (2002), 'Perceived discrimination, social stress and depression in the transition to adulthood: racial contrasts', *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 65(3), pp. 213–225.

Teenage Pregnancy Unit (2003), *Implementation of the Teenage Pregnancy Strategy: Progress report,* 2003, The Stationery Office.

Tenbury Wells Community website (2003), Disabled Facilities Grant; http://www.tenburycom.co.uk/support/Disability%20Grants.htm.

The Guardian (2003), articles in July.

Thomas, A. and Saunders, T. (2002), *New Deal for Partners: Qualitative research*, WAE 112, Department for Work and Pensions.

Thomson, J. (2000), Road Accident Involvement of Children from Ethnic Minorities: Literature review, Road Safety Research Report No. 19, Department for Transport.

Thurley, D. (ed.) (2003), Working to Target: Can policies deliver paid work to 7 in 10 lone parents?, One Parent Families.

Tikly, L., Osler, A., Hill, J. and Vincent, K. with Andrews, P., Jeffreys, J., Ibrahim, T., Panel, C. and Smith, M. (2002), *Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant: Analysis of LEA Action Plans*, Research Report 371, Department for Education and Skills.

Transport Research Laboratory (1996), Review of Traffic Calming Schemes in 20 mph Zones.

Transport 2000 and Sustrans (2003), Home Zones Pilots – Lessons to be learnt.

Treasury Select Committee (2003), *Inland Revenue Matters*, HC 834, Tenth Report, Session 2002–2003, The Stationery Office,

Tunstall, R. and Lupton, R. (2003), Is Targeting Deprived Areas an Effective Means to Reach Poor People? An assessment of one rationale for area-based funding programmes, CASEPaper 70, Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics.

Tunstill, J., Allnock, D., Meadows, P., McLeod, A. and the NESS Research Team (2002), *Early Experiences of Implementing Sure Start: National evaluation of Sure Start*, Report No. 1, June, Sure Start; http://www.ness.bbk.ac.uk/documents/Activities/Implementation/18523EarlyExperiences.pdf

Unicef (2000), A League Table of Child Poverty in Rich Nations, Innocenti Report Card 1.

Unicef (2002), A League Table of Educational Disadvantage in Rich Nations, Innocenti Report Card 4.

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (2001), 'Study on the effects of racial discrimination on the children of minorities and those of migrant workers in the fields of education, training and employment', World Conference Against Racism, Racial Discrimination and Xenophobia.

Urban Green Spaces Taskforce Working Group 1 (2002), *Reviewing Current Information*, Department for Transport, Local Government and the Regions.

Urban Parks Forum (2001), Public Parks Assessment.

Utting, D. (1995), Family and Parenthood: Supporting families, preventing breakdown, Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Utting, Sir W. (1997), People Like Us, The Stationery Office.

Vegeris, S. and Perry, J. (2003), Families and Children 2001: Living standards and the children, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 190, Corporate Document Services.

Vostanis, P. and Cumella, S. (1999), *Homeless Children: Problems and needs*, Jessica Kingsley Publishers, cited in briefing on education by End Child Poverty.

Walker, R. (2003), *Determining children's life chances: methodological challenges and strategies*, Working Paper no. 12, Department for Work and Pensions.

Walsh, J. (2003), 'A 21st century illness? The great ADHD debate', Young Minds Magazine, 66.

Ward, S. and Gardner, F. (2000), 'Parenting, conduct problems and the early development of conscience' in Buchanan, A. and Hudson, B., *Promoting the Emotional Wellbeing of Children*, Oxford University Press.

Warren, S. and Gillborn, D. (2003), Race equality and education in Birmingham, Birmingham Education Department and the Birmingham Race Action Partnership (BRAP), unpublished report.

Webber, F. (2003), 'New deterrent measures for asylum seekers condemned: Report of measures announced by David Blunkett and Constitutional Minister Lord Falconer' (27 October), *IRR News*; http://www.irr.org.uk/2003/october/

Webster, D. and Mackie, A. (1996), Review of Traffic Calming Schemes in 20 mph Zones, Transport Research Laboratory.

Wellings, K., Nanchanal, K., MacDowall, W., McManus, S., Erens, B., Mercer, C.H., Johnson, A.M., Copas, A.J., Korovessis, C., Fenton, K.A. and Field, J. (2001), 'Sexual behaviour in Britain: early heterosexual experience', *Lancet 358* (9296), pp. 1843–1850.

Wenglinsky, H. (2002), 'How schools matter: the link between teacher classroom practices and student academic performance', *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 10 (12), 13 February.

West, A. and Pennell, H. (2000), 'Publishing school examination results in England: incentives and consequences', *Educational Studies*, Vol.26, pp. 423–436.

West, A., Noden, P., Kleinman, M. and Whitehead, C. (2000), *Examining the Impact of the Specialist Schools Programme*, Research Brief 196, Department for Education and Employment.

White, D., Raeside, R. and Barker, D. (2000), Road Accidents and Children Living in Disadvantaged Areas: Literature review, Scottish Executive.

White, M. and Riley, R. (2002), *Findings from the Macro Evaluation of the New Deal for Young People*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 168, Corporate Document Services.

Wikeley, N., Barnett, S., Brown, J., Davis, G., Diamond, I., Draper, T. and Smith, P. (2001), *National Survey of Child Support Agency Clients*, Department for Work and Pensions Research Report 152, Corporate Document Services.

Wilkin, A., Johnson, A., Kinder, K., Moor, H. and Hall, M. (2003), *An Evaluation of the Impact of Behaviour Support Plans*, Research Brief 452, Department for Education and Skills.

Wilkinson, D. (2003), New Deal for People Aged 25 and Over: Synthesis report, W161, Department for Work and Pensions.

Williams, B., Williams, J. and Ullman, A. (2002), *Parental Involvement in Education*, Research Report 332, Department for Education and Skills.

Williams, K. and Green, S. (2001), *Literature Review of Public Space and Local Environments for the Cross Cutting Review*, Department for Transport, Local Government and the Regions.

Williams, K., Savill, T. and Wheeler, A. (2002), *Review of the Road Safety of Disabled Children and Adults*, TRL559, Transport Research Laboratory.

Woodland, S., Millar, M. and Tipping, S. (2002), *Repeat Study of Parents' Demand for Childcare*, Research Report 348, Department for Education and Skills.

Work and Pensions Select Committee (2003), *Childcare for Working Parents*, HC 564-I, Fifth Report, Session 2002–2003, TSO.

Work and Pensions Select Committee (2004), *Child Poverty in the UK*, Second Report, Session 2003–04, HC 85-1, The Stationery Office.

Worpole, K. (2003), *No Particular Place to Go?: Children, young people and public space*, Groundwork.

WS Atkins (2003), Local Authority Survey: Final report, Commission for Integrated Transport.

WSP, David Lock Associates and TRL (2003), *Better Streets, Better Places*, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

Appendix A: Methodology

We have followed the lead of Bradshaw *et al.* (2003), in their analysis of the drivers of social exclusion for the Social Exclusion Unit, in interpreting the task as follows: 'the review is not intended to be a systematic review in the sense employed in health studies, but a narrative review that is both systematic and transparent in its methods'. In our descriptions of policy measures and our analysis of their impact, we have focused largely on England, as the Social Exclusion Unit's remit covers England only. However, some policies are relevant to England and Wales, and others cover the UK as a whole. Some sources which we have drawn on – particularly those giving statistical information – also refer to a wider geographical area within the UK, or to the UK as a whole.

Our literature review has involved five phases:

Our starting point has been the knowledge of social exclusion and social policy among our team of experts, and additional expertise that we have sought from outside the team (e.g. Dr Tony Newman, Lisa Harker and Ken Jones). Our combined knowledge has both informed and complemented the formal literature searches. At various times throughout the project, we have sought advice from our team of experts and advisers. We have also contacted expert informants from outside the Department, as suggested in the initial remit.

Secondly, we have looked at government-published literature, involving evaluations of policies and initiatives.

Thirdly, formal literature searches using keywords have been undertaken, including in the following databases: ASSIA, ERIC, Social Services Abstracts, Sociological Abstracts, PsychInfo and Google.

Fourth, these searches have been supplemented with searches on relevant databases, including government websites, the Social Policy Digest in the Journal of Social Policy (Cambridge University Press), Joseph Rowntree Foundation, ESRC, CASE and catalogues of relevant voluntary organizations. In particular, the review has examined a great deal of 'grey' literature published by voluntary organizations and obtained through personal contact from our experts, as well as material about to be published.

Fifth, the evidence elicited from the above sources has been systemically recorded, first on a literature log by policy area and then summarized on a matrix; and finally, the findings have been drawn together in the written summaries presented here.

The impact of government policy on social exclusion among children aged 0–13 and their families

This report presents a review of the literature about the impact of government policy on social exclusion among children.

The report contains a discussion about what social exclusion means to the lives of children and the main policies aimed at tackling it. It presents evidence of policy impact and discusses some issues for the future direction of policy. The Department of Social Policy and Social Work at the University of Oxford carried out this review.

| Other reports in this series: | ISBN |
|--|---------------|
| Breaking the Cycle: taking stock of progress and priorities for the future. | 1 85112 724 0 |
| The drivers of social exclusion: review of the literature for the Social Exclusion Unit in the Breaking the Cycle series. | 1 85112 725 9 |
| The impact of government policy on social exclusion among young people: a review of the literature for the Social Exclusion Unit in the Breaking the Cycle series. | 1 85112 727 5 |
| The impact of government policy on social exclusion among working age people: a review of the literature for the Social Exclusion Unit in the Breaking the Cycle series. | 1 85112 728 3 |
| The impact of government policy on social exclusion among older people: a review of the literature for the Social Exclusion Unit in the Breaking the Cycle series. | 1 85112 729 1 |
| Making a difference to disadvantaged families? Qualitative case studies – a report for the Social Exclusion Unit in the Breaking the Cycle series. | 1 85112 730 5 |
| Low income and multiple disadvantage 1991–2001. Analysis of the British Household Panel Survey – a report for the Social Exclusion Unit in the Breaking the Cycle series. | 1 85112 731 3 |

All are available from ODPM Publications. Telephone: 0870 1226 236.

ISBN: 1 85112 726 7

Price: £15.00

